

Valeo Euro 5,000,000,000 Euro Medium Term Note Programme Due from one month from the date of original issue

Under the Euro Medium Term Note Programme (the "**Programme**") described in this Base Prospectus (the "**Base Prospectus**"), Valeo, *société européenne* (the "**Issuer**" or "**Valeo**"), subject to compliance with all relevant laws, regulations and directives, may from time to time issue Euro Medium Term Notes (the "**Notes**"). The aggregate nominal amount of Notes outstanding will not at any time exceed Euro 5,000,000,000 (or the equivalent in other currencies at the date of issue of any Notes).

This Base Prospectus (together with any supplements thereto, each a "Supplement") constitutes a base prospectus for the purposes of Article 8 of Regulation (EU) 2017/1129, as may be amended from time to time (the "EU Prospectus Regulation"). This Base Prospectus has been approved by the *Autorité des marchés financiers* (the "AMF") in France in its capacity as competent authority under the EU Prospectus Regulation and received the approval no. 24-263 on 3 July 2024. The AMF only approves this Base Prospectus as meeting the standards of completeness, comprehensibility and consistency imposed by the EU Prospectus Regulation. Such approval should not be considered as an endorsement of the Issuer and of the quality of the Notes which are subject to this Base Prospectus. Investors should make their own assessment as to the suitability of investing in the Notes.

For a period of twelve (12) months following the date of this Base Prospectus, application may be made to (i) the regulated market of Euronext in Paris ("Euronext Paris") for Notes to be admitted to trading on Euronext Paris and/or (ii) the listing authority of any other Member State of the European Economic Area ("EEA") for Notes to be admitted to trading on a Regulated Market (as defined below) in such Member State, provided that this Base Prospectus is completed by one or more Supplements, pursuant to Article 23 of the EU Prospectus Regulation, following the occurrence of any significant new factor, material mistake or material inaccuracy relating to the information included (including information incorporated by reference) in this Base Prospectus which may affect investors' assessment of the Notes. After 3 July 2025, this Base Prospectus, as supplemented, will expire and the obligation to supplement this Base Prospectus in the event of significant new factors, material mistakes or material inaccuracies will no longer apply.

The Programme also permits Notes to be issued on the basis that they will not be admitted to listing, trading and/or quotation by any listing authority, stock exchange and/or quotation system or to be admitted to listing, trading and/or quotation by such other or further listing authorities, stock exchanges and/or quotation systems as may be agreed with the Issuer.

The aggregate nominal amount of Notes, interest (if any) payable in respect of Notes, the issue price of Notes and any other terms and conditions not contained herein which are applicable to each issue of Notes will be determined based on then prevailing market conditions and will be set forth in the final terms (the "Final Terms") (a form of which is contained herein). The Final Terms will, with respect to Notes to be listed and admitted to trading on Euronext Paris, be delivered to Euronext Paris and the Final Terms related to Notes admitted to trading on any Regulated Market of the EEA will be published on the website of the AMF (www.amf-france.org) and on the website of the Issuer (www.valeo.com).

In the case of any Notes which are to be admitted to trading on a regulated market within the EEA (a "Regulated Market") for the purposes of Directive 2014/65/EU on markets in financial instruments, as amended ("EU MiFID II") and/or offered to the public in a Member State of the EEA which requires the publication of a prospectus under the EU Prospectus Regulation, the minimum denomination shall be Euro 100,000 (or its equivalent in any other currency as at the date of issue of the Notes).

Notes may be issued either in dematerialised form ("Dematerialised Notes") or in materialised form ("Materialised Notes") as more fully described herein.

Dematerialised Notes will at all times be in book entry form in compliance with Articles L.211-3 et seq. of the French Code monétaire et financier. No physical documents of title will be issued in respect of the Dematerialised Notes. Dematerialised Notes may, at the option of the Issuer, be (i) in bearer dematerialised form (au porteur) inscribed as from the issue date in the books of Euroclear France ("Euroclear France") (acting as central depositary) which shall credit the accounts of Account Holders (as defined in "Terms and Conditions of the Notes - Form, Denomination, Title and Redenomination") including Euroclear Bank SA/NV, as operator of the Euroclear System ("Euroclear") and the depositary bank for Clearstream Banking, S.A. ("Clearstream") or (ii) in registered dematerialised form (au nominatif) and, in such latter case, at the option of the relevant Noteholder (as defined in Condition 1(c)(iv)), in either fully registered form (nominatif pur), in which case they will be inscribed either in an account maintained by the Issuer or by a registration agent (designated in the relevant Final Terms) for the Issuer, or in administered registered form (nominatif administré) in which case they will be inscribed in the accounts of the Account Holders designated by the relevant Noteholders.

Materialised Notes will be in bearer materialised form only and may only be issued outside France. A temporary global certificate in bearer form without interest coupons attached (a "Temporary Global Certificate") will initially be issued in connection with Materialised Notes. Such Temporary Global Certificate will subsequently be exchanged for definitive Materialised Notes in bearer form with, where applicable, coupons for interest attached on or after a date expected to be on or about the fortieth (40th) calendar day after the issue date of the Notes (subject to postponement as described in "Temporary Global Certificates issued in respect of

Materialised Bearer Notes") upon certification as to non U.S. beneficial ownership as more fully described herein. Temporary Global Certificates will (a) in the case of a Tranche (as defined in "General Description of the Programme") intended to be cleared through Euroclear and/or Clearstream be deposited on the issue date with a common depositary on behalf of Euroclear and/or Clearstream and (b) in the case of a Tranche intended to be cleared through a clearing system other than or in addition to Euroclear and/or Clearstream or delivered outside a clearing system, be deposited as agreed between the Issuer and the relevant Dealer (as defined below).

The long term debt of the Issuer has been rated "Baa3, negative outlook" by Moody's Investors Service ("Moody's"), and "BB+, negative outlook" by S&P Global Ratings ("S&P"). Notes issued under the Programme may be rated or unrated. Where Notes are rated, the applicable rating(s) will be specified in the relevant Final Terms. As at the date of this Base Prospectus, Moody's and S&P are credit rating agencies established in the European Union, registered under Regulation (EC) No 1060/2009 (as amended) on credit rating agencies ("EU CRA Regulation") and included in the list of credit rating agencies published by the European Securities and Markets Authority ("ESMA") on its website in accordance with the EU CRA Regulation (https://www.esma.europa.eu/credit-rating-agencies/cra-authorisation). None of Moody's or S&P are established in the United Kingdom (the "UK"), or are registered in accordance with Regulation (EC) No 1060/2009 as it forms part of domestic law of the UK by virtue of the European Union (Withdrawal) Act 2018 (the "UK CRA Regulation"). The ratings of Moody's and S&P have been endorsed by Moody's Investors Service Ltd. and S&P Global Ratings UK Limited, respectively, in accordance with the UK CRA Regulation and have not been withdrawn. As such, the ratings issued by each of Moody's and S&P may be used for regulatory purposes in the UK in accordance with the UK CRA Regulation. Where an issue of Notes is rated, its rating will not necessarily be the same as the rating assigned to Notes issued under the Programme. A rating is not a recommendation to buy, sell or hold securities and may be subject to suspension, change or withdrawal at any time by the assigning credit rating agency without notice.

Notes issued under this Programme have not been and will not be registered under the U.S. Securities Act of 1933, as amended (the "Securities Act") or any state securities laws. Accordingly, the Notes will be offered and sold outside the United States to non-U.S. persons in offshore transactions in reliance on Regulation S under the Securities Act ("Regulation S"). For a description of certain restrictions on offers, sales, resales and transfers see "Subscription and Sale - Selling Restrictions".

See "Risk Factors" for a discussion of certain factors which should be considered by prospective investors in connection with any investment in any of the Notes issued under the Programme.

This Base Prospectus and the documents incorporated by reference will be published on the websites of the Issuer (www.valeo.com) and the AMF (www.valeo.com).

Arranger

BNP PARIBAS

Dealers

BNP PARIBAS CaixaBank
CIC MARKET SOLUTIONS CITIGROUP
CREDIT AGRICOLE CIB HELABA
ING MIZUHO
MUFG NATIXIS

SOCIETE GENERALE CORPORATE & INVESTMENT BANKING This Base Prospectus (together with any Supplements) constitutes a base prospectus for the purposes of Article 8 of the EU Prospectus Regulation and for the purpose of giving all necessary information with regard to the Issuer and the Notes which, according to the particular nature of the Issuer and the Notes, is material to an investor for making an informed assessment of the assets and liabilities, financial position, profit and losses and prospects of the Issuer, the rights attached to the Notes and the reasons for the issuance(s) of Notes and the impact of such issuances on the Issuer.

This Base Prospectus is to be read in conjunction with all documents which are incorporated herein by reference and shall be read and construed on the basis that such documents are incorporated and form part of this Base Prospectus (see "Documents Incorporated by Reference" below) and may only be used for the purpose for which it has been published. In relation to each separate issue of Notes, the final offer price and the amount of such Notes will be determined by the Issuer and the relevant Dealers (as defined below) in accordance with prevailing market conditions at the time of issue of the Notes and will be set out in the relevant Final Terms.

Other than in relation to the documents which are deemed to be incorporated by reference (see the section "Documents Incorporated by Reference"), the information on the websites to which this Base Prospectus refers does not form part of this Base Prospectus and has not been scrutinised or approved by the AMF.

No person has been authorised to give any information or to make any representation other than those contained in this Base Prospectus in connection with the issue or sale of the Notes and, if given or made, such information or representation must not be relied upon as having been authorised by the Issuer or any of the Dealers or the Arranger (each as defined in "General Description of the Programme"). Neither the delivery of this Base Prospectus nor any sale made in connection herewith shall, under any circumstances, create any implication that there has been no change in the affairs of the Issuer or the Issuer and its subsidiaries (*filiales*) taken as a whole (the "**Group**") since the date hereof or the date upon which this Base Prospectus has been most recently supplemented or that there has been no adverse change in the financial position of the Issuer or the Group since the date hereof or the date upon which this Base Prospectus has been most recently supplemented or that any other information supplied in connection with the Programme is correct as of any time subsequent to the date on which it is supplied or, if different, the date indicated in the document containing the same.

The Arranger and the Dealers have not separately verified the information or representations contained or incorporated by reference in this Base Prospectus. None of the Dealers or the Arranger nor any of their affiliates makes any representation, express or implied, or accepts any responsibility, with respect to the sincerity, accuracy or completeness of any of the information or representations contained or incorporated by reference in this Base Prospectus. Neither this Base Prospectus nor any other financial statements are intended to provide the basis of any credit or other evaluation and should not be considered as a recommendation by any of the Issuer, the Arranger or the Dealers that any recipient of this Base Prospectus or any other financial statements should purchase the Notes. Each potential purchaser of Notes should determine for itself the relevance of the information contained in this Base Prospectus and its purchase of Notes should be based upon such investigation as it deems necessary. The contents of this Base Prospectus are not to be construed as legal, business or tax advice. Each potential purchaser of Notes should consult its own advisers as to legal, tax, financial, credit and related aspects of an investment in the Notes. None of the Dealers or the Arranger has reviewed or undertakes to review the financial condition or affairs of the Issuer or the Group during the life of the arrangements contemplated by this Base Prospectus nor to advise any investor or potential investor in the Notes of any information coming to the attention of any of the Dealers or the Arranger.

The distribution of this Base Prospectus, any Final Terms, any offering materials under the Programme and the offering or sale of the Notes in certain jurisdictions may be restricted by law. Persons into whose possession this Base Prospectus comes are required by the Issuer, the Dealers and the Arranger to inform themselves about and to observe any such restriction.

THE NOTES HAVE NOT BEEN AND WILL NOT BE REGISTERED UNDER THE SECURITIES ACT OR WITH ANY SECURITIES REGULATORY AUTHORITY OF ANY STATE OR OTHER JURISDICTION OF THE UNITED STATES OF AMERICA AND MAY NOT BE OFFERED OR SOLD, DIRECTLY OR INDIRECTLY, WITHIN THE UNITED STATES OF AMERICA OR TO, OR FOR THE ACCOUNT OR BENEFIT OF, U.S. PERSONS EXCEPT PURSUANT TO AN EXEMPTION FROM, OR IN A TRANSACTION NOT SUBJECT TO, THE REGISTRATION REQUIREMENTS OF THE SECURITIES ACT AND APPLICABLE STATE OR LOCAL SECURITIES LAWS. THE OFFERING

OF THE NOTES WILL BE MADE AVAILABLE ONLY TO INVESTORS WHO ARE NON-U.S. PERSONS LOCATED OUTSIDE OF THE UNITED STATES OF AMERICA IN OFFSHORE TRANSACTIONS AS DEFINED IN AND IN COMPLIANCE WITH AN EXEMPTION FROM REGISTRATION UNDER THE SECURITIES ACT PURSUANT TO REGULATION S. THE NOTES INCLUDE MATERIALISED NOTES IN BEARER FORM THAT ARE SUBJECT TO U.S. TAX LAW REQUIREMENTS. SUBJECT TO CERTAIN EXCEPTIONS, NOTES MAY NOT BE OFFERED, SOLD OR, IN THE CASE OF MATERIALISED NOTES, DELIVERED WITHIN THE UNITED STATES OR TO, OR FOR THE ACCOUNT OF, U.S. PERSONS. IN ADDITION, UNTIL 40 DAYS AFTER THE COMMENCEMENT OF ANY OFFERING OF NOTES, AN OFFER OR SALE OF NOTES WITHIN THE UNITED STATES OF AMERICA BY A DEALER (WHETHER OR NOT IT IS PARTICIPATING IN THE OFFERING) MAY VIOLATE THE REGISTRATION REQUIREMENTS OF THE SECURITIES ACT.

This Base Prospectus does not constitute an offer of, or an invitation by or on behalf of the Issuer or the Dealers or the Arranger to subscribe for, or purchase, any Notes.

For a description of certain restrictions on offers and sales of Notes and on distribution of this Base Prospectus, see "Subscription and Sale" below.

EU MIFID II PRODUCT GOVERNANCE / TARGET MARKET – The Final Terms in respect of any Notes will include a legend entitled "EU MiFID II Product Governance" which will outline the target market assessment in respect of the Notes taking into account the five categories referred to in item 19 of the Guidelines on EU MiFID II product governance requirements published by ESMA dated 3 August 2023 and which channels for distribution of the Notes are appropriate. Any person subsequently offering, selling or recommending the Notes (a "distributor") should take into consideration the target market assessment; however, a distributor subject to EU MiFID II is responsible for undertaking its own target market assessment in respect of the Notes (by either adopting or refining the target market assessment) and determining appropriate distribution channels.

A determination will have to be made by all relevant Dealers in relation to each issue about whether, for the purpose of the product governance rules under EU Delegated Directive 2017/593 (the "EU MiFID II Product Governance Rules"), any Dealer subscribing for any Notes is a manufacturer in respect of such Notes, but otherwise neither the Arranger nor the Dealers nor any of their respective affiliates will be a manufacturer for the purpose of the EU MIFID II Product Governance Rules.

UK MIFIR PRODUCT GOVERNANCE / TARGET MARKET – The Final Terms in respect of any Notes may include a legend entitled "UK MiFIR Product Governance" which will outline the target market assessment in respect of the Notes, and which channels for distribution of the Notes are appropriate. Any person subsequently offering, selling or recommending the Notes (a "distributor") should take into consideration the target market assessment; however, a distributor subject to the FCA Handbook Product Intervention and Product Governance Sourcebook (the "UK MiFIR Product Governance Rules") is responsible for undertaking its own target market assessment in respect of the Notes (by either adopting or refining the target market assessment) and determining appropriate distribution channels.

A determination will be made in relation to each issue about whether, for the purpose of the UK MiFIR Product Governance Rules, any Dealer subscribing for any Notes is a manufacturer in respect of such Notes, but otherwise neither the Arranger nor the Dealers nor any of their respective affiliates will be a manufacturer for the purpose of the UK MiFIR Product Governance Rules.

EU PRIIPs / IMPORTANT – EEA RETAIL INVESTORS – The Notes are not intended to be offered, sold or otherwise made available to and should not be offered, sold or otherwise made available to any retail investor in the EEA . For these purposes, a retail investor means a person who is one (or more) of: (i) a retail client as defined in point (11) of Article 4(1) of EU MiFID II; or (ii) a customer within the meaning of Directive 2016/97/EU on insurance distribution, where that customer would not qualify as a professional client as defined in point (10) of Article 4(1) of EU MiFID II or (iii) not a qualified investor as defined in the EU Prospectus Regulation. Consequently, no key information document required by Regulation (EU) No 1286/2014, as amended (the "EU PRIIPs Regulation") for offering or selling the Notes or otherwise making them available to retail investors in the EEA has been prepared and therefore offering or selling the Notes or otherwise making them available to any retail investor in the EEA may be unlawful under the EU PRIIPs Regulation.

UK PRIIPs / IMPORTANT – UK RETAIL INVESTORS – The Notes are not intended to be offered, sold or otherwise made available to and should not be offered, sold or otherwise made available to any retail investor in the United Kingdom ("UK"). For these purposes, a retail investor means a person who is one (or more) of: (i) a retail client, as defined in point (8) of Article 2 of Regulation (EU) No 2017/565 as it forms part of domestic law by virtue of the European Union (Withdrawal) Act 2018 (the "EUWA"); or (ii) a customer within the meaning of the provisions of the Financial Services and Markets Act 2000, as amended (the "FSMA") and any rules or regulations made under the FSMA which were relied on immediately before exit day to implement the Insurance Distribution Directive, where that customer would not qualify as a professional client, as defined in point (8) of Article 2(1) of Regulation (EU) No 600/2014 as it forms part of domestic law by virtue of the EUWA. Consequently no key information document required by Regulation (EU) No 1286/2014 as it forms part of domestic law by virtue of the EUWA (the "UK PRIIPs Regulation") for offering or selling the Notes or otherwise making them available to retail investors in the UK has been prepared and therefore offering or selling the Notes or otherwise making them available to any retail investor in the UK may be unlawful under the UK PRIIPs Regulation.

PRODUCT CLASSIFICATION PURSUANT TO SECTION 309B OF THE SECURITIES AND FUTURES ACT 2001 – The Final Terms in respect of any Notes may include a legend entitled "Singapore Securities and Futures Act Product Classification" which will state the product classification of the Notes pursuant to Section 309B(1) of the Securities and Futures Act 2001 of Singapore, as modified or amended from time to time (the "SFA"). If applicable, the Issuer will make a determination and provide the appropriate written notification to "relevant persons" in relation to each issue about the classification of the Notes being offered for the purposes of Section 309B(1)(a) and Section 309B(1)(c) of the SFA.

Notice to Canadian investors

The Notes may be sold only to purchasers purchasing, or deemed to be purchasing, as principal that are accredited investors, as defined in National Instrument 45-106 Prospectus Exemptions or subsection 73.3(1) of the Securities Act (Ontario), and are permitted clients, as defined in National Instrument 31-103 Registration Requirements, Exemptions and Ongoing Registrant Obligations. Any resale of the Notes must be made in accordance with an exemption from, or in a transaction not subject to, the prospectus requirements of applicable securities laws.

Securities legislation in certain provinces or territories of Canada may provide a purchaser with remedies for rescission or damages if this Base Prospectus (including any amendment thereto) contains a misrepresentation, provided that the remedies for rescission or damages are exercised by the purchaser within the time limit prescribed by the securities legislation of the purchaser's province or territory. The purchaser should refer to any applicable provisions of the securities legislation of the purchaser's province or territory for particulars of these rights or consult with a legal advisor.

If applicable, pursuant to section 3A.3 (or, in the case of securities issued or guaranteed by the government of a non-Canadian jurisdiction, section 3A.4) of National Instrument 33-105 Underwriting Conflicts (NI 33-105), the Dealers are not required to comply with the disclosure requirements of NI 33-105 regarding underwriter conflicts of interest in connection with an offering of Notes.

Investment Considerations

Each prospective investor in the Notes must determine the suitability of that investment in light of its own circumstances. In particular, each prospective investor should:

- (i) have sufficient knowledge and experience to make a meaningful evaluation of the Notes, the merits and risks of investing in the relevant Notes and the information contained or incorporated by reference in this Base Prospectus or any applicable Supplement to this Base Prospectus;
- (ii) have access to, and knowledge of, appropriate analytical tools to evaluate, in the context of its particular financial situation, an investment in the relevant Notes and the impact the relevant Notes will have on its overall investment portfolio;
- have sufficient financial resources and liquidity to bear all of the risks of an investment in the Notes, including where the currency for principal or interest payments is different from the prospective investor's currency;

- (iv) understand thoroughly the terms of the relevant Notes and be familiar with the behaviour of any relevant indices and financial markets;
- (v) be able to evaluate (either alone or with the help of a financial adviser) possible scenarios for economic, interest rate and other factors that may affect its investment and its ability to bear the applicable risks; and
- (vi) consult their legal advisers in relation to possible legal, tax, accounting, regulatory and related aspects of any investment in the Notes.

A prospective investor should not invest in Notes unless it has the expertise (either alone or with a financial adviser) to evaluate how the Notes will perform under changing conditions, the resulting effects on the value of such Notes and the impact this investment will have on the prospective investor's overall investment portfolio.

Prospective investors and sellers of the Notes should be aware that they may be required to pay taxes or other documentary charges or duties in accordance with the laws and practices of the country where the Notes are transferred or other jurisdictions. In some jurisdictions, no official statements of the tax authorities or court decisions may be available for the tax treatment of financial instruments, such as the Notes. Potential investors are advised to ask for their own tax adviser's advice on their individual taxation with respect to the subscription, acquisition, holding, disposal, sale and redemption of the Notes. Only these advisers are in a position to duly consider the specific situation of the prospective investor.

Credit ratings

One or more independent credit rating agencies may assign credit ratings to the Notes and/or the Issuer. The ratings may not reflect the potential impact of all risks related to structure, market, additional factors discussed in this section, and other factors that may affect the value of the Notes. A credit rating is not a recommendation to buy, sell or hold securities and may be subject to suspension, change or withdrawal by the assigning credit rating agency at any time. The credit ratings of the Issuer are an assessment of its ability to pay its obligations, including those arising from the Notes. Consequently, actual or anticipated declines in the credit ratings of the Issuer may affect the market value of the Notes.

Notes issued as Green Bonds or Sustainability Linked Notes

None of the Dealers nor any of their affiliates accepts any responsibility for any social, environmental, and sustainability assessment (as applicable) of any Notes issued as Green Bonds or Sustainability Linked Notes or makes any representation or warranty or assurance whether such Notes will meet any investor expectations or requirements regarding such "green", "sustainable", social or similar labels (in the case of Green Bonds) or requirements regarding assets with sustainability characteristics labels (in the case of Sustainability Linked Notes) (including in relation to Regulation (EU) 2020/852 on the establishment of a framework to facilitate sustainable investment (the "Sustainable Finance Taxonomy Regulation")).

None of the Dealers nor any of their affiliates is responsible for the use or allocation of proceeds for any Notes issued as Green Bonds, nor the impact or monitoring of such use of proceeds nor do any of the Dealers undertake to ensure that there are at any time sufficient Green Eligible Projects (as defined in "Use of Proceeds") to allow for allocation of a sum equal to the net proceeds of the issue of such Green Bonds in full. None of the Dealers is neither responsible for the monitoring, or reporting on the satisfaction of the SPTs (as defined in "Terms and Conditions of the Notes") of any Sustainability Linked Notes. In addition none of the Dealers have conducted any due diligence on the Issuer's Framework (as defined in the "Use of Proceeds" below), including any assessment of the applicable eligibility criteria in relation to Green Bonds set out therein nor any assessment of the selection of the Issuer's key performance indicators or SPTs (as defined in "Terms and Conditions of the Notes") and their alignment with the sustainability-related standards. ISS ESG has issued a Second Party Opinion (as defined in the section "Use of Proceeds" below), dated 25 September 2023, on the Issuer's Framework. No representation or assurance is given by the Dealers nor any of their affiliates as to the suitability or reliability of the Second Party Opinion or any opinion or certification of any third party made available in connection with an issue of Notes issued as Green Bonds or Sustainability Linked Notes. As at the date of this Base Prospectus, the providers of such opinions and certifications are not subject to any specific regulatory or other regime or oversight. The Second Party Opinion and any other such opinion or certification is not, nor should be deemed to be, a recommendation by the Dealers, or any other person to buy, sell or hold any Notes and is current only as of the date it is

issued. The criteria and/or considerations that formed the basis of the Second Party Opinion or any such other opinion or certification may change at any time and the Second Party Opinion may be amended, updated, supplemented, replaced and/or withdrawn. Prospective investors must determine for themselves the relevance of any such opinion or certification and/or the information contained therein. The Issuer's Framework may also be subject to review and change and may be amended, updated, supplemented, replaced and/or withdrawn from time to time and any subsequent version(s) may differ from any description given in this Base Prospectus. The Issuer's Framework, the Second Party Opinion and any other such opinion or certification does not form part of, nor is incorporated by reference in, this Base Prospectus.

The performance of Notes issued as Green Bonds is not linked to the performance of the relevant Green Eligible Projects or the performance of the Issuer in respect of any environmental or similar targets. There will be no segregation of assets and liabilities in respect of Notes issued as Green Bonds and the Green Eligible Projects. Consequently, neither payments of principal and/or interest on Notes issued as Green Bonds nor any rights of Noteholders shall depend on the performance of the relevant Green Eligible Projects or the performance of the Issuer in respect of any such environmental or similar targets. Holders of any Notes issued as Green Bonds shall have no preferential rights or priority against the assets of any Green Eligible Projects nor benefit from any arrangements to enhance the performance of the Notes.

TABLE OF CONTENTS

	Page
GENERAL DESCRIPTION OF THE PROGRAMME	9
RISK FACTORS	16
DOCUMENTS INCORPORATED BY REFERENCE	28
SUPPLEMENT TO THE BASE PROSPECTUS	34
TERMS AND CONDITIONS OF THE NOTES	35
TEMPORARY GLOBAL CERTIFICATES ISSUED IN RESPECT OF MATERIALISED B	BEARER
NOTES	92
USE OF PROCEEDS	93
DESCRIPTION OF VALEO	96
RECENT DEVELOPMENTS	97
SUBSCRIPTION AND SALE	119
PRO FORMA FINAL TERMS FOR USE IN CONNECTION WITH ISSUES OF SECURITA DENOMINATION OF AT LEAST €100,000 TO BE ADMITTED TO TRADING ON AN	
REGULATED MARKET	
GENERAL INFORMATION	138
PERSON RESPONSIBLE FOR BASE PROSPECTUS	142

GENERAL DESCRIPTION OF THE PROGRAMME

The following general description of the Programme is qualified in its entirety by the remainder of this Base Prospectus. The Notes will be issued on such terms as shall be agreed between the Issuer and the relevant Dealer(s) and will be subject to the Terms and Conditions of the Notes set out in this Base Prospectus.

Words and expressions defined in "Terms and Conditions of the Notes" below shall have the same meanings in this general description.

Issuer: Valeo

Description: Euro Medium Term Note Programme for the continuous offer of

Notes (the "Programme")

Arranger: BNP Paribas

Dealers: BNP Paribas CaixaBank, S.A.

Citigroup Global Markets Europe AG

Crédit Agricole Corporate and Investment Bank

Crédit Industriel et Commercial S.A ING Bank N.V., Belgian Branch

Landesbank Hessen-Thüringen Girozentrale

Mizuho Securities Europe GmbH MUFG Securities (Europe) N.V.

Natixis

Société Générale

The Issuer may from time to time terminate the appointment of any Dealer under the Programme or appoint additional dealers either in respect of one or more Tranches or in respect of the whole Programme. References in this Base Prospectus to "Permanent Dealers" are to the persons listed above as Dealers and to such additional persons that are appointed as dealers in respect of the whole Programme (and whose appointment has not been terminated) and references to "Dealers" are to all Permanent Dealers and all persons appointed as a dealer in respect of one or more Tranches.

Programme Limit:

Euro 5,000,000,000 (or the equivalent in other currencies at the date of issue) aggregate nominal amount of Notes outstanding at any one time. The nominal amount of Notes outstanding under the Programme may be increased, as provided in an amended and restated dealer agreement dated 3 July 2024 between the Issuer, the Permanent Dealers and the Arranger.

Fiscal Agent and Principal Paying Agent:

BNP Paribas

Paying Agent:

BNP Paribas (Affiliated with Euroclear France under number 29106)

Method of Issue:

The Notes will be issued on a syndicated or non-syndicated basis. The Notes will be issued in series (each a "Series") having one or more issue dates and on terms otherwise identical (or identical other than in respect of the first payment of interest), the Notes of each Series being intended to be interchangeable with all other Notes of that Series. Each Series may be issued in tranches (each a "Tranche") on the same or different issue dates. The specific terms of each Tranche (which, save in respect of the issue date, issue price, first payment of

interest and nominal amount of the Tranche, will be identical to the terms of other Tranches of the same Series) will be set out in the Final Terms to this Base Prospectus (the "Final Terms").

Maturities:

Subject to compliance with all relevant laws, regulations and directives, any maturity from one (1) month from the date of original issue.

Currencies:

Subject to compliance with all relevant laws, regulations and directives, Notes may be issued in Euro, U.S. Dollars, Japanese yen, Swiss francs, Sterling, Renminbi and in any other currency agreed between the Issuer and the relevant Dealers.

Denomination(s):

Notes will be in such denomination(s) as may be specified in the relevant Final Terms save that, unless otherwise permitted by then current laws and regulations, Notes (including Notes denominated in Sterling) which have a maturity of less than one (1) year and in respect of which the issue proceeds are to be accepted by the Issuer in the United Kingdom or whose issue otherwise constitutes a contravention of Section 19 of the Financial Services and Markets Act 2000 will have a minimum denomination of £100,000 (or its equivalent in other currencies).

The minimum denomination of each Note admitted to trading on a Regulated Market within the European Economic Area or offered to the public in a Member State of the European Economic Area in circumstances which require the publication of a prospectus under the EU Prospectus Regulation will be EUR 100,000 (or, if the Notes are denominated in a currency other than euro, the equivalent amount in such currency).

Dematerialised Notes will be issued in one denomination only.

Status of the Notes:

The Notes will constitute direct, unconditional, unsubordinated and (subject to the provisions of Condition 4) unsecured obligations of the Issuer and will at all times rank *pari passu* and without any preference among themselves and (subject to such exceptions as are from time to time mandatory under French law) equally and rateably with all other present or future unsecured and unsubordinated obligations of the Issuer, from time to time outstanding.

Negative Pledge:

There will be a negative pledge in respect of the Notes as set out in Condition 4 - see "Terms and Conditions of the Notes - Negative Pledge".

Events of Default (including cross default):

There will be events of default (including a cross-default) in respect of Notes as set out in Condition 9 - see "Terms and Conditions of the Notes - Events of Default".

Redemption Amount:

The relevant Final Terms will specify the Redemption Amounts payable. Unless otherwise permitted by then current laws and regulations, Notes (including Notes denominated in sterling) which have a maturity of less than one (1) year and in respect of which the issue proceeds are to be accepted by the Issuer in the United Kingdom or whose issue otherwise constitutes a contravention of section 19 of the Financial Services and Markets Act 2000 must have a minimum Redemption Amount of £100,000 (or its equivalent in other currencies).

Optional Redemption:

The Final Terms issued in respect of each issue of Notes will state whether such Notes may be redeemed prior to their stated maturity at the option of the Issuer (either in whole or in part) and/or the Noteholders and if so the terms applicable to such redemption.

Early Redemption:

Except as provided in "Optional Redemption" above or in "Makewhole Redemption by the Issuer" or in "Residual Maturity Call Option" or in "Clean-Up Call Option" below, Notes will be redeemable at the option of the Issuer prior to maturity only for tax reasons. See "Early Redemption for Taxation Reasons" below and "Terms and Conditions of the Notes - Redemption, Purchase and Options".

Make-whole Redemption by the Issuer:

Unless otherwise specified in the relevant Final Terms, in respect of any issue of Notes, the Issuer will have the option to redeem the Notes, in whole or in part, at any time or from time to time, prior to their Maturity Date, at the Make-whole Redemption Amount.

Residual Maturity Call Option:

If a Residual Maturity Call Option is specified in the relevant Final Terms, the Issuer may, on giving not less than fifteen (15) nor more than thirty (30) calendar days' irrevocable notice in accordance with Condition 14 to the Noteholders redeem the Notes, in whole but not in part, at par together with interest accrued to, but excluding, the date fixed for redemption, which shall be no earlier than three months before the Maturity Date.

Clean-Up Call Option:

If a Clean-Up Call Option is specified in the relevant Final Terms and if eighty (80) per cent. of the initial aggregate nominal amount of Notes of the same Series have been redeemed or purchased and, in each case, cancelled, the Issuer may, on giving not less than fifteen (15) nor more than thirty (30) calendar days' irrevocable notice in accordance with Condition 14 to the Noteholders redeem on a date to be specified in such notice the remaining Notes, in whole but not in part, at par together with interest accrued to, but excluding, the date fixed for redemption.

Change of Control Put Option:

If at any time while any Note remains outstanding (i) a Change of Control occurs and (ii) within the Change of Control Period (A) (if at the time that the Change of Control occurs the Notes are rated with the agreement of the Issuer) a Rating Downgrade in respect of that Change of Control occurs and has not been cured prior to the expiry of the Change of Control Period, or (B) (if at such time the Notes are not rated) a Negative Rating Event in respect of that Change of Control occurs (either case, a "Put Event"), the holder of each Note will have the option (the "Change of Control Put Option") (unless, prior to the giving of the Put Event Notice referred to below, the Issuer gives notice to redeem the Notes under Condition 6) to require the Issuer to redeem or, at the Issuer's option, purchase (or procure the purchase of) that Note on the Optional Redemption Date (Put) (as defined below) at its nominal amount together with (or, where purchased, together with an amount equal to) accrued interest to but excluding the Optional Redemption Date (Put).

Early redemption for taxation reasons:

If, by reason of any change in French law, or any change in the official application or interpretation of such law, becoming effective after the Issue Date, the Issuer would on the occasion of the next payment of principal or interest due in respect of the Notes, not be able to make such payment without having to pay additional amounts, the Issuer may, at its option, on any Interest Payment Date (if this

Note is a Floating Rate Note) or, at any time (if this Note is not a Floating Rate Note), redeem all, but not some only, of the Notes at their Early Redemption Amount provided that the due date for redemption shall be no earlier than the latest practicable date on which the Issuer could make payment of principal and interest without withholding for French taxes or, if such date is past, as soon as practicable thereafter.

If the Issuer would on the next payment of principal or interest in respect of the Notes be prevented by French law from making payment to the Noteholders or, if applicable, Couponholders of the full amounts then due and payable, notwithstanding the undertaking to pay additional amounts, then the Issuer shall redeem all, but not some only, of the Notes then outstanding at their Redemption Amount together with any interest accrued to the date set for redemption on (A) the latest practicable Interest Payment Date (if this Note is a Floating Rate Note) on which the Issuer could make payment of the full amount then due and payable in respect of the Notes, provided that the due date for redemption shall be the latest practicable date at which the Issuer could make payment of the full amount payable in respect of the Notes, or, if applicable, Coupons or, if that date is passed, as soon as practicable thereafter.

Taxation:

All payments of principal and interest by or on behalf of the Issuer in respect of the Notes issued by the Issuer shall be made free and clear of, and without withholding or deduction for, any taxes, duties, assessments or governmental charges of whatever nature imposed, levied, collected, withheld or assessed by or within France or any authority therein or thereof having power to tax, unless such withholding or deduction is required by law. If such withholding or deduction is required by French law, the Issuer will have to gross-up its payments to the fullest extent then permitted by law and subject to certain exemptions.

Interest Periods and Rate of Interest:

The length of the Interest Periods for the Notes and the applicable interest rate or its method of calculation may differ from time to time or be constant for any Series. Notes may have a Maximum Rate of Interest, a Minimum Rate of Interest (which shall never be less than zero), or both. The use of Interest Accrual Periods permits the Notes to bear interest at different rates in the same interest period. All such information will be set out in the relevant Final Terms.

Fixed Rate Notes:

Fixed interest will be payable in arrear on the date or dates in each year specified in the relevant Final Terms.

Floating Rate Notes:

Floating Rate Notes will bear interest determined separately for each Series as follows:

- (i) on the same basis as the floating rate under a notional interest rate swap transaction in the relevant Specified Currency governed by an agreement incorporating the 2006 ISDA Definitions as published by the International Swaps and Derivatives Association, Inc; or
- (ii) by reference to such benchmark as may be specified in the relevant Final Terms, in each case (to the extent applicable) as adjusted for any applicable margin, or by reference to a

Successor Rate or an Alternative Rate, as may be determined by the Independent Adviser if a Benchmark Event occurs.

Interest periods, and the determination by linear interpolation as the case may be, will be specified in the relevant Final Terms. In no event shall the Minimum Rate of Interest be less than zero.

Fixed/Floating Rate Notes:

Fixed/Floating Rate Notes may be converted from a Fixed Rate to a Floating Rate, or from a Floating Rate to a Fixed Rate on the date set out in the relevant Final Terms either by the election of the Issuer or automatically.

Sustainability Linked Notes

Fixed Rate Notes, Floating Rate Notes and Fixed/Floating Rate Notes issued by the Issuer may be subject to a Step Up Option if the relevant Final Terms indicates that the Step Up Option is applicable. The Rate of Interest will be the Initial Rate of Interest specified in the relevant Final Terms, provided that for any one or more Interest Period(s) commencing on or after the Interest Payment Date following a Step Up Event, if any, and specified as Step Up Date(s) in the relevant Final Terms, the Rate of Interest (or the applicable Margin, in the event of Floating Rate Notes) shall be increased by the Step Up Margin specified in the applicable Final Terms. For the avoidance of doubt, an increase in the Rate of Interest may occur no more than once in respect of the relevant Note.

Fixed Rate Notes, Floating Rate Notes and Fixed/Floating Rate Notes issued by the Issuer may be subject to a Premium Payment if the relevant Final Terms indicate that the Premium Payment is applicable. The Issuer shall pay in respect of each Note of a Series an amount equal to the Premium Payment Amount on the Premium Payment Date if a Premium Trigger Event has occurred.

Zero Coupon Notes:

Zero Coupon Notes may be issued at their nominal amount or at a discount to it and will not bear interest.

Benchmark Discontinuation:

In the event that a Benchmark Event occurs, such that any rate of interest (or any component part thereof) cannot be determined by reference to the original benchmark or screen rate (as applicable) specified in the relevant Final Terms, then the Issuer shall use its reasonable endeavours to appoint an independent adviser to determine a successor or an alternative benchmark and/or screen rate (with consequent amendment to the terms of such Series of Notes and the application of an adjustment spread). See Condition 5(c)(iii)(B)(d) (Benchmark discontinuation) for further information.

Redenomination:

Notes issued in the currency of any Member State of the EU which will participate in the single currency of the EU may be redenominated into Euro, all as more fully provided in "Terms and Conditions of the Notes - Form, Denomination, Title and Redenomination" below.

Consolidation:

Notes of one Series may be consolidated with Notes of another Series as more fully provided in "Terms and Conditions of the Notes - Further Issues and Consolidation".

Form of Notes:

Notes may be issued in either dematerialised form ("Dematerialised Notes") or in materialised form ("Materialised Notes").

Dematerialised Notes may, at the option of the Issuer, be issued in bearer dematerialised form (au porteur) or in registered

dematerialised form (au nominatif) and, in such latter case, at the option of the relevant Noteholder, in either fully registered form (au nominatif pur) or administered registered form (au nominatif administré) form. No physical documents of title will be issued in respect of Dematerialised Notes. See "Terms and Conditions of the Notes - Form, Denomination, Title and Redenomination".

Materialised Notes will be in bearer materialised form ("Materialised Bearer Notes") only. A Temporary Global Certificate will be issued initially in respect of each Tranche of Materialised Bearer Notes. Materialised Notes may only be issued outside France.

Governing Law:

French law.

Clearing Systems:

Euroclear France as central depositary in relation to Dematerialised Notes and Clearstream and Euroclear or any other clearing system that may be agreed between the Issuer, the Fiscal Agent and the relevant Dealer in relation to Materialised Notes.

Initial Delivery of Dematerialised Notes:

Not later than (1) one Paris business day before the issue date of each Tranche of Dematerialised Notes, the *lettre comptable* or the application form relating to such Tranche shall be deposited by the Issuer, with the assistance of the relevant Dealer, with Euroclear France as central depositary.

Initial Delivery of Materialised Notes:

On or before the issue date for each Tranche of Materialised Bearer Notes, the Temporary Global Certificate issued in respect of such Tranche shall be deposited with a common depositary for Euroclear and Clearstream or with any other clearing system or may be delivered outside any clearing system provided that the method of such delivery has been agreed in advance by the Issuer, the Fiscal Agent and the relevant Dealer.

Issue Price:

Notes may be issued at their nominal amount or at a discount or premium to their nominal amount. The price and amount of Notes to be issued under the Programme will be determined by the Issuer and the relevant Dealer(s) at the time of issue in accordance with prevailing market conditions.

Listing and admission to trading:

Listing and admission to trading on Euronext Paris or as otherwise specified in the relevant Final Terms. As specified in the relevant Final Terms, a Series of Notes may be unlisted.

Rating:

The long term debt of the Issuer has been rated "Baa3, negative outlook" by Moody's Investors Service ("Moody's"), and "BB+, negative outlook" by S&P Global Ratings ("S&P").

Notes issued under the Programme may be rated or unrated. Where Notes are rated, the applicable rating(s) will be specified in the relevant Final Terms. As at the date of this Base Prospectus, Moody's and S&P are credit rating agencies established in the European Union, registered under Regulation (EC) No 1060/2009 (as amended) on credit rating agencies ("EU CRA Regulation") and included in the list of credit rating agencies published by the European Securities and Markets Authority ("ESMA") on its website in accordance with the EU CRA Regulation (https://www.esma.europa.eu/credit-rating-agencies/cra-authorisation). None of Moody's or S&P are established in the United Kingdom (the "UK"), or are registered in accordance with Regulation (EC) No 1060/2009 as it forms part of domestic law

of the UK by virtue of the European Union (Withdrawal) Act 2018 (the "UK CRA Regulation"). The ratings of Moody's and S&P have been endorsed by Moody's Investors Service Ltd. and S&P Global Ratings UK Limited, respectively, in accordance with the UK CRA Regulation and have not been withdrawn. As such, the ratings issued by each of Moody's and S&P may be used for regulatory purposes in the UK in accordance with the UK CRA Regulation.

Selling Restrictions:

For a description of certain restrictions on offers, sales and deliveries of Notes and on the distribution of offering material, including in or into France, Switzerland, the European Economic Area and the United Kingdom in respect of retail investors and Japan, the People's Republic of China, Hong Kong, Singapore, the United States and Canada, see "Subscription and Sale".

Representation of Noteholders:

Noteholders will, in respect of all Tranches of the relevant Series, be grouped automatically for the defence of their common interests in a masse (the "Masse").

The Masse will be a separate legal entity and will act in part through a representative (the "**Representative**") and in part through collective decisions of the Noteholders (the "**Collective Decisions**").

RISK FACTORS

The Issuer believes that the following factors may affect its ability to fulfil its obligations under Notes and may be material for the purpose of assessing the market risks associated with Notes to be issued under the Programme. All of these factors are contingencies which may or may not occur. The risks factors may relate to the Issuer or any of its subsidiaries.

Factors which the Issuer believes are specific to the Issuer and the Notes and material for making an informed investment decision with respect to investing in the Notes issued under the Programme are described below.

The Issuer believes that the factors described below and in the documents incorporated by reference represent the principal risks inherent in investing in Notes issued under the Programme. In each subcategory below the Issuer sets out first the most material risks, in its assessment, taking into account the expected magnitude of their negative impact and the probability of their occurrence.

RISK FACTORS RELATING TO THE ISSUER

The risk factors relating to the Issuer and its activity considered to have a high level of criticality for the Issuer, as summarized below, are set out in particular in pages 84 to 93 of the *Document d'enregistrement universel* of the Issuer for the year ended 31 December 2023 incorporated by reference into this Base Prospectus, as set out in the section "Documents Incorporated by Reference" of this Base Prospectus and include the following:

- strategy risks, including (i) risks related to the automotive equipment industry and (ii) risks related to attracting and retaining talent;
- operational risks, including (i) risks related to the development and launch of new products, (ii) risks related to quality and safety of products and services sold, (iii) cybersecurity, (iv) supplier and supply chain failure risk; and
- financial risks, including risks related to an increase in operating costs.

Other risk factors relating to the Issuer and its activity set out in particular in pages 84 to 93 of the *Document d'enregistrement universel* of the Issuer for the year ended 31 December 2023 incorporated by reference into this Base Prospectus, as set out in the section "Documents Incorporated by Reference" of this Base Prospectus are considered to have a medium level of criticality.

RISK FACTORS RELATING TO THE NOTES

1. Risks Relating to all Series of Notes

Credit risk

An investment in the Notes involves taking credit risk on the Issuer. Since the Notes are unsecured obligations of the Issuer, benefiting from no direct recourse to any assets or guarantees (see Condition 3), the Noteholders can only rely on the ability of the Issuer to pay any amount due under the Notes. The value of the Notes will depend on the creditworthiness of the Issuer (as may be impacted by the risks relating to the Issuer described above). If the creditworthiness of the Issuer deteriorates, the potential impact on the Noteholders could be significant because (i) the Issuer may be unable to fulfill all or part of its payment obligations under the Notes (in particular those in relation to the payment of interest and principal specified in Conditions 5 and 6), (ii) the market value of the Notes may decrease and (iii) investors may lose all or part of their investment.

French Insolvency Law and EU Restructuring Directive

The Issuer is a *société européenne* incorporated in France. In the event that the Issuer becomes insolvent, insolvency proceedings will be generally governed by the insolvency laws of France to the extent that, where applicable, the "centre of main interests" (as construed under Regulation (EU) 2015/848, as amended) of the Issuer located in France.

The Directive (EU) 2019/1023 on preventive restructuring frameworks, on discharge of debt and disqualifications, and on measures to increase the efficiency of procedures concerning restructuring, insolvency and discharge of debt, and amending Directive (EU) 2017/1132 has been transposed into French law by the Ordonnance 2021-1193 dated 15 September 2021. Such Ordonnance amends French insolvency laws notably with regard to the process of adoption of restructuring plans under insolvency proceedings.

According to this ordonnance, "affected parties" (including notably creditors, and therefore the Noteholders) shall be treated in separate classes which reflect certain class formation criteria for the purpose of adopting a restructuring plan. Classes shall be formed in such a way that each class comprises claims or interests with rights that reflect a sufficient commonality of economic and/or financial interest, based on verifiable criteria.

As any other affected parties, holders of notes (including the Noteholders) will be grouped into one or several classes (with potentially other types of creditors) and their dissenting vote may possibly be overridden by a cross-class cram down. Holders of notes (including the Noteholders) will no longer deliberate on the proposed restructuring plan in a separate assembly, meaning that they will no longer benefit from a specific veto power on this plan.

The commencement of insolvency proceedings against the Issuer would have a material adverse effect on the market value of Notes. As a consequence, any decisions taken by a class of affected parties could materially and negatively impact the Noteholders and cause them to lose all or part of their investment, should they not be able to recover all or part of the amounts due to them from the Issuer.

Modification of the Conditions

Condition 11 (*Representation of Noteholders*) contains provisions for consulting Noteholders on matters affecting their interest generally. The Noteholders will, in respect of all Tranches in any Series, be automatically grouped for the defence of their common interests in a Masse, as defined in Condition 11 (*Representation of Noteholders*). Noteholders can adopt measures either through a general meeting (the "General Meetings") or by consent following a written consultation (the "Written Decisions", together with the General Meetings, the "Collective Decisions").

The Terms and Conditions permit in certain cases defined majorities to bind all Noteholders including Noteholders who did not attend (or were not represented) and vote at the relevant General Meeting or were not represented at the relevant meeting or did not consent to a Written Decision and Noteholders who voted in a manner contrary to the majority.

While it is not possible to assess the likelihood that the Terms and Conditions will need to be amended by way of a Collective Decision during the life of the Notes, if it were necessary it is possible that a majority of Noteholders could adopt a Collective Decision that would modify the Terms and Conditions in a way that could impair or limit the rights of the Noteholders.

An active trading market for the Notes may not develop

Notes issued under the Programme will be new securities which may not be widely distributed and for which there may be no active trading market. If the Notes are traded after their initial issuance, they may trade at a discount to their initial offering price, depending upon prevailing interest rates, the market for similar securities, general economic conditions and the financial condition of the Issuer. Although in relation to Notes to be listed and admitted to trading on Euronext Paris, the Final Terms of the Notes will be filed with the AMF in France, such admission to trading may not occur, any particular Tranche of Notes may not be so listed and admitted and accordingly, an active trading market for any particular Tranche of Notes may not develop.

In addition, certain Notes may be designed for specific investment objectives or strategies and therefore may have a more limited secondary market and experience more price volatility than conventional debt securities. This may have a negative impact on the liquidity of the Notes and result in low trading volumes. The degree of liquidity of the Notes may negatively impact the price at which an investor can dispose of the Notes where the investor is seeking to achieve a sale within a short timeframe. In such circumstances, the impact of this risk on the Noteholder would be high because Notes would likely have to be resold at a

discount to the nominal value of the Notes. Furthermore, if additional and competing products are introduced in the markets, this may have a significant adverse effect on the market value of the Notes.

Exchange rates and exchange controls

The Programme allows for Notes to be issued in a range of currencies (each a "Specified Currency"). Pursuant to Condition 5(a) (*Definitions*), the Specified Currency for any Series of Notes will be identified in the relevant Final Terms. The Issuer will pay principal and interest on the Notes in the Specified Currency. This presents certain risks relating to currency conversions if an investor's financial activities are denominated principally in a currency or currency unit (the "Investor's Currency") other than the Specified Currency. These include the risk that exchange rates may significantly change (including changes due to devaluation of the Specified Currency or revaluation of the Investor's Currency) and the risk that authorities with jurisdiction over the Investor's Currency may impose or modify exchange controls. Such risks generally depend on a number of factors, including financial, economic and political events over which the Issuer has no control. An appreciation in the value of the Investor's Currency relative to the Specified Currency would decrease (1) the Investor's Currency-equivalent yield on the Notes, (2) the Investor's Currency-equivalent value of the principal payable on the Notes and (3) the Investor's Currency-equivalent market value of the Notes.

Government and monetary or financial authorities may impose (as some have done in the past) exchange controls that could adversely affect exchange rates, as well as the availability of the Specified Currency in which a Note is payable at the time of payment of interest and/or principal in respect of such Note. This risk should not be overplayed, but if it were to materialise, the Noteholders whose financial activities are carried out or dependent principally in a currency or currency unit other than the relevant Specified Currency could be very negatively impacted as they might receive less interest or principal than expected, or, at worst, no interest or principal.

2. Risks related to the structure and characteristics of a particular issue of Notes

The Programme allows for the issuance of a wide range of Notes with varying structures and features. Such structures and features may present particular risks for potential investors. A description of the most common risks associated with such structures and features is set out below:

(1) Interest Rate Risks

Interest rate risk on Fixed Rate Notes

The Terms and Conditions of the Notes allow the Issuer to issue Notes that pay a fixed rate of interest ("Fixed Rate Notes") to Noteholders (see Condition 5(b) (Interest on Fixed Rate Notes)). While the nominal interest rate of a Fixed Rate Note is specified in the relevant Final Terms and is determined for the term of such Note or a given period of time, the market interest rate (the "Market Interest Rate") typically varies on a daily basis. As the Market Interest Rate changes, the price of the Fixed Rate Note on the secondary market varies in the opposite direction. If the Market Interest Rate increases, the price of the Fixed Rate Note typically decreases, until the yield of such Fixed Rate Note equals approximately the Market Interest Rate. If the Market Interest Rate decreases, the price of a Fixed Rate Note typically increases, until the yield of such Fixed Rate Note equals approximately the Market Interest Rate. Noteholders should be aware that movements of the Market Interest Rate can adversely affect the price of the Notes in the secondary market and could cause Noteholders to lose part of the capital invested if they decide to sell Notes during a period in which the market interest rate exceeds the fixed rate of the Notes. It is difficult to anticipate future market volatility in interest rates, but any such volatility may have a significant adverse effect on the market value of the Notes and cause Noteholders who sell Notes on the secondary market to lose part of their initial investment.

Investors will not be able to calculate in advance their rate of return on Floating Rate Notes

The Terms and Conditions of the Notes allow the Issuer to issue Notes that pay a floating rate of interest (the "Floating Rate Notes") to Noteholders (see Condition 5(c) (Interest on Floating Rate Notes)). A key difference between Floating Rate Notes and Fixed Rate Notes (issued pursuant to Condition 5(b) (Interest on Fixed Rate Notes)) is that interest income on Floating Rate Notes cannot be anticipated. The interest payable in relation to Floating Rate Notes comprises (i) a reference rate and (ii) a margin to be added or

subtracted, as the case may be, from such base rate. Typically, the relevant margin will not change throughout the life of the Notes but there will be a periodic adjustment (as specified in the relevant Final Terms) of the reference rate (e.g., every three (3) months or six (6) months) which itself will change in accordance with general market conditions. Accordingly, the market value of Floating Rate Notes may be volatile if changes, particularly short term changes, to Market Interest Rates evidenced by the relevant reference rate can only be reflected in the interest rate of these Notes upon the next periodic adjustment of the relevant reference rate. This stated volatility may have a significant adverse effect on the market value of the Notes.

Due to varying interest income, investors are not able to determine a definite yield of Floating Rate Notes at the time they purchase them, so that their return on investment cannot be compared with that of investments having longer fixed interest periods. If the Terms and Conditions of the Notes, as completed by the relevant Final Terms, provide for frequent interest payment dates, Noteholders are exposed to the reinvestment risk if market interest rates decline. That is, investors may reinvest the interest income paid to them only at the relevant lower interest rates then prevailing.

Risks related to Floating Rate Notes for which the Rate of Interest is determined by reference to "benchmarks"

Where, pursuant to Condition 5(c) (Interest on Floating Rate Notes), the applicable Final Terms for a Series of Floating Rate Notes specify that the Rate of Interest for such Notes will be determined by reference to the Euro Interbank Offered Rate ("EURIBOR"), the Constant Maturity Swap Rate ("CMS"), the London Interbank Bid Rate ("LIBID"), the London Interbank Mean Rate ("LIMEAN") and other indices which are deemed to be "benchmarks", investors should be aware that such "benchmarks" are the subject of recent national, international and other regulatory guidance and proposals for reform. Some of these reforms are already effective while others are still to be implemented.

Regulation (EU) 2016/1011 (the "EU Benchmarks Regulation") applies to the provision of benchmarks, the contribution of input data to a benchmark and the use of a benchmark, within the EU. Regulation (EU) No. 2016/1011 as it forms part of domestic law of the United Kingdom by virtue of the European Union (Withdrawal) Act 2018 (the "UK Benchmarks Regulation") applies to the provision of benchmarks, the contribution of input data to a benchmark and the use of a benchmark, within the UK.

The EU Benchmarks Regulation or the UK Benchmarks Regulation, as applicable, could have a material impact on any Floating Rate Notes linked to a rate or index deemed to be a "benchmark", in particular, if the methodology or other terms of the "benchmark" are changed in order to comply with the requirements of the EU Benchmarks Regulation or the UK Benchmarks Regulation. Such changes could, among other things, have the effect of reducing, increasing or otherwise affecting the volatility of the published rate or level of the "benchmark".

The existing provisions of the EU Benchmarks Regulation were amended by Regulation (EU) 2021/168 of the European Parliament and of the Council of 10 February 2021 published in the Official Journal of the EU on 12 February 2021 (the "Amending Regulation"). The Amending Regulation introduced a harmonised approach to deal with the cessation or wind down of certain benchmarks conferring on the European Commission the power to designate a statutory replacement for (i) benchmarks designated as critical that may affect the stability of financial markets in the European Union, and other relevant benchmarks, if their cessation and wind-down would significantly disrupt the functioning of financial markets in the European Union, (ii) third-country benchmarks if their cessation or wind down would significantly disrupt the functioning of financial markets in the European Union or pose a systemic risk to the financial system in the European Union, and (iii) benchmarks designated as critical in a Member State by national laws, such replacement being restricted to contracts and financial instruments which do not contain fallback provisions or suitable fallback provisions and have not been renegotiated before the date of cessation of the benchmark concerned. The statutory replacement of a benchmark could have a negative impact on the value or liquidity of, and return on, any Floating Rate Notes for which the Rate of Interest is determined by reference to such benchmark.

In addition, the transitional provisions applicable to third-country benchmarks have been extended until the end of 2023. The European Commission is empowered to further extend this period until the end of 2025, if necessary. The Amending Regulation has been in force since 13 February 2021. Such developments may

create uncertainty regarding any future legislative or regulatory requirements arising from the implementation of delegated regulations.

More broadly, any of the international, national or other proposals for reform, or the general increased regulatory scrutiny of "benchmarks", could increase the costs and risks of administering or otherwise participating in the setting of a "benchmark" and complying with any such regulations or requirements.

Such factors may have the following effects on certain "benchmarks" (including EURIBOR, CMS, LIBID and LIMEAN): (i) discourage market participants from continuing to administer or contribute to such "benchmark"; (ii) trigger changes in the rules or methodologies used in the "benchmarks" or (iii) lead to the disappearance of the "benchmark". Any of the above changes or any other consequential changes as a result of international, national or other proposals for reform or other initiatives or investigations, could have a material adverse effect on the value of and return on any Floating Rate Notes linked to or referencing a "benchmark".

Occurrence of a Benchmark Event

In the case of Screen Rate Determination for Notes linked to or referencing an inter-bank offered rate "benchmark" pursuant to Condition 5(c)(iii)(B) (Interest on Floating Rate Notes), the Terms and Conditions of the Notes at Condition 5(c)(iii)(B)(d) (Benchmark discontinuation) provide for certain fallback arrangements for Notes for which the Rate of Interest is calculated in accordance with Condition 5(c)(iii)(B) only (i.e. not for Notes for which the Rate of Interest is calculated by reference to SONIA, SOFR or €STR) in the event that a Benchmark Event occurs, including if an inter-bank offered rate or other relevant reference rate, and/or any page on which such benchmark may be published, becomes unavailable, or if the Calculation Agent, any Paying Agent or any other party responsible for the calculation of the Rate of Interest (as specified in the applicable Final Terms) are no longer permitted lawfully to calculate interest on any Floating Rate Notes by reference to such benchmark under the EU Benchmarks Regulation or the UK Benchmarks Regulation or otherwise, the Issuer will appoint an Independent Adviser as more fully described in Condition 5(c)(iii)(B)(d) (Benchmark discontinuation) who will determine a Successor Rate or an Alternative Rate (both as defined in the Terms and Conditions of the Notes), with or without the application of an adjustment spread (which, if applied, could be positive or negative, and would be applied with a view to reducing or eliminating, to the fullest extent reasonably practicable in the circumstances, any economic prejudice or benefit (as applicable) to investors arising out of the replacement of the relevant benchmark), and may include any necessary changes to the business day convention, the definition of business day, the interest determination date, the day count fraction and will apply to the relevant Notes without any requirement that the Issuer obtain consent of any Noteholders.

The Successor Rate or the Alternative Rate may have no or very limited trading history and accordingly its general evolution and/or interaction with other relevant market forces or elements may be difficult to determine or measure. In addition, the replacement rate may perform differently from the discontinued benchmark. There can be no assurance that any adjustment factor applied to any Series of Notes will adequately compensate for this impact. This could in turn impact the rate of interest on, and trading value of, the affected Notes. Moreover, any holders of such Notes that enter into hedging instruments based on the applicable Relevant Rate may find their hedges to be ineffective, and they may incur costs replacing such hedges with instruments tied to the Successor Rate or the Alternative Rate.

If the Independent Adviser is unable to determine an appropriate Successor Rate or Alternative Rate for any discontinued Relevant Rate, then the provisions for the determination of the rate of interest on the affected Notes will not be changed. In such cases, the Terms and Conditions of the Notes provide that, the relevant Rate of Interest on such Notes will be the last Relevant Rate available as determined by the Calculation Agent, effectively converting such Notes into fixed rate Notes. Subject to the right for the Issuer to re-apply, at any time, the provisions regarding the determination of a Successor Rate or Alternative Rate, the effective conversion into fixed rate notes may affect the secondary market and the market value of the Notes as the fixed rate may be lower than the rates usually applicable to such Notes. In the event of the application of a fixed rate of interest, the Noteholders would not be able to benefit from any potentially favourable prevailing market conditions.

In addition, due to the uncertainty concerning the availability of Successor Rates and Alternative Rates and the involvement of an Independent Adviser, the relevant fallback provisions may not operate as intended at the relevant time.

Any such consequences could have a significant adverse effect on the market value of and return on any such Notes.

Moreover, any of the above matters or any other significant change to the setting or existence of any relevant rate could affect the ability of the Issuer to meet its obligations under the Notes linked to or referencing a "benchmark" or could have a material adverse effect on the market value or liquidity of, and the amount payable under, the Notes linked to or referencing a "benchmark". Investors should note that, the Independent Adviser will have discretion to adjust the relevant Successor Rate or Alternative Rate (as applicable) in the circumstances described above. Any such adjustment could have unexpected consequences and there can be no assurance that, due to the particular circumstances of each Noteholder, any such adjustment will be favourable to each Noteholder.

Risks relating to Notes for which the Rate of Interest is determined by reference to SONIA, SOFR and ESTR

Where, pursuant to Condition 5(c)(iii)(C), Condition 5(c)(iii)(D) or Condition 5(c)(iii)(E) (as applicable), the applicable Final Terms for a Series of Floating Rate Notes specify that the Rate of Interest for such Notes will be determined by reference to the Sterling Overnight Index Average ("SONIA") or the Secured Overnight Financing Rate ("SOFR") or the euro short-term rate ("€STR"), investors should be aware that the market continues to develop in relation to SONIA, SOFR and €STR as reference rates in the capital markets and their adoption as an alternative to, respectively, Sterling LIBOR, U.S. Dollars LIBOR and EURIBOR. In particular, market participants and relevant working groups are exploring alternative reference rates based on SONIA, SOFR and €STR, including term SONIA, SOFR and €STR reference rates (which seek to measure the market's forward expectation of an average SONIA, SOFR or €STR rate over a designated term). The market or a significant part thereof may adopt an application of SONIA, SOFR or €STR that differs significantly from that set out in the Terms and Conditions and used in relation to Floating Rate Notes that reference a SONIA, SOFR or €STR rate issued under this Base Prospectus. The continued development of SONIA, SOFR and ESTR as an interest reference rate for the Eurobond markets, as well as continued development of SONIA, SOFR and €STR based rates for such markets and the market infrastructure for adopting such rates, could result in reduced liquidity or increased volatility or could otherwise affect the market price of the Notes.

Interest on Notes which reference a SONIA, SOFR and €STR rate is only capable of being determined at the end of the relevant Interest Period and shortly prior to the relevant Interest Payment Date. It may be difficult for investors in Notes that reference a SONIA, SOFR and €STR rate to reliably estimate the amount of interest that will be payable on such Notes.

The market or a significant part thereof may adopt an application of SONIA, SOFR or €STR that differs significantly from that set out in the Conditions as applicable to the Notes. Furthermore, the Issuer may in the future issue Notes referencing SONIA, SOFR or €STR that differ materially in terms of interest determination when compared with the Notes. In addition, the manner of adoption or application of SONIA, SOFR or €STR reference rates in the Eurobond markets may differ materially compared with the application and adoption of SONIA, SOFR or €STR in other markets, such as the derivative and loan markets.

Investors should carefully consider how any mismatch between the adoption of SONIA, SOFR or €STR reference rates across these markets may impact any hedging or other financial arrangements which they may put in place in connection with any acquisition, holding or disposal of any Notes referencing a SONIA, SOFR or €STR rate.

The administrator of SONIA, SOFR or ϵ STR may make changes that could change the value of SONIA, SOFR or ϵ STR or discontinue SONIA, SOFR or ϵ STR

In relation to any Notes for which the Rate of Interest is determined by reference to SONIA, SOFR or €STR, the Bank of England, the Federal Reserve, Bank of New York or the European Central Bank (or their successors) as administrators of SONIA, SOFR or €STR, respectively, may after the relevant Issue Date make methodological or other changes that could change the value of SONIA, SOFR or €STR,

including changes related to the method by which SONIA, SOFR or €STR is calculated, eligibility criteria applicable to the transactions used to calculate SONIA, SOFR or €STR or timing related to the publication of SONIA, SOFR or €STR. In addition, the administrator may after the relevant Issue Date alter, discontinue or suspend calculation or dissemination of SONIA, SOFR or €STR (in which case the fallback methods of determining the interest rate on the Notes specified in Condition 5(c)(iii)(C), Condition 5(c)(iii)(D) or Condition 5(c)(iii)(E) (as applicable) will apply). The administrator has no obligation to consider the interests of Noteholders when calculating, adjusting, converting, revising or discontinuing SONIA, SOFR or €STR.

Fixed/Floating Rate Notes

The Terms and Conditions allow the Issuer to issue Notes with a fixed rate of interest that is later converted to a floating rate of interest and vice versa (see Condition 5(d) (*Interest on Fixed to Floating Rate Notes*)). Fixed/Floating Rate Notes may bear interest at a rate that the Issuer may elect to convert from a fixed rate to a floating rate, or from a floating rate to a fixed rate or that will automatically change from a fixed rate to a floating rate, or from a floating rate to a fixed rate on the date set out in the Final Terms. The optional conversion of the interest rate may affect the secondary market and the market value of the Notes since the Issuer may be expected to convert the rate when it is likely to produce a lower overall cost of borrowing. If a fixed rate is converted to a floating rate, the spread on the Fixed/Floating Rate Notes may be less favourable than then prevailing spreads on comparable Floating Rate Notes tied to the same reference rate. In addition, the new floating rate at any time may be lower than the rates on other Notes. If a floating rate is converted to a fixed rate, the fixed rate may be lower than then prevailing rates on its Notes. It is difficult to anticipate future market volatility in interest rates, but any such volatility may have a significant adverse effect on the market value of the Notes.

Zero Coupon Notes are subject to higher price fluctuations than non-discounted Notes

The Terms and Conditions allow the Issuer to issue zero coupon Notes (see Condition 5(e) (*Zero Coupon Notes*)). Changes in market interest rates have a substantially stronger impact on the prices of Zero Coupon Notes than on the prices of other Notes because the discounted issue prices are substantially below par. If market interest rates increase, Zero Coupon Notes can suffer higher price losses than other Notes having the same maturity and credit rating. Due to their leverage effect, Zero Coupon Notes are a type of investment associated with a particularly high price risk. Therefore, in similar market conditions the holders of Zero Coupon Notes could be subject to higher losses on their investments than the holders of other instruments such as Fixed Rate or Floating Rate Notes. It is difficult to anticipate future market volatility in interest rates, but any such volatility may have a significant adverse effect on the value of the Notes.

(2) Risks relating to the Redemption of the Notes

An early redemption at the option of the Issuer could cause the yield anticipated by Noteholders to be considerably less than anticipated

The Final Terms for a particular issue of Notes may provide for early redemption at the option of the Issuer (see Conditions 6(b)(i) (Call Option and partial redemption), 6(b)(ii) (Make-whole redemption by the Issuer), 6(b)(iii) (Residual Maturity Call Option) and 6(b)(iv) (Clean-up Call Option)). In addition, in the event that the Issuer would be obliged to increase the amounts payable in respect of any Notes due to any withholding or deduction for or on account of, any present or future taxes, duties, assessments or governmental charges of whatever nature imposed, levied, collected, withheld or assessed by or on behalf of France or any authority therein or thereof having power to tax, the Issuer may, and in certain circumstances must, redeem all outstanding Notes in accordance with the Terms and Conditions (see Condition 6(e) (Redemption for Taxation Reasons)).

As a consequence of any such early redemption, the yield received upon redemption may be lower than expected, and the redeemed face amount of the Notes may be lower than the purchase price for the Notes paid by the Noteholder. As a result, part of the capital invested by the Noteholder may be lost, so that the Noteholder in such case would not receive the total amount of the capital invested. In addition, investors that choose to reinvest monies they receive through an early redemption may be able to do so only in securities with a lower yield than the redeemed Notes.

More generally, in relation to any Tranche of Notes whereby Condition 6(b)(i) (Call Option and partial redemption) or Condition 6(b)(ii) (Make-whole redemption by the Issuer) have been activated, the Issuer may choose to redeem the Notes at times when prevailing interest rates may be relatively low. During a period when the Issuer may elect, or has elected, to redeem Notes in part or in whole, such Notes may feature a market value not substantially above the price at which they can be redeemed. In such circumstances, a Noteholder may not be able to reinvest the redemption proceeds in a comparable security at an effective interest rate as high as that of the relevant Notes and may only be able to do so at a lower rate.

No obligation to notify of Clean-up Call Option trigger

With respect to Condition 6(b)(iv) (Clean-up Call Option), there is no obligation on the Issuer to inform investors if and when the triggering threshold of 80 per cent. of the initial aggregate nominal amount of Notes of the same Series needed to exercise the clean-up call option has been reached or is about to be reached, and the Issuer's right to redeem will exist notwithstanding that immediately prior to the serving of a notice in respect of the exercise of the clean-up call option, the Notes may have been trading significantly above par, thus potentially resulting in a loss for the Noteholders or lower than expected returns.

Partial redemption and exercise of put option

In the case of a partial redemption of Notes pursuant to Condition 6(b)(i) (Call Option and partial redemption) or 6(b)(ii) (Make-whole redemption by the Issuer), such partial redemption may be effected, at the option of the Issuer, by reducing the nominal amount of all such Notes in proportion to the aggregate nominal amount redeemed.

In addition, the Final Terms for a particular issue of Notes may provide for early redemption of Notes held by any Noteholder at its option (see Condition 6(c) (*Redemption at the option of Noteholders and exercise of Noteholders' options*)).

Furthermore, the exercise of the Make-whole Redemption by the Issuer, pursuant to Condition 6(b)(ii) (Make-whole redemption by the Issuer), may be subject to certain refinancing conditions referred to in the notices published by the Issuer in connection thereto. Should the refinancing condition, if applicable, not be satisfied, the notices of exercise of the Make-whole Redemption option by the Issuer will be revoked and the Notes will not be redeemed, which may have a negative impact on the Noteholders as the market price of the Notes is likely to fall below the expected Make-whole Redemption Amount.

Depending on the proportion of the nominal amount of all of the Notes so reduced or the number of Notes so redeemed, any trading market in respect of those Notes in respect of which such options is not exercised may become illiquid, which depending on the extent of the illiquidity, may have a direct and significant impact on any remaining Noteholders seeking to dispose of their Notes. In addition, such Noteholders may not be able to reinvest the moneys they receive upon such early redemption in securities with the same yield as the redeemed Notes.

(3) Risks relating to Renminbi-denominated Notes

Renminbi is not freely convertible; there are significant restrictions on the remittance of Renminbi into and out of the PRC; there is only limited availability of Renminbi outside the PRC; each of which may affect the liquidity of the RMB Notes and the Issuer's ability to source Renminbi out of the PRC to service RMB Notes.

The applicable Final Terms in relation to any Series of Notes may specify that the Notes are denominated in Renminbi. Renminbi is not freely convertible at present. The government of the PRC (the "PRC Government") continues to regulate conversion between Renminbi and other currencies.

Although the People's Bank of China ("PBoC") has implemented policies improving accessibility to Renminbi to settle cross-border transactions in the past, there is no assurance that the PRC Government will liberalise control over cross-border remittance of Renminbi in the future, that the schemes for Renminbi cross-border utilisation will not be discontinued or that new regulations in the PRC will not be promulgated in the future which have the effect of restricting or eliminating the remittance of Renminbi into or out of the PRC. Despite the efforts in recent years to internationalise the currency, there can be no assurance that

the PRC Government will not impose interim or long-term restrictions on the cross-border remittance of Renminbi.

In the event that funds cannot be remitted out of the PRC in Renminbi, the overall availability of Renminbi outside the PRC and the ability of the Issuer to source Renminbi to finance its obligations under the RMB Notes may be adversely affected.

As a result of the restrictions by the PRC Government on cross-border Renminbi fund flows, the availability of Renminbi outside the PRC is limited.

Although the offshore Renminbi market is expected to grow in depth and size, this is subject to constraints imposed by PRC laws and regulations on foreign exchange. There is no assurance that new PRC law and regulations will not be promulgated or the settlement arrangements between the PBoC and certain financial institutions in respect of limited clearing of Renminbi outside of the PRC will not be terminated or amended in the future, each of which may have the effect of restricting availability of Renminbi outside the PRC. The limited availability of Renminbi outside the PRC may affect the liquidity of its RMB Notes. To the extent the Issuer is required to source Renminbi outside the PRC to service the RMB Notes, there is no assurance that the Issuer will be able to source such Renminbi on satisfactory terms, if at all. Should the Issuer resort to using another currency, such as US Dollar, to respect its payment obligations under the RMB Notes, the relevant Noteholders may lose part of their investment when converting such currency back into Renminbi, depending on the prevailing exchange rate at that time.

(4) Risks relating to "Green Bonds" and "Sustainability Linked Notes"

Notes issued with a specific use of proceeds, such as "Green Bonds"

The Final Terms relating to any specific Tranche of Notes may provide that it will be the Issuer's intention to issue "green bonds" and apply an amount equal to the net proceeds of the issue to finance and/or refinance, in whole or in part, new or existing projects from any of the Green Eligible Projects (such Notes being "Green Bonds"), as defined in the "Use of Proceeds" section of the relevant Final Terms and as further described in the Issuer's Framework (as defined under "Use of Proceeds" below) which is available on the website of the Issuer (https://www.valeo.com/en/bond-investors/).

The Green Eligible Projects may not meet investor expectations or requirements regarding such "green" or similar labels (including the Sustainable Finance Taxonomy Regulation).

For 2022, Valeo has declared its economic activity to be Taxonomy-eligible in accordance with the conditions laid down for activities 3.3 – Manufacture of low carbon technologies for transport, 3.4 – Manufacture of batteries and 3.6 – Manufacture of other low carbon technologies. Following the EU Commission publication on 13 June 2023 of an amended Delegated Regulation (EU) 2021/2139 expanding to new activities including 3.18 Manufacture of automotive and mobility component, Valeo's eligible component activity under the Climate Delegated Act is now reported under 3.18 rather than 3.3.

Based on the Issuer's own analysis, and at the date of the Framework, 3 categories of Green Eligible Projects (3.4, 3.6 and 3.18) out of 4 categories of Green Eligible Projects included in the Framework are aligned with the Sustainable Finance Taxonomy Regulation. As the date of this Base Prospectus, there is no third-party confirmation on the alignment of these 3 categories of Green Eligible Projects with the Sustainable Finance Taxonomy Regulation. The other category of Green Eligible Projects (3.3, it being specified that the Green Eligible Projects of category 3.3 have been merged within category 3.18) is not an eligible activity under the Sustainable Finance Taxonomy Regulation following the above mentioned amended Delegated Regulation (EU) 2021/2139.

In connection with the issue of "Green Bonds" under the Programme, the Issuer may request a provider of second party opinions to issue a second party opinion confirming that the Eligible Green Projects (as defined under "Use of Proceeds" below) have been defined in accordance with the broad categorisation of eligibility for green projects set out by the International Capital Market Association (ICMA) Green Bond Principles (GBP) and/or a second party opinion regarding the suitability of the Notes as an investment in connection with certain environmental and sustainability project. The Second Party Opinion provided by ISS ESG (as defined under "Use of Proceeds" below) only evaluates the alignment of the Framework with the Green Bond Principles (GBP) but does not provide any confirmation on the alignment of the Green

Eligible Projects with the Sustainable Finance Taxonomy Regulation. The criteria and/or considerations that formed the basis of the Second Party Opinion and any other such opinion or certification may change at any time and the Second Party Opinion may be amended, updated, supplemented, replaced and/or withdrawn at any time. Currently, the providers of such opinions and certifications are not subject to any specific regulatory or other regime or oversight.

It is the intention of the Issuer to apply the proceeds of the Green Bonds in, or substantially in, the manner described in the relevant Final Terms, the relevant project(s) or use(s) the subject of, or related to, any Green Eligible Projects. However, any failure to apply the proceeds of any issue of Notes to Green Eligible Projects as aforesaid for reasons beyond the Issuer's control may have a material adverse effect on the value and marketability of such Notes and also potentially the value of any other Notes which are intended to finance such projects and/or result in adverse consequences for certain Noteholders with portfolio mandates to invest in securities to be used for a particular purpose and, consequently, Noteholders could be adversely affected.

Notes issued as "Green Bonds" may not be a suitable investment for all investors seeking exposure to green assets

The second party opinion (referred to above) may not reflect the potential impact of all risks related to the structure, market, additional risk factors discussed above and other factors that may affect the value of the Notes or the projects financed or refinanced toward an amount corresponding the net proceeds of the relevant issue of Notes in the form of "Green Bonds". A second party opinion would not constitute a recommendation to buy, sell or hold securities and would only be current as of the date it is released. The Second Party Opinion provided by ISS ESG or any opinion or certification of any third party (whether or not solicited by the Issuer) which may be made available in connection with the issue of any Notes and in particular with any Green Eligible Projects to fulfil any environmental, sustainability and/or other criteria may not be suitable for Noteholders' purposes.

In addition, although the Issuer may agree at the time of issue of any Green Bonds to certain reporting and use of proceeds (including in the case of certain divestments described under "*Use of Proceeds*") it would not be an event of default under the Notes if the Issuer were to fail to comply with such obligations.

Moreover, Noteholders have no recourse against the Issuer, any of the Dealers or their affiliates or the provider of any such opinion or certification for the contents of any such opinion or certification, which is only current as at the date it was initially issued. Any withdrawal of any such opinion or certification or any such opinion or certification attesting that the Group is not complying in whole or in part with any matters for which such opinion or certification is opining on or certifying on may have a material adverse effect on the value of the Green Bonds and/or result in adverse consequences for certain investors with portfolio mandates to invest in securities to be used for a particular purpose.

Investors should make their own assessment as to the suitability or reliability for any purpose whatsoever of any opinion, report or certification of any third party in connection with the offering of Green Bonds. The second party opinion (referred to above), or any such opinion, report or certification is not, nor shall it be deemed to be, incorporated in and/or form part of this Base Prospectus.

A basis for the determination of the definitions of "green", "sustainable" and "sustainability-linked" has been established in the Sustainable Finance Taxonomy Regulation. The Sustainable Finance Taxonomy Regulation is subject to further development by way of the implementation by the European Commission through delegated regulations of technical 45 screening criteria for the environmental objectives set out in the Sustainable Finance Taxonomy Regulation.

Sustainability Linked Notes may not be a suitable investment for all investors seeking exposure to assets with sustainability characteristics

In September 2023, the Issuer adopted the Framework, in accordance with the Sustainability-Linked Bonds Principles (the "**SLBP**") administered by the International Capital Markets Association (ICMA) and the Sustainability-Linked Loan Principles (the "**SLLP**") administered by the Loan Market Association (LMA). The Framework was reviewed by ISS ESG which provided a Second Party Opinion (as defined under "Use of Proceeds" below) on the relevance and scope of the selected key performance indicators (KPI(s)) and the associated sustainability performance targets (SPTs) and also confirmed the alignment with the SLBP

and the SLLP. A second party opinion may not reflect the potential impact of all risks related to the structure, market, additional risk factors discussed above and other factors that may affect the value of Sustainability Linked Notes issued under the Programme. A second party opinion would not constitute a recommendation to buy, sell or hold securities and would only be current as of the date it is released. The Issuer does not assume any obligation or responsibility to release any update or revision to the Framework and/or information to reflect events or circumstances after the date of publication of such Framework and, therefore, an update or a revision of the Second Party Opinion may or may not be requested to ISS ESG or other providers of second party opinions.

Moreover, the second party opinion providers and providers of similar opinions and certifications are not currently subject to any specific regulatory or other regime or oversight. Noteholders have no recourse against the Issuer, any of the Dealers or the provider of any such opinion or certification for the contents of any such opinion or certification, which is only current as at the date it was initially issued. Any withdrawal of any such opinion or certification or any such opinion or certification attesting that the Group is not complying in whole or in part with any matters for which such opinion or certification is opining on or certifying on may have a material adverse effect on the value of the Sustainability Linked Notes and/or result in adverse consequences for certain investors with portfolio mandates to invest in securities to be used for a particular purpose.

Furthermore, although the interest rate is subject to a Step Up Option adjustment, and a Premium Payment may be payable by the Issuer, in certain circumstances specified in the Conditions, such Notes may not satisfy an investor's requirements or any future legal or quasi legal standards for investment in assets with sustainability characteristics. The Notes described above are not being marketed as green bonds since the Issuer expects to use the relevant net proceeds for general corporate purposes and therefore the Issuer does not intend to allocate the net proceeds specifically to projects or business activities meeting environmental or sustainability criteria, or be subject to any other limitations associated with green bonds.

In addition, the interest rate adjustment in respect of the above-mentioned Step Up Option and the Premium Payment amount in respect of the Notes depend on a definition of carbon reduction or, as the case may be, sustainable procurement, that may be inconsistent with investor requirements or expectations or other relevant definitions. In each case, the Issuer may or may not request a second party opinion.

If such second party opinion is obtained, however, as there is currently no clearly-defined definition (legal, regulatory or otherwise) of, nor market consensus as to what constitutes a "sustainable" or "sustainability-linked" or equivalently-labelled project or as to what precise attributes are required for a particular project to be defined as "sustainable" or "sustainability-linked" (and, in addition, the requirements of any such label may evolve from time to time), the Sustainability Linked Notes may not meet any or all investor expectations regarding the Sustainability Linked Notes or the Group's targets qualifying as "sustainable" or "sustainability-linked" or that any adverse other impacts will not occur in connection with the Group striving to achieve such targets.

Once the technical screening criteria are established, there is no certainty to what extent the investments planned in the Group's sustainability strategy (also underlying the Sustainability Linked Notes through their link to certain key performance indicators) will be aligned with the Sustainable Finance Taxonomy Regulation.

Investors should make their own assessment as to the suitability or reliability for any purpose whatsoever of any opinion, report or certification of any third party in connection with the offering of Sustainability Linked Notes. Any such opinion, report or certification is not, nor shall it be deemed to be, incorporated in and/or form part of this Base Prospectus.

Risks that may result from the failure to meet the SPTs or respect certain annual reporting obligations

Although if the relevant SPT (as defined in the Terms and Conditions of the Notes) is/are not met it will give rise to an interest step up or the payment of a premium as described in Condition 5(e), it will not be an Event of Default under the Sustainability Linked Notes, nor will the Issuer be required to repurchase or redeem any Sustainability Linked Notes in such circumstances. Similarly, the failure of the Issuer to comply with the annual reporting obligations set out in Condition 5(e)(iv) for the years preceding the year in which the Target Observation Date falls, which might give an indication prior to the Target Observation Date as

to the likelihood of the relevant SPT being met (and thus the likelihood of an interest step up or premium being payable on the Step Up Date or the Premium Payment Date (as applicable)) will not be an Event of Default under the Sustainability Linked Notes, nor will it give rise to an interest step up or the payment of a premium as described in Condition 5(e), nor will the Issuer be required to repurchase or redeem any Sustainability Linked Notes in such circumstances. Certain investors may have portfolio mandates or may wish to dispose of their Sustainability Linked Notes and/or the Sustainability Linked Notes may be excluded from any Environmental, Social and Governance (ESG)-related securities or other equivalently-labelled index upon the occurrence of an interest step up or a premium payment, even if the resulting interest step up or premium payment has the effect of increasing the yield on the relevant Sustainability Linked Notes which may have material consequences for the future trading prices of the Sustainability Linked Notes and/or the liquidity of the Sustainability Linked Notes.

Furthermore, depending on the Step Up Date specified in the relevant Final Terms, the interest step up may not be payable in respect of the Interest Period commencing immediately after a Step Up Event nor in respect of every Interest Period following a Step Up Event.

In addition, the failure of the Issuer to achieve any of its SPTs or any such similar sustainability performance targets the Issuer may choose to include in any future financings would not only result in an interest step up or payment of a premium, but could also harm the Issuer's reputation, the consequences of which could, in each case, have a material adverse effect on the Issuer, its business prospects, its financial condition or its results of operations and ultimately its ability to fulfil its payments obligations in respect of the Sustainability Linked Notes.

In respect of Sustainability-Linked Notes and following a Recalculation Event, the Sustainability Performance Target may be amended

As specified in Condition 5(e)(v) (Sustainability Linked Notes), if a Recalculation Event occurs, the SPTs may be recalculated in good faith by the Issuer to reflect some changes which impact the level of any SPT or any KPI, without any requirement for consent or approval of the Noteholders in accordance with Condition.

The SPT, whether amended or not, is an important factor for ascertaining whether or not a Premium Trigger Event or a Step Up Event shall occur or are occurring in respect of the relevant Sustainability Linked Notes.

The occurrence of any such Recalculation Event and the consequential change of the relevant SPT may impact the payment to the Noteholders of the Premium Payment Amount and/or the application of the Step Up Margin and/or the amount paid. Therefore, such changes may have an adverse effect on the interests of the Noteholders and may adversely affect the market price of the Notes.

DOCUMENTS INCORPORATED BY REFERENCE

This Base Prospectus should be read and construed in conjunction with the following sections identified in the cross-reference table below of the following documents which have been previously published and have been filed with the *Autorité des marchés financiers* ("AMF") as competent authority in France for the purposes of the EU Prospectus Regulation. Such sections shall be incorporated in, and shall be deemed to form part of, this Base Prospectus:

- (i) the sections identified in the cross-reference table below of the <u>2023 Document d'enregistrement</u> <u>universel</u> in the French language relating to the Issuer filed with the AMF on 29 March 2024 under no. D.24-0218, including the audited statutory and consolidated financial statements of the Issuer as at, and for the year ended, 31 December 2023 and the related notes thereto (the "2023 URD");
- the sections identified in the cross-reference table below of the <u>2022 Document d'enregistrement universel</u> in the French language relating to the Issuer filed with the AMF on 30 March 2023 under no. D.23-0200, including the audited statutory and consolidated financial statements of the Issuer as at, and for the year ended, 31 December 2022 and the related notes thereto (the "**2022 URD**");
- the terms and conditions of the notes contained in the <u>base prospectus</u> of the Issuer dated 15 June 2023 which received approval no. 23-220 from the AMF as well as the <u>Supplement no. 1</u> dated 2 October 2023, which received approval no. 23-415 from the AMF, (the "2023 EMTN Conditions");
- (iv) the terms and conditions of the notes contained in the <u>base prospectus</u> of the Issuer dated 14 June 2022 which received approval no. 22-211 from the AMF as well as the <u>Supplement no. 1</u> dated 21 November 2022, which received approval no. 22-456 from the AMF, (the "2022 EMTN Conditions");
- (v) the terms and conditions of the notes contained in the <u>base prospectus</u> of the Issuer dated 14 June 2021 which received approval no. 21-223 from the AMF as well as the <u>Supplement no. 1</u> dated 23 July 2021, which received approval no. 21-347 from the AMF, (the "2021 EMTN Conditions");
- (vi) the terms and conditions of the notes contained in the <u>base prospectus</u> of the Issuer dated 5 July 2017 which received visa no. 17-337 from the AMF, (the "2017 EMTN Conditions"); and
- (vii) the terms and conditions of the notes contained in the base prospectus of the Issuer dated 7 May 2015 which received visa no. 15-178 from the AMF as well as the Supplement no. 1 dated 9 March 2016, which received visa no. 16-073 from the AMF, (the "2015 EMTN Conditions" and together with 2017 EMTN Conditions, 2021 EMTN Conditions, 2022 EMTN Conditions and the 2023 EMTN Conditions, the "Previous EMTN Conditions").

Free translations in the English language of the 2023 URD and the 2022 URD are available on the Issuer's website (www.valeo.com). These documents are available for information purposes only and are not incorporated by reference in this Base Prospectus. The only binding versions are the French language versions.

For as long as any Notes are outstanding, this Base Prospectus, any supplement to this Base Prospectus and all documents incorporated by reference into this Base Prospectus may be obtained, free of charge, (i) at the office of the Fiscal Agent and the Paying Agents set out at the end of this Base Prospectus during normal business hours, (ii) at the registered office of the Issuer during normal business hours, and (iii) on the website of the Issuer (www.valeo.com). Provision of such documents does not constitute a representation that such documents have not been modified or superseded in whole or in part as specified above. Written or oral requests for such documents should be directed to the principal office of BNP Paribas in its capacity as Fiscal Agent (as defined in the "Terms and Conditions" of the Notes below) or to the Issuer at its registered office set out at the end of this Base Prospectus. This Base Prospectus and any supplement to this Base Prospectus will also be available on the website of the AMF (www.amf-france.org).

The Final Terms related to Notes admitted to trading on Euronext Paris will be published on the websites of (x) the AMF (www.amf-france.org) and (y) the Issuer (www.valeo.com). If the Notes are admitted to

trading on a Regulated Market other than Euronext Paris, the relevant Final Terms will provide whether additional methods of publication are required and what they consist of.

Other than in relation to the documents which are deemed to be incorporated by reference, the information on the websites to which this Base Prospectus (including, for the avoidance of doubt, any information on the websites which appear in the documents incorporated by reference) refers does not form part of this Base Prospectus and has not been scrutinised or approved by the AMF.

The following table cross-references the pages of the Documents Incorporated by Reference. For the avoidance of doubt, the information requested to be disclosed by the Issuer as a result of Annex 7 of the Commission Delegated Regulation (EU) 2019/980 supplementing the EU Prospectus Regulation, as amended, and not referred to in the cross reference list below is either contained in the relevant sections of this Base Prospectus or is not relevant to the investors. Any information not listed in the cross-reference list but included in the documents incorporated by reference is considered as additional information and is not required by the relevant schedules of the Commission Delegated Regulation (EU) 2019/980 supplementing the EU Prospectus Regulation, as amended.

Information incorporated by reference				
(Annex 7 of the Commission Delegated Regulation (EU) 2019/980)	2023 URD	2022 URD		
3. RISK FACTO	3. RISK FACTORS			
3.1 A description of the material risks that are specific to the issuer and that may affect the issuer's ability to fulfil its obligations under the securities, in a limited number of categories, in a section headed "Risk Factors".	pp. 84 to 93	-		
4. INFORMATION ABOU	T THE ISSUER			
4.1. History and development of the Issuer				
4.1.1. The legal and commercial name of the issuer.	p. 442	-		
4.1.2. The place of registration of the issuer, its registration number and legal entity identifier ('LEI').	pp. 442 to 443	-		
4.1.3. The date of incorporation and the length of life of the issuer, except where the period is indefinite.	p. 442	-		
4.1.4. The domicile and legal form of the issuer, the legislation under which the issuer operates, its country of incorporation, the address, telephone number of its registered office (or principal place of business if different from its registered office) and website of the issuer, if any, with a disclaimer that the information on the website does not form part of the prospectus unless that information is incorporated by reference into the prospectus.	p. 442	-		
5. BUSINESS OVE	5. BUSINESS OVERVIEW			
5.1. Principal activities				
5.1.1. A brief description of the issuer's principal activities stating the main categories of products sold and/or services performed.	pp. 9 to 33 pp. 48 to 74 pp. 448 to 450	-		
5.1.2. The basis for any statements made by the issuer regarding its competitive position.	p. 18 pp. 55 to 57, 59 to 61, 63 to 65, 67 to 69, 71 to 73	-		

Information incorporated by reference		
(Annex 7 of the Commission Delegated Regulation (EU) 2019/980)	2023 URD	2022 URD
6. ORGANISATIONAL	STRUCTURE	
6.1. If the issuer is part of a group, a brief description of the group and the issuer's position within the group. This may be in the form of, or accompanied by, a diagram of the organisational structure if this helps to clarify the structure.	pp. 48 to 49 p. 52 pp. 444 to 445	-
6.2. If the issuer is dependent upon other entities within the group, this must be clearly stated together with an explanation of this dependence.	pp. 380 to 387 p. 416 pp. 444 to 445	-
7. TREND INFORM	IATION	
7.1. A description of: (a) any material adverse change in the prospects of the issuer since the date of its last published audited financial statements; and (b) any significant change in the financial performance of the group since the end of the last financial period for which financial information has been published to the date of the registration document. If neither of the above are applicable then the issuer should include (an) appropriate negative statement(s).	p. 304 p. 354	-
9. ADMINISTRATIVE, MANAGEMENT,	AND SUPERVISORY BO	DIES
9.1 Names, business addresses and functions within the issuer of the following persons and an indication of the principal activities performed by them outside of that issuer where these are significant with respect to that issuer: (a) members of the administrative, management or supervisory bodies; (b) partners with unlimited liability, in the case of a limited partnership with a share capital.	p. 35 pp. 104 to 106 pp. 117 to 132	-
10. MAJOR SHAREH	IOLDERS	
10.1. To the extent known to the issuer, state whether the issuer is directly or indirectly owned or controlled and by whom and describe the nature of such control and describe the measures in place to ensure that such control is not abused.	pp. 429 to 433	-
10.2. A description of any arrangements, known to the issuer, the operation of which may at a subsequent date result in a change of control of the issuer	p. 440	-
11. FINANCIAL INFORMATION CONCERNING THE ISSUER'S ASSETS AND LIABILITIES, FINANCIAL POSITION AND PROFITS AND LOSSES		
11.1 Historical Financial	Information	
11.1.1 Historical financial information covering the latest two financial years (at least 24 months) or such shorter period as the issuer has been in operation and the audit report in respect of each year.	Consolidated financial statements pp. 305 to 392 Non consolidated financial statements pp. 395 to 420	Consolidated financial statements pp. 333 to 431 Non consolidated financial statements pp. 434 to 460
11.1.3 Accounting standards The financial information must be prepared according to International Financial Reporting Standards as endorsed in the Union based on Regulation (EC) No 1606/2002.	Consolidated financial statements pp. 311 to 314	Consolidated financial statements pp. 339 to 341

Information incorporated by reference		
(Annex 7 of the Commission Delegated Regulation (EU) 2019/980)	2023 URD	2022 URD
If Regulation (EC) No 1606/2002 is not applicable the financial statements must be prepared according to: (a) a Member State's national accounting standards for issuers from the EEA as required by Directive 2013/34/ EU; (b) a third country's national accounting standards equivalent to Regulation (EC) No 1606/2002 for third country issuers. Otherwise the following information must be included in the registration document: (a) a prominent statement that the financial information included in the registration document has not been prepared in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards as endorsed in the Union based on Regulation (EC) No 1606/2002 and that there may be material differences in the financial information had Regulation (EC) No 1606/2002 been applied to the historical financial information; (b) immediately following the historical financial information a narrative description of the differences between Regulation (EC) No 1606/2002 as adopted by the Union and the accounting principles adopted by the issuer in preparing its annual financial statements.		
11.1.4 Where the audited financial information is prepared according to national accounting standards, the financial information must include at least the following:	-	-
(a) the balance sheet;	p. 396	p. 435
(b) the income statement;	p. 395	p. 434
(c) the accounting policies and explanatory notes.	pp. 399 to 416	pp. 438 to 456
11.1.5 Consolidated financial statements If the issuer prepared both stand-alone and consolidated financial statements, include at least the consolidated financial statements in the registration document.	pp. 305 to 392	pp. 333 to 431
11.1.6 The balance sheet date of the last year of audited financial information may not be older than 18 months from the date of the registration document	Consolidated financial statements p. 307	Consolidated financial statements p. 335
	Non consolidated financial statements p.396	Non consolidated financial statements p.435

Information incorporated by reference		
(Annex 7 of the Commission Delegated Regulation (EU) 2019/980)	2023 URD	2022 URD
11.2.1		
The historical annual financial information must be independently audited. The audit report shall be prepared in accordance with the Directive 2006/43/EC and Regulation (EU) No 537/2014.		
Where Directive 2006/43/EC and Regulation (EU) No 537/2014 do not apply, the historical financial information must be audited or reported on as to whether or not, for the purposes of the registration document, it gives a true and fair view in accordance with auditing standards applicable in a Member State or an equivalent standard. Otherwise, the following information must be included in the registration document:	Consolidated financial statements pp. 388 to 392 Non consolidated financial statements pp. 417 to 420	Consolidated financial statements pp. 426 to 431 Non consolidated financial statements pp. 457 to 460
(a) a prominent statement disclosing which auditing standards have been applied;		
(b) an explanation of any significant departures from International Standards on Auditing.		
11.2.1(a)		
Where audit reports on the historical financial information have been refused by the statutory auditors or where they contain qualifications, modifications of opinion, disclaimers or an emphasis of matter, the reason must be given, and such qualifications, modifications, disclaimers or emphasis of matter must be reproduced in full	-	-
11.2.2 Indication of other information in the registration document which has been audited by the auditors.	-	-
11.3 Legal and arbitration	n proceedings	
11.3.1 Information on any governmental, legal or arbitration proceedings (including any such proceedings which are pending or threatened of which the issuer is aware), during a period covering at least the previous 12 months which may have, or have had in the recent past significant effects on the issuer and/or group's financial position or profitability, or provide an appropriate negative statement.	p. 92 p. 301 pp. 331 to 332 pp. 352 to 354	
11.4 Significant change in the Issuer's financial position		
11.4.1 A description of any significant change in the financial position of the group which has occurred since the end of the last financial period for which either audited financial information or interim financial information have been published, or provide an appropriate negative statement.	-	-
12. MATERIAL CONTRACTS		
12.1 A brief summary of all material contracts that are not entered into in the ordinary course of the issuer's business, which could result in any group member being under an obligation or entitlement that is material to the issuer's ability to meet its obligations to security holders in respect of the securities being issued	p. 446	-

The Previous EMTN Conditions are incorporated by reference in this Base Prospectus for the purpose only of further issues of notes to be assimilated (*assimilées*) and form a single series with Notes already issued with the Previous EMTN Conditions.

PREVIOUS EMTN CONDITIONS		
2023 EMTN Conditions	Pages 26 to 79	
2022 EMTN Conditions	Pages 27 to 80	
2021 EMTN Conditions	Pages 27 to 71	
2017 EMTN Conditions	Pages 30 to 61	
2015 EMTN Conditions	Pages 31 to 61	

SUPPLEMENT TO THE BASE PROSPECTUS

If at any time the Issuer shall be required to prepare a supplement to this Base Prospectus pursuant to the provisions of Article 23 of the EU Prospectus Regulation and Article 18 of the Commission Delegated Regulation (EU) 2019/979, following the occurrence of a significant new factor, a material mistake or inaccuracy or omission relating to the information included or incorporated by reference in this Base Prospectus which may affect the assessment of any Notes, the Issuer will prepare and make available an appropriate supplement to this Base Prospectus, which, in respect of any subsequent issue of Notes to be listed and admitted to trading on Euronext Paris or on a Regulated Market, shall constitute a supplement to the Base Prospectus for the purpose of the relevant provisions of the EU Prospectus Regulation. Any such supplement will be submitted to the AMF for approval.

TERMS AND CONDITIONS OF THE NOTES

The following is the text of the terms and conditions that, subject to completion by the relevant Final Terms, shall be applicable to the Notes (the "**Terms and Conditions**").

In the case of any Tranche of Notes which are being admitted to trading on a Regulated Market in a Member State, the relevant Final Terms shall not amend or replace any information in this Base Prospectus.

In the case of Dematerialised Notes, the text of the terms and conditions will not be endorsed on physical documents of title but will be constituted by the following text as completed by the relevant Final Terms. In the case of Materialised Notes, either (i) the full text of these Terms and Conditions together with the relevant provisions of the Final Terms or (ii) these Terms and Conditions as so completed (and subject to simplification by the deletion of non-applicable provisions), shall be endorsed on Definitive Materialised Bearer Notes. All capitalised terms that are not defined in these Conditions will have the meanings given to them in the relevant Final Terms. References in the Conditions to "Notes" are to the Notes of one Series only, not to all Notes that may be issued under the Programme.

The Notes are issued by Valeo (the "Issuer" or "Valeo") in series (each a "Series") having one or more issue dates and on terms otherwise identical (or identical other than in respect of the first payment of interest), the Notes of each Series being intended to be interchangeable with all other Notes of that Series. Each Series may be issued in tranches (each a "Tranche") on the same or different issue dates. The specific terms of each Tranche (which, save in respect of the issue date, issue price, first payment of interest and nominal amount of the Tranche, will be identical to the terms of other Tranches of the same Series) will be set out in the Final Terms to this Base Prospectus (the "Final Terms").

The Notes are issued with the benefit of an amended and restated agency agreement dated 3 July 2024 between the Issuer, BNP Paribas, as fiscal agent and the other agents named in it (as amended or supplemented as at the Issue Date, the "Agency Agreement"). The fiscal agent, the paying agents, the redenomination agent, the consolidation agent, the calculation agent(s) and the put agent for the time being (if any) are referred to below respectively as the "Fiscal Agent", the "Paying Agents" (which expression shall include the Fiscal Agent), the "Redenomination Agent", the "Consolidation Agent", the "Calculation Agent(s)" and the "Put Agent".

For the purpose of these Terms and Conditions, "Regulated Market" means any regulated market situated in a Member State of the European Economic Area ("EEA") as defined in the Directive 2014/65/EU on markets in financial instruments, as amended.

References below to "Conditions" are, unless the context requires otherwise, to the numbered paragraphs below.

In these Conditions, unless otherwise specified or the context otherwise requires, references below to "day" or "days" mean a calendar day.

The Notes shall constitute *obligations* within the meaning of Article L. 213-5 of the French *Code monétaire et financier* (the "Code").

1. FORM, DENOMINATION(S), TITLE AND REDENOMINATION

- (a) Form: Notes may be issued either in dematerialised form ("Dematerialised Notes") or in materialised form ("Materialised Notes"), as specified in the relevant Final Terms.
 - (i) Title to Dematerialised Notes will be evidenced in accordance with Articles L.211-3 et seq. and R.211-1 of the Code by book entries (inscriptions en compte). No physical document of title (including certificats représentatifs pursuant to Article R.211-7 of the Code) will be issued in respect of the Dematerialised Notes.

Dematerialised Notes are issued, at the option of the Issuer, in either bearer dematerialised form (*au porteur*), which will be inscribed in the books of Euroclear France ("Euroclear France", acting as central depository) which shall credit the accounts of Account Holders (as defined below), or in registered

dematerialised form (au nominatif) and, in such latter case, at the option of the relevant Noteholder in either administered registered form (au nominatif administré) inscribed in the books of an Account Holder or in fully registered form (au nominatif pur) inscribed in an account in the books of Euroclear France maintained by the Issuer or the registration agent (designated in the relevant Final Terms) acting on behalf of the Issuer (the "Registration Agent").

For the purpose of these Conditions, "Account Holder" means any authorised financial intermediary institution entitled, either directly or indirectly, to hold accounts on behalf of its customers with Euroclear France, and includes Euroclear Bank S.A./N.V., as operator of the Euroclear System ("Euroclear") and the depositary bank for Clearstream Banking, S.A. ("Clearstream").

The Issuer may require, at any time, the identification of the Noteholders unless such right is expressly excluded in the relevant Final Terms.

(ii) Materialised Notes are issued in bearer form ("Materialised Bearer Notes"). Materialised Bearer Notes are serially numbered and are issued with coupons (the "Coupons") (and, where appropriate, a talon (the "Talon")) attached, save in the case of Zero Coupon Notes in which case references to interest (other than in relation to interest due after the Maturity Date), Coupons and Talons in these Conditions are not applicable.

In accordance with Articles L.211-3 et seq. and R.211-7 of the Code, securities (such as Notes) which are governed by French law and are in materialised form must be issued outside the French territory.

(b) **Denomination(s):** Notes shall be issued in the specified denomination(s) as set out in the relevant Final Terms (the "**Specified Denomination(s)**") save that the minimum denomination of each Note admitted to trading on a Regulated Market in circumstances which require the publication of a Base Prospectus under the EU Prospectus Regulation will be €100,000 (or, if the Notes are denominated in a currency other than euro, the equivalent amount in such other currency at the issue date or such other higher amount as may be allowed or required from time to time by the relevant monetary or financial authority or any laws or regulations applicable to the relevant Specified Currency (as defined below)). Dematerialised Notes shall be issued in one Specified Denomination only.

(c) Title:

- (i) Title to Dematerialised Notes in bearer dematerialised form (au porteur) and in administered registered form (au nominatif administré) shall pass upon, and transfer of such Notes may only be effected through, registration of the transfer in the accounts of Account Holders. Title to Dematerialised Notes in fully registered form (au nominatif pur) shall pass upon, and transfer of such Notes may only be effected through, registration of the transfer in the accounts of the Issuer or the Registration Agent.
- (ii) Title to Materialised Bearer Notes in definitive form having, where appropriate, Coupons and/or a Talon attached thereto on issue ("**Definitive Materialised Bearer Notes**"), shall pass by delivery.
- (iii) Except as ordered by a court of competent jurisdiction or as required by law, the Noteholder (as defined below) of any Note, Coupon or Talon shall be deemed to be and may be treated as its absolute owner for all purposes, whether or not it is overdue and regardless of any notice of ownership, or an interest in it, any writing on it or its theft or loss and no person shall be liable for so treating the Noteholder.
- (iv) In these Conditions, "**Noteholder**" means (i) in the case of Dematerialised Notes, the person whose name appears in the account of the relevant Account Holder or the Issuer or the Registration Agent (as the case may be) as being entitled to such

Notes and (ii) in the case of Materialised Notes, the bearer of any Definitive Materialised Bearer Note and the Coupons, or Talon relating to it, and capitalised terms have the meanings given to them in the relevant Final Terms, the absence of any such meaning indicating that such term is not applicable to the Notes.

(d) Redenomination:

- (i) The Issuer may (if so specified in the relevant Final Terms), on any Interest Payment Date, without the consent of the holder of any Note, Coupon or Talon, by giving at least thirty (30) calendar days' notice in accordance with Condition 14 and on or after the date on which the European Member State in whose national currency the Notes are denominated has become a participating Member State in the single currency of the European Economic and Monetary Union (as provided in the Treaty establishing the European Community, as amended from time to time (the "Treaty")), or events have occurred which have substantially the same effect, redenominate all, but not some only, of the Notes of any Series into Euro and adjust the aggregate nominal amount and the Specified Denomination(s) set out in the relevant Final Terms accordingly, as described below. The date on which such redenomination becomes effective shall be referred to in these Conditions as the "Redenomination Date".
- (ii) The redenomination of the Notes pursuant to Condition 1(d)(i) shall be made by converting the nominal amount of each Note from the relevant national currency into Euro using the fixed relevant national currency Euro conversion rate established by the Council of the European Union pursuant to applicable regulations of the Treaty and rounding the resultant figure to the nearest Euro 0.01 (with Euro 0.005 being rounded upwards). If the Issuer so elects, the figure resulting from conversion of the nominal amount of each Note using the fixed relevant national currency Euro conversion rate shall be rounded down to the nearest Euro. The Euro denominations of the Notes so determined shall be notified to Noteholders in accordance with Condition 14. Any balance remaining from the redenomination with a denomination higher than Euro 0.01 shall be paid by way of cash adjustment rounded to the nearest Euro 0.01 (with Euro 0.005 being rounded upwards). Such cash adjustment will be payable in Euro on the Redenomination Date in the manner notified to Noteholders by the Issuer.
- (iii) Upon redenomination of the Notes, any reference in the relevant Final Terms to the relevant national currency shall be construed as a reference to Euro.
- (iv) The Issuer may, with the prior approval of the Redenomination Agent and the Consolidation Agent, in connection with any redenomination pursuant to this Condition or any consolidation pursuant to Condition 13, without the consent of the holder of any Note, Coupon or Talon, make any changes or additions to this Condition or Condition 13 (including, without limitation, any change to any applicable business day definition, business day convention, principal financial centre of the country of the Specified Currency, interest accrual basis or benchmark), taking into account market practice in respect of redenominated euromarket debt obligations and which it believes are not prejudicial to the interests of the relevant Noteholders. Any such changes or additions shall, in the absence of manifest error, be binding on the holders of Notes, Coupons and Talons and shall be notified to them in accordance with Condition 14 as soon as practicable thereafter.
- (v) Neither the Issuer nor any Paying Agent shall be liable to the holder of any Note, Coupon or Talon or other person for any commissions, costs, losses or expenses in relation to or resulting from the credit or transfer of Euro or any currency conversion or rounding effected in connection therewith.

2. CONVERSION AND EXCHANGES OF NOTES

(a) **Dematerialised Notes:**

- (i) Dematerialised Notes issued in bearer dematerialised form (*au porteur*) may not be converted into Dematerialised Notes in registered dematerialised form, whether in fully registered form (*au nominatif pur*) or in administered registered form (*au nominatif administré*).
- (ii) Dematerialised Notes issued in registered dematerialised form (*au nominatif*) may not be converted into Dematerialised Notes in bearer dematerialised form (*au porteur*).
- (iii) Dematerialised Notes issued in fully registered form (*au nominatif pur*) may, at the option of the Noteholder, be converted into Notes in administered registered form (*au nominatif administré*), and *vice versa*. The exercise of any such option by such Noteholder shall be made in accordance with Article R.211-4 of the Code. Any such conversion shall be effected at the cost of such Noteholder.

(b) Materialised Notes:

Materialised Bearer Notes of one Specified Denomination may not be exchanged for Materialised Bearer Notes of another Specified Denomination.

3. STATUS

The Notes and, where applicable, any relative Coupons are direct, unconditional, unsubordinated and (subject to the provisions of Condition 4 (Negative Pledge)) unsecured obligations of the Issuer and rank and will at all times rank pari passu and without any preference among themselves and (subject to such exceptions as are from time to time mandatory under French law) equally and rateably with all other present or future unsecured and unsubordinated obligations of the Issuer, from time to time outstanding.

4. **NEGATIVE PLEDGE**

So long as any of the Notes or, if applicable, any Coupons relating to them, remain outstanding, the Issuer will not create or permit to subsist any mortgage, charge, pledge or other security interest upon any of its business, undertakings, assets or revenues, present or future, to secure any Relevant Indebtedness (as defined below) incurred or guaranteed by it (whether before or after the issue of the Notes) unless the Issuer's obligations under the Notes and Coupons are equally and rateably secured so as to rank *pari passu* with such Relevant Indebtedness or such guarantee in respect thereof.

For the purposes of this Condition:

"Relevant Indebtedness" means any indebtedness for borrowed money in the form of, or represented by, bonds (*obligations*) or other securities (including *titres de créance négociables*) which are for the time being, or are capable of being, quoted, listed or ordinarily traded on any stock exchange, over-the-counter-market or other securities market.

5. INTEREST AND OTHER CALCULATIONS

(a) **Definitions:** In these Conditions, unless the context otherwise requires, the following defined terms shall have the meanings set out below:

"Benchmark" means the reference rate (LIBID, LIMEAN, CMS or EURIBOR) as specified in the relevant Final Terms, subject as provided in Condition 5(c)(ii)(B)(d).

"Business Day" means, other than in respect of Notes for which the Reference Rate is specified as SOFR in the relevant Final Terms:

- (i) in relation to any sum payable in Euro, a day on which the real time gross settlement system operated by the Eurosystem, or any successor system ("T2") is operating (a "TARGET Settlement Day"), and/or
- (ii) in relation to any sum payable in Renminbi, a day on which commercial banks and foreign exchange markets settle payments in Renminbi in Hong Kong and in the relevant Business Centre(s) (if any), and/or
- (iii) in relation to any sum payable in a Specified Currency other than Euro and Renminbi, a day (other than a Saturday or Sunday) on which commercial banks and foreign exchange markets settle payments in the principal financial centre for that currency, and/or
- (iv) in the case of a Specified Currency and/or one or more additional business centre(s) specified in the relevant Final Terms (the "Business Centre(s)"), a day (other than a Saturday or a Sunday) on which commercial banks and foreign exchange markets settle payments in such currency in the Business Centre(s).

"Day Count Fraction" means, in respect of the calculation of an amount of interest on any Note for any period of time (from and including the first (1st) calendar day of such period to but excluding the last) (whether or not constituting an Interest Period, the "Calculation Period"):

- (i) if "Actual/Actual (ISDA)" is specified in the relevant Final Terms, the actual number of calendar days in the Calculation Period divided by three hundred and sixty-five (365) (or, if any portion of that Calculation Period falls in a leap year, the sum of (A) the actual number of calendar days in that portion of the Calculation Period falling in a leap year divided by three hundred and sixty-six (366) and (B) the actual number of calendar days in that portion of the Calculation Period falling in a non-leap year divided by three hundred and sixty-five (365));
- (ii) if "Actual/Actual (ICMA)" is specified in the relevant Final Terms:
 - (A) if the Calculation Period is equal to or shorter than the Determination Period during which it falls, the number of calendar days in the Calculation Period divided by the product of (x) the number of calendar days in such Determination Period and (y) the number of Determination Periods normally ending in any year; and
 - (B) if the Calculation Period is longer than one Determination Period, the sum of:

the number of calendar days in such Calculation Period falling in the Determination Period in which it begins divided by the product of (1) the number of calendar days in such Determination Period and (2) the number of Determination Periods normally ending in any year; and

the number of calendar days in such Calculation Period falling in the next Determination Period divided by the product of (1) the number of calendar days in such Determination Period and (2) the number of Determination Periods normally ending in any year;

in each case where "**Determination Period**" means the period from and including a Determination Date in any year to but excluding the next Determination Date; and

"Determination Date" means the date specified as such hereon or, if none is so specified, the Interest Payment Date;

- (iii) if "Actual/365 (Fixed)" is specified in the relevant Final Terms, the actual number of calendar days in the Calculation Period divided by three hundred and sixty-five (365);
- (iv) if "Actual/360" is specified in the relevant Final Terms, the actual number of calendar days in the Calculation Period divided by three hundred and sixty (360);
- (v) if "30/360", "360/360" or "Bond Basis" is specified in the relevant Final Terms, the number of calendar days in the Calculation Period divided by three hundred and sixty (360), calculated on a formula basis as follows:

Day Count Fraction =
$$\frac{[360 \times (Y_2 - Y_1)] + [30 \times (M_2 - M_1)] + (D_2 - D_1)}{360}$$

where:

"Y₁" is the year, expressed as a number, in which the first (1st) calendar day of the Calculation Period falls;

"Y₂" is the year, expressed as a number, in which the calendar day immediately following the last calendar day included in the Calculation Period falls;

"M₁" is the calendar month, expressed as a number, in which the first calendar day of the Calculation Period falls;

"M₂" is the calendar month, expressed as a number, in which the calendar day immediately following the last calendar day included in the Calculation Period falls;

" D_1 " is the first (1st) calendar day, expressed as a number, of the Calculation Period, unless such number would be thirty-one (31), in which case D_1 will be thirty (30); and

"D2" is the calendar day, expressed as a number, immediately following the last calendar day included in the Calculation Period, unless such number would be thirty-one (31) and D1 is greater than twenty-nine (29), in which case D2 will be thirty (30);

(vi) if "30E/360" or "Eurobond Basis" is specified in the relevant Final Terms, the number of calendar days in the Calculation Period divided by three hundred and sixty (360) calculated on a formula basis as follows:

Day Count Fraction =
$$\frac{[360 \times (Y_2 - Y_1)] + [30 \times (M_2 - M_1)] + (D_2 - D_1)}{360}$$

where:

"Y₁" is the year, expressed as a number, in which the first (1st) calendar day of the Calculation Period falls;

"Y₂" is the year, expressed as a number, in which the calendar day immediately following the last calendar day included in the Calculation Period falls;

"M₁" is the calendar month, expressed as a number, in which the first (1st) calendar day of the Calculation Period falls;

"M₂" is the calendar month, expressed as a number, in which the calendar day immediately following the last calendar day included in the Calculation Period falls:

"D₁" is the first calendar day, expressed as a number, of the Calculation Period, unless such number would be thirty-one (31), in which case D₁ will be thirty (30); and

" \mathbf{D}_2 " is the calendar day, expressed as a number, immediately following the last calendar day included in the Calculation Period, unless such number would be thirty-one (31), in which case \mathbf{D}_2 will be thirty (30);

(vii) if "30E/360 (ISDA)" is specified in the applicable Final Terms, the number of calendar days in the Calculation Period divided by three hundred and sixty (360), calculated on a formula basis as follows:

Day Count Fraction =
$$\frac{[360 \times (Y_2 - Y_1)] + [30 \times (M_2 - M_1)] + (D_2 - D_1)}{360}$$

where:

"Y1" is the year, expressed as a number, in which the first (1st) calendar day of the Calculation Period falls;

"Y2" is the year, expressed as a number, in which the calendar day immediately following the last calendar day included in the Calculation Period falls;

"M1" is the calendar month, expressed as a number, in which the first calendar day of the Calculation Period falls;

"M2" is the calendar month, expressed as a number, in which the calendar day immediately following the last calendar day included in the Calculation Period falls:

"D1" is the first (1st) calendar day, expressed as a number, of the Calculation Period, unless (i) that day is the last calendar day of February or (ii) such number would be thirty-one (31), in which case D1 will be thirty (30); and

"D2" is the calendar day, expressed as a number, immediately following the last calendar day included in the Calculation Period, unless (i) that day is the last calendar day of February but not the Maturity Date (as specified in the applicable Final Terms) or (ii) such number would be thirty-one (31), in which case D2 will be thirty (30).

"Effective Date" means, with respect to any Floating Rate to be determined on an Interest Determination Date, the date specified as such in the relevant Final Terms or, if none is so specified, the first (1st) calendar day of the Interest Accrual Period to which such Interest Determination Date relates.

"Euro-zone" means the region comprised of member states of the European Union that have adopted or adopt the single currency in accordance with the Treaty establishing the European Community, as amended from time to time.

"Interest Accrual Period" means the period beginning on (and including) the Interest Commencement Date and ending on (but excluding) the first (1st) Interest Period Date and each successive period beginning on (and including) an Interest Period Date and ending on (but excluding) the next succeeding Interest Period Date.

"Interest Amount" means the amount of interest payable, for a particular period, and in the case of Fixed Rate Notes, means the Fixed Coupon Amount or Broken Amount, as the case may be.

"Interest Commencement Date" means the Issue Date or such other date as may be specified in the relevant Final Terms.

"Interest Determination Date" means, with respect to a Rate of Interest, an Interest Accrual Period or the interest amount in relation to Renminbi Notes, the date specified as such in the relevant Final Terms or, if none is so specified, (i) the calendar day falling two (2) TARGET Settlement Days prior to the first (1st) calendar day of such Interest Accrual Period if the Specified Currency is Euro or (ii) the first (1st) calendar day of such Interest Accrual Period if the Specified Currency is Sterling or (iii) the calendar day falling two (2) Business Days in the city specified in the Final Terms for the Specified Currency prior to the first (1st) calendar day of such Interest Accrual Period if the Specified Currency is neither Sterling nor Euro.

"Interest Payment Date" means the date(s) specified in the relevant Final Terms.

"Interest Period" means the period beginning on (and including) the Interest Commencement Date and ending on (but excluding) the first (1st) Interest Payment Date and each successive period beginning on (and including) an Interest Payment Date and ending on (but excluding) the next Interest Payment Date or the relevant payment date if the Notes become payable on a date other than an Interest Payment Date.

"Interest Period Date" means each Interest Payment Date unless otherwise specified in the relevant Final Terms.

"ISDA" means the International Swap and Derivative Association, Inc (or any successor).

"ISDA Definitions" means the 2006 ISDA Definitions published by the International Swap and Derivative Association, Inc, as mended or supplemented as at the Issue Date.

"Page" means such page, section, caption, column or other part of a particular information service (including, but not limited to, Reuters Markets 3000 ("Reuters")) as may be specified for the purpose of providing a Relevant Rate, or such other page, section, caption, column or other part as may replace it on that information service or on such other information service, in each case as may be nominated by the person or organisation providing or sponsoring the information appearing there for the purpose of displaying rates or prices comparable to that Relevant Rate.

"Rate of Interest" means the rate of interest payable from time to time in respect of the Notes and that is either specified or calculated in accordance with the provisions in the relevant Final Terms.

"Reference Banks" means the institutions specified as such in the relevant Final Terms or, if none, four major banks selected by the Calculation Agent in the interbank market (or, if appropriate, money, swap or over-the-counter index options market) that is most closely connected with the Benchmark (which, if EURIBOR is the relevant Benchmark, shall be the Euro-zone).

"Reference Rate" means EURIBOR, SONIA, SOFR, €STR as specified in the relevant Final Terms in respect of the currency and period specified in the relevant Final Terms.

"Relevant Financial Centre" means, with respect to any Floating Rate to be determined in accordance with a Screen Rate Determination on an Interest Determination Date, the financial centre as may be specified as such in the relevant Final Terms or, if none is so specified, the financial centre with which the relevant Benchmark is most closely connected (which, in the case of EURIBOR, shall be the Euro-zone) or, if none is so connected, Paris.

"Relevant Date" means, in respect of any Note or Coupon, the date on which payment in respect of it first became due or (if any amount of the money payable is improperly withheld or refused) the date on which payment in full of the amount outstanding is made or (in the case of Materialised Notes if earlier) the date seven (7) calendar days after that on which notice is duly given to the holders of such Materialised Notes that, upon further presentation of the Materialised Note or Coupon being made in accordance with the Conditions, such payment will be made, provided that payment is in fact made upon such presentation.

"Relevant Rate" means the Benchmark for a Representative Amount of the Specified Currency for a period (if applicable or appropriate to the Benchmark) equal to the Specified Duration commencing on the Effective Date.

"Relevant Time" means, with respect to any Interest Determination Date, the local time in the Relevant Financial Centre specified in the relevant Final Terms or, if no time is specified, the local time in the Relevant Financial Centre at which it is customary to determine bid and offered rates in respect of deposits in the Specified Currency in the interbank market in the Relevant Financial Centre or, if no such customary local time exists, 11.00 hours in the Relevant Financial Centre and, for the purpose of this definition "local time" means, with respect to Europe and the Euro-zone as a Relevant Financial Centre Brussels time.

"Representative Amount" means, with respect to any Floating Rate to be determined in accordance with a Screen Rate Determination on an Interest Determination Date, the amount specified as such in the relevant Final Terms or, if none is specified, an amount that is representative for a single transaction in the relevant market at the relevant time.

"Specified Currency" means the currency specified as such in the relevant Final Terms.

"Specified Duration" means, with respect to any Floating Rate to be determined in accordance with Screen Rate Determination-IBOR on an Interest Determination Date, the duration specified in the relevant Final Terms or, if none is specified, a period of time equal to the relative Interest Accrual Period, ignoring any adjustment pursuant to Condition 5(c)(ii).

(b) **Interest on Fixed Rate Notes:** Each Fixed Rate Note bears interest on its outstanding nominal amount from the Interest Commencement Date at the rate per annum (expressed as a percentage) equal to the Rate of Interest, such interest being payable in arrear on each Interest Payment Date.

If a fixed amount of interest ("Fixed Coupon Amount") or a broken amount of interest ("Broken Amount") is specified in the relevant Final Terms, the amount of interest payable on each Interest Payment Date will amount to the Fixed Coupon Amount or, if applicable, the Broken Amount so specified and in the case of the Broken Amount will be payable on the particular Interest Payment Date(s) specified in the relevant Final Terms.

(c) Interest on Floating Rate Notes:

(i) Interest Payment Dates: Each Floating Rate Note bears interest on its outstanding nominal amount from the Interest Commencement Date at the rate per annum (expressed as a percentage) equal to the Rate of Interest, such interest being payable in arrear (except as otherwise provided in the relevant Final Terms) on each Interest Payment Date. Such Interest Payment Date(s) is/are either shown in the relevant Final Terms as Specified Interest Payment Dates or, if no Specified Interest Payment Date(s) is/are shown in the relevant Final Terms, Interest Payment Date shall mean each date which falls the number of months or other period shown in the relevant Final Terms as the Interest Period after the preceding Interest Payment Date or, in the case of the first (1st) Interest Payment Date, after the Interest Commencement Date.

- (ii) Business Day Convention: If any date referred to in these Conditions that is specified to be subject to adjustment in accordance with a Business Day Convention would otherwise fall on a day that is not a Business Day, then, if the Business Day Convention specified is (A) the Floating Rate Business Day Convention, such date shall be postponed to the next day that is a Business Day unless it would thereby fall into the next calendar month, in which event (x) such date shall be brought forward to the immediately preceding Business Day and (y) each subsequent such date shall be the last Business Day of the month in which such date would have fallen had it not been subject to adjustment, (B) the Following Business Day Convention, such date shall be postponed to the next day that is a Business Day, (C) the Modified Following Business Day Convention, such date shall be postponed to the next day that is a Business Day unless it would thereby fall into the next calendar month, in which event such date shall be brought forward to the immediately preceding Business Day, save in respect of Notes for which the Reference Rate is SOFR, for which the final Interest Payment Date will not be postponed and interest on that payment will not accrue during the period from and after the scheduled final Interest Payment Date, or (D) the Preceding Business Day Convention, such date shall be brought forward to the immediately preceding Business Day. Notwithstanding the foregoing, where the applicable Final Terms specify that the relevant Business Day Convention is to be applied on an "unadjusted" basis, the Interest Amount payable on any date shall not be affected by the application of that Business Day Convention.
- (iii) Rate of Interest for Floating Rate Notes: The Rate of Interest in respect of Floating Rate Notes for each Interest Accrual Period shall be determined in the manner specified in the relevant Final Terms and, unless otherwise specified in the relevant Final Terms, the provisions below relating to either ISDA Determination or Screen Rate Determination shall apply, depending upon which is specified in the relevant Final Terms.

(A) ISDA Determination for Floating Rate Notes

Where "ISDA Determination" is specified in the relevant Final Terms as the manner in which the Rate of Interest is to be determined, the Rate of Interest for each Interest Accrual Period shall be determined by the Calculation Agent as a rate equal to the relevant ISDA Rate plus or minus (as indicated in the relevant Final Terms) the Margin (if any). For the purposes of this sub-paragraph (A), "ISDA Rate" for an Interest Accrual Period means a rate equal to the Floating Rate that would be determined by the Calculation Agent under a Swap Transaction under the terms of an agreement incorporating the ISDA Definitions and under which:

- (a) the Floating Rate Option is as specified in the relevant Final
- (b) the Designated Maturity is a period specified in the relevant Final Terms and
- (c) the relevant Reset Date is the first (1st) calendar day of that Interest Accrual Period unless otherwise specified in the relevant Final Terms.

For the purposes of this sub-paragraph (A), "Floating Rate", "Calculation Agent", "Floating Rate Option", "Designated Maturity", "Reset Date" and "Swap Transaction" have the meanings given to those terms in the ISDA Definitions.

(B) Screen Rate Determination for Floating Rate Notes – EURIBOR, LIBID, LIMEAN and CMS

Where "Screen Rate Determination-IBOR" is specified in the relevant Final Terms as the manner in which the Rate of Interest is to be determined, the Rate of Interest for each Interest Accrual Period shall be determined by the Calculation Agent at or about the Relevant Time on the Interest Determination Date in respect of such Interest Accrual Period in accordance with the following:

- (a) if the Primary Source for Relevant Rate is a Page, subject as provided below, the Rate of Interest shall be:
 - (i) the Relevant Rate (where such Relevant Rate on such Page is a composite quotation or is customarily supplied by one entity) or
 - (ii) the arithmetic mean of the Relevant Rates of the persons whose Relevant Rates appear on that Page,

in each case appearing on such Page at the Relevant Time on the Interest Determination Date;

- (b) if the Primary Source for the Relevant Rate is Reference Banks or if sub-paragraph (a)(i) applies and no Relevant Rate appears on the Page at the Relevant Time on the Interest Determination Date or if sub-paragraph (a)(ii) applies and fewer than two Relevant Rates appear on the Page at the Relevant Time on the Interest Determination Date, subject as provided below, the Rate of Interest shall be the arithmetic mean of the Relevant Rates that each of the Reference Banks is quoting to leading banks in the Relevant Financial Centre at the Relevant Time on the Interest Determination Date, as determined by the Calculation Agent; and
- (c) if paragraph (b) above applies and the Calculation Agent determines that fewer than two Reference Banks are so quoting Relevant Rates, subject as provided below, the Rate of Interest shall be the arithmetic mean of the rates per annum (expressed as a percentage) that the Calculation Agent determines to be the rates (being the nearest equivalent to the Relevant Rates) in respect of a Representative Amount of the Specified Currency that at least two out of five leading banks selected by the Calculation Agent in the principal financial centre of the country of the Specified Currency or, if the Specified Currency is Euro, in the Euro-zone as selected by the Calculation Agent (the "Principal Financial Centre") are quoting at or about the Relevant Time on the date on which such banks would customarily quote such rates for a period commencing on the Effective Date for a period equivalent to the Specified Duration (I) to leading banks carrying on business in Europe, or (if the Calculation Agent determines that fewer than two of such banks are so quoting to leading banks in Europe) (II) to leading banks carrying on business in the Principal Financial Centre; except that, if fewer than two of such banks are so quoting to leading banks in the Principal Financial Centre, the Rate of Interest shall be the Rate of Interest determined on the previous Interest Determination Date (after readjustment for any difference between any Margin, Rate Multiplier or Maximum or Minimum

Rate of Interest applicable to the preceding Interest Accrual Period and to the relevant Interest Accrual Period).

(d) Benchmark discontinuation

If a Benchmark Event occurs in relation to an Original Reference Rate at any time when the Terms and Conditions of any Notes provide for any rate of interest (or any component part thereof) to be determined by reference to such Original Reference Rate, then the following provisions shall apply and prevail over other fallbacks specified in Condition 5(c)(iii)(B). For the avoidance of doubt, the provisions of this Condition 5(c)(iii)(B)(d) shall not apply to Condition 5(c)(iii)(C), Condition 5(c)(iii)(D) or Condition 5(c)(iii)(E) in relation to Notes for which the Rate of Interest is calculated by reference to SONIA, SOFR and €STR respectively.

(i) Independent Adviser

The Issuer shall use reasonable endeavours to appoint, as soon as reasonably practicable, an Independent Adviser to determine a Successor Rate, failing which an Alternative Rate (in accordance with Condition 5(c)(iii)(B)(d)(ii)) and, in either case, an Adjustment Spread, if any (in accordance with Condition 5(c)(iii)(B)(d)(iii)) and any Benchmark Amendments, if any (in accordance with Condition 5(c)(iii)(B)(d)(iv)).

An Independent Adviser appointed pursuant to this Condition 5(c)(iii)(B)(d) shall act in as an expert and (in the absence of manifest error or fraud) shall have no liability whatsoever to the Issuer, the Fiscal Agent, the Paying Agents, the Calculation Agent or any other party responsible for determining the Rate of Interest specified in the applicable Final Terms, or the Noteholders for any determination made by it pursuant to this Condition 5(c)(iii)(B)(d).

(ii) Successor Rate or Alternative Rate

If the Independent Adviser determines that:

- (1) there is a Successor Rate, then such Successor Rate shall (subject to adjustment as provided in Condition 5(c)(iii)(B)(d)(iv)) subsequently be used in place of the Original Reference Rate to determine the relevant Rate(s) of Interest (or the relevant component part(s) thereof) for all relevant future payments of interest on the Notes (subject to the further operation of this Condition 5(c)(iii)(B)(d)); or
- (2) there is no Successor Rate but that there is an Alternative Rate, then such Alternative Rate shall (subject to adjustment as provided in Condition 5(c)(iii)(B)(d)(iv)) subsequently be used in place of the Original Reference Rate to determine the relevant Rate(s) of Interest (or the relevant component part(s) thereof) for all relevant future payments of interest on the

Notes (subject to the further operation of this Condition 5(c)(iii)(B)(d)).

(iii) Adjustment Spread

If the Independent Adviser, determines (A) that an Adjustment Spread is required to be applied to the Successor Rate or the Alternative Rate (as the case may be) and (B) the quantum of, or a formula or methodology for determining, such Adjustment Spread, then such Adjustment Spread shall be applied to the Successor Rate or the Alternative Rate (as the case may be) for each subsequent determination of a relevant Rate(s) of Interest (or a relevant component part thereof) by reference to such Successor Rate or Alternative Rate (as applicable).

For the avoidance of doubt, the determination of any Adjustment Spread by the Independent Adviser (i) shall not affect the application, with respect to a particular Interest Period, of the Margin specified as applicable to such Interest Period in the Final Terms and (ii) shall only be made, in accordance with customary market usage in the international debt capital market, to reduce or eliminate, to the fullest extent reasonably practicable in the circumstances, any economic prejudice or benefit (as the case may be) to Noteholders.

(iv) Benchmark Amendments

If any Successor Rate, Alternative Rate or Adjustment Spread is determined in accordance with this Condition 5(c)(iii)(B)(d) and the Independent Adviser determines (A) that amendments to the Terms and Conditions of the Notes (including amendments to the definitions of Day Count Fraction, Business Days or Page) are strictly necessary to ensure the proper operation of such Successor Rate, Alternative Rate and/or Adjustment Spread (such amendments, the "Benchmark Amendments") and (B) the relevant terms of the Benchmark Amendments, then the Issuer shall, subject to giving notice thereof in accordance with Condition 5(c)(iii)(B)(d)(v), without any requirement for the consent or approval of Noteholders, vary the Terms and Conditions of the Notes to give effect to such Benchmark Amendments with effect from the date specified in such notice.

For the avoidance of doubt, the Benchmark Amendments referred to above, determined by the Independent Adviser as appropriate to ensure the proper operation of such Successor Rate, Alternative Rate and/or Adjustment Spread, (i) shall only relate to the terms, notions and definitions used in this Condition 5 (*Interest and other Calculations*), to the exclusion of any commercial terms relating to the Issuer and reflected in other Conditions, and (ii) shall only be made, in accordance with customary market usage in the international debt capital market, to reduce or

eliminate, to the fullest extent reasonably practicable in the circumstances, any economic prejudice or benefit (as the case may be) to Noteholders.

In connection with any such variation in accordance with this Condition 5(c)(iii)(B)(d), the Issuer shall comply with the rules of any stock exchange on which the Notes are for the time being listed or admitted to trading.

(v) Notices, etc.

If, following the occurrence of a Benchmark Event and in relation to the determination of the Rate of Interest on the immediately following Interest Determination Date, no Independent Adviser has been appointed or no Successor Rate or Alternative Rate (as applicable) is determined pursuant to this provision, the Original Reference Rate will continue to apply for the purposes of determining such Rate of Interest on such Interest Determination Date, with the effect that the fallback provisions provided elsewhere in these Terms and Conditions of the Notes will continue to apply to such determination.

In such circumstances, the Issuer will be entitled (but not obliged), at any time thereafter, to elect to re-apply the provisions of this Condition 5(c)(iii)(B)(d), mutatis mutandis, on one or more occasions until a Successor Rate or Alternative Rate (and, if applicable, any associated Adjustment Spread and/or Benchmark Amendments) has been determined and notified in accordance with this Condition 5(c)(iii)(B)(d) (and, until such determination and notification (if any), the fallback provisions provided elsewhere in these Terms and Conditions will continue to apply).

(vi) Fallbacks

If, following the occurrence of a Benchmark Event and in relation to the determination of the Rate of Interest on the immediately following Interest Determination Date, no Independent Adviser has been appointed or no Successor Rate or Alternative Rate (as applicable) is determined pursuant to this provision, the Original Reference Rate will continue to apply for the purposes of determining such Rate of Interest on such Interest Determination Date, with the effect that the fallback provisions provided elsewhere in these Terms and Conditions of the Notes will continue to apply to such determination, provided that such fallbacks may in certain circumstances, lead to applying the Rate of Interest determined as at the last preceding Interest Determination Date.

In such circumstances, the Issuer will be entitled (but not obliged), at any time thereafter, to elect to re-apply the provisions of this Condition 5(c)(iii)(B)(d), *mutatis mutandis*, on one or more occasions until a Successor

Rate or Alternative Rate (and, if applicable, any associated Adjustment Spread and/or Benchmark Amendments) has been determined and notified in accordance with this Condition 5(c)(iii)(B)(d)(a) (and, until such determination and notification (if any), the fallback provisions provided elsewhere in these Terms and Conditions including, for the avoidance of doubt, the fallbacks specified in Condition 5(c)(iii)(C)(c), will continue to apply).

(vii) Survival of Original Reference Rate

Without prejudice to the Issuer's obligations under the provisions of this Condition 5(c)(iii)(B)(d), the Original Reference Rate and the fallback provisions provided for in Condition 5(c)(iii)(B)(c) will continue to apply unless and until the party responsible for determining the Rate of Interest has been notified of the Successor Rate or the Alternative Rate (as the case may be), and of any Adjustment Spread and/or Benchmark Amendments.

(viii) Definitions

In this Condition 5(c)(iii)(B)(d):

"Adjustment Spread" means either a spread (which may be positive or negative), or the formula or methodology for calculating a spread, in either case, which the Independent Adviser, acting in good faith and in a commercially reasonable manner, determines in accordance with customary market usage in the international debt capital market for such Successor Rate or the Alternative Rate and which is required to be applied to the Successor Rate or the Alternative Rate (as the case may be) to reduce or eliminate, to the fullest extent reasonably practicable in the circumstances, any economic prejudice or benefit (as the case may be) to Noteholders as a result of the replacement of the Original Reference Rate with the Successor Rate or the Alternative Rate (as the case may be) and is the spread, formula or methodology which:

- a) in the case of a Successor Rate, is formally recommended, or formally provided as an option for parties to adopt, in relation to the replacement of the Original Reference Rate with the Successor Rate by any Relevant Nominating Body;
- b) in the case of an Alternative Rate (or in the case of a Successor Rate where (a) above does not apply), is in customary market usage in the international debt capital market for transactions which
- c) reference the Original Reference Rate, where such rate has been replaced by the Alternative Rate (or, as the case may be, the Successor Rate); or

d) if no such recommendation or option has been made (or made available), or the Independent Adviser determines there is no such spread, formula or methodology in customary market usage, the Independent Adviser determines to be appropriate.

"Alternative Rate" means, in the absence of a Successor Rate, an alternative benchmark or screen rate which the Independent Adviser determines in accordance with this Condition 5(c)(iii)(B)(d) and which, to the extent possible, is customary market usage in the international debt capital markets for the purposes of determining rates of interest (or the relevant component part thereof) for a commensurate interest period and in the same Specified Currency as the Notes.

"Benchmark Event" means, with respect to an Original Reference Rate:

- a) the Original Reference Rate ceasing to exist or be published;
- b) the later of (i) the making of a public statement by the administrator of the Original Reference Rate that it will, on or before a specified date, cease publishing the Original Reference Rate permanently or indefinitely (in circumstances where no successor administrator has been appointed that will continue publication of the Original Reference Rate) and (ii) the date falling six (6) months prior to the date specified in (b)(i);
- c) the making of a public statement by the supervisor of the administrator of the Original Reference Rate that the Original Reference Rate has been permanently or indefinitely discontinued;
- d) the later of (i) the making of a public statement by the supervisor of the administrator of the Original Reference Rate that the Original Reference Rate will, on or before a specified date, be permanently or indefinitely discontinued and (ii) the date falling six (6) months prior to the date specified in (d)(i);
- e) the making of a public statement by the supervisor of the administrator of the Original Reference Rate that means the Original Reference Rate will be prohibited from being used or that its use will be subject to restrictions or adverse consequences, in each case within the following six (6) months;
- f) it has or will prior to the next Interest Determination Date, become unlawful for the Issuer, the party responsible for determining

the Rate of Interest (being the Calculation Agent or such other party specified in the applicable Final Terms, as applicable), or any Paying Agent to calculate any payments due to be made to any Noteholder using the Original Reference Rate (including, without limitation, under the EU Benchmarks Regulation or the UK Benchmarks Regulation, if applicable);

- g) that a decision to withdraw the authorisation or registration pursuant to article 35 of the EU Benchmarks Regulation or the UK Benchmarks Regulation of any benchmark administrator previously authorised to publish such Original Reference Rate has been adopted; or
- h) the making of a public statement by the supervisor of the administrator of the Original Reference Rate that means the methodology for calculating the Original Reference Rate (i) has changed materially or (ii) will change materially.

"EU Benchmarks Regulation" means Regulation (EU) 2016/2011 of 8 June 2016, as amended or superseded.

"Independent Adviser" means an independent financial institution of international repute or an independent adviser of recognised standing with appropriate expertise, at all times acting in good faith and in a commercially reasonable manner, appointed by the Issuer at its own expense under Condition 5(c)(iii)(B)(d)(i).

"Original Reference Rate" means the Relevant Rate originally specified in the relevant Final Terms for the purpose of determining the relevant Rate of Interest (or any relevant component part(s) thereof) on the Notes.

"Relevant Nominating Body" means, in respect of a benchmark or screen rate (as applicable):

- a) the central bank for the currency to which the benchmark or screen rate (as applicable) relates, or any central bank or other supervisory authority which is responsible for supervising the administrator of the benchmark or screen rate (as applicable); or
- b) any working group or committee sponsored by, chaired or co-chaired by or constituted at the request of (i) the central bank for the currency to which the benchmark or screen rate (as applicable) relates, (ii) any central bank or other supervisory authority which is responsible for supervising the administrator of the benchmark or screen rate (as applicable), (iii) a group of the aforementioned central

banks or other supervisory authorities or (iv) the Financial Stability Board or any part thereof.

"Successor Rate" means a successor to or replacement of the Original Reference Rate which is formally recommended by any Relevant Nominating Body. If, following a Benchmark Event, more than one successor or replacement rates are recommended by any Relevant Nominating Body, the Independent Adviser will determine, among those successor or replacement rates, the one which is the most appropriate, taking into consideration, without limitation, the particular features of the relevant Notes.

"UK Benchmarks Regulation" means Regulation (EU) 2016/2011 as it forms part of the domestic law of the United Kingdom by virtue of the European Union (Withdrawal) Act 2018.

(e) Linear Interpolation

In the relevant Final Terms, when the paragraph "Relevant Rate" specifies that the rate is determined by linear interpolation, in respect of an Interest Period, the Rate of Interest for such Interest Period shall be calculated by the Calculation Agent by linear interpolation by reference to two (2) rates based on the relevant Floating Rate Benchmark, one of which corresponding to a maturity next shorter than the length of the relevant Interest Period and the other of which corresponding to a maturity next longer than the length of the relevant Interest Period.

(C) Screen Rate Determination for Floating Rate Notes – SONIA

- (a) Where "Screen Rate Determination SONIA" is specified in the relevant Final Terms as the manner in which a Rate of Interest is to be determined, such Rate of Interest for each Interest Period will be calculated by the Calculation Agent in accordance with Condition 5(c)(iii)(C)(b) or 5(c)(iii)(C)(c) below, subject to the provisions of Condition 5(c)(iii)(C)(f) to 5(c)(iii)(C)(g) as applicable.
- (b) Where the Calculation Method is specified in the relevant Final Terms as being "Lag Method", the Rate of Interest for each Interest Period will, subject as provided below, be "Compounded Daily SONIA-Lag" plus or minus (as specified in the applicable Final Terms) the Margin.
- (c) Where the Calculation Method is specified in the relevant Final Terms as being "Observation Shift Method", the Rate of Interest for each Interest Period will, subject as provided below, be "Compounded Daily SONIA-Shift" plus or minus (as specified in the applicable Final Terms) the Margin.
- (d) For the purposes of Condition 5(c)(iii)(C)(b):

"Compounded Daily SONIA-Lag", with respect to an Interest Period, will be calculated by the Calculation Agent on the Interest Determination Date in accordance with the following formula, and the resulting percentage will be rounded, if necessary, to the fourth decimal place, with 0.00005 being rounded upwards:

$$\left[\prod_{i=1}^{d_0} \left(1 + \frac{SONIA_{i-pLED} \times n_i}{365} \right) - 1 \right] \times \frac{365}{d}$$

where:

"d" means, for any Interest Period, the number of calendar days in such Interest Period;

"d_o" means, for any Interest Period, the number of London Banking Days in such Interest Period;

"i" means, for any Interest Period, a series of whole numbers from one to do, each representing the relevant London Banking Day in chronological order from, and including, the first London Banking Day in such Interest Period to, and including, the last London Banking Day in such Interest Period;

"Interest Determination Date" means, in respect of any Interest Period, the date falling p London Banking Days prior to the Interest Payment Date for such Interest Period (or the date falling p London Banking Days prior to such earlier date, if any, on which the Notes are due and payable);

"London Banking Day" or "LBD" means any day on which commercial banks are open for general business (including dealing in foreign exchange and foreign currency deposits) in London;

"ni" for any London Banking Day "i", in the relevant Interest Period the number of calendar days from, and including, such London Banking Day "i" up to, but excluding, the following London Banking Day;

"p" for any Interest Period, means the number of London Banking Days specified in the relevant Final Terms or if no such period is specified, five (5) London Banking Days;

"Reference Period" means, in respect of an Interest Period, the period from, and including, the date falling "p" London Banking Days prior to the first day of such Interest Period (and the first Interest Period shall begin on and include the Interest Commencement Date) and ending on, but excluding, the date which is p London Banking Days prior to the Interest Payment Date for such Interest Period (or the date falling p London Banking Days prior to such earlier date, if any, on which the Notes become due and payable);

"SONIA Reference Rate" means, in respect of any London Banking Day, a reference rate equal to the daily Sterling Overnight Index Average ("SONIA") rate for such London Banking Day as provided by the administrator of SONIA to authorised distributors and as then published on the Relevant Screen Page (or if the Relevant Screen Page is unavailable, as otherwise is published by such authorised distributors) on the

London Banking Day immediately following such London Banking Day; and

"SONIAi-pLBD" means, in respect of any London Banking Day "i" falling in the relevant Interest Period, the SONIA Reference Rate for the London Banking Day falling p London Banking Days prior to the relevant London Banking Day "i".

For the avoidance of doubt, the formula for the calculation of Compounded Daily SONIA-Lag only compounds the SONIA Reference Rate in respect of any London Banking Day. The SONIA Reference Rate applied to a day that is a non-London Banking Day will be taken by applying the SONIA Reference Rate for the previous London Banking Day but without compounding.

(e) For the purposes of Condition 5(c)(iii)(C)(c):

"Compounded Daily SONIA-Shift", with respect to an Interest Period, will be calculated by the Calculation Agent on the Interest Determination Date in accordance with the following formula, and the resulting percentage will be rounded, if necessary, to the fourth decimal place, with 0.00005 being rounded upwards:

where:

$$\left[\prod_{i=1}^{d_0} \left(1 + \frac{SONIA_i \times n_i}{365} \right) - 1 \right] \times \frac{365}{d}$$

"d" means, for any Observation Period, the number of calendar days in such Observation Period;

" d_o " means, for any Observation Period, the number of London Banking Days in such Observation Period;

"i" means, for any Observation Period, a series of whole numbers from one to do, each representing the relevant London Banking Day in chronological order from, and including, the first London Banking Day in such Observation Period to, and including, the last London Banking Day in such Observation Period;

"Interest Determination Date" means, in respect of any Interest Period, the date falling p London Banking Days prior to the Interest Payment Date for such Interest Period (or the date falling p London Banking Days prior to such earlier date, if any, on which the Notes are due and payable);

"London Banking Day" or "LBD" means any day on which commercial banks are open for general business (including dealing in foreign exchange and foreign currency deposits) in London;

"ni" for any London Banking Day "i", in the relevant Observation Period the number of calendar days from, and including, such London Banking Day "i" up to, but excluding, the following London Banking Day;

"p" for any Observation Period, means the number of London Banking Days specified in the relevant Final Terms or if no such period is specified, five (5) London Banking Days;

"Observation Period" means, in respect of an Interest Period, the period from, and including, the date falling "p" London Banking Days prior to the first day of such Interest Period (and the first Interest Period shall begin on and include the Interest Commencement Date) and ending on, but excluding, the date which is p London Banking Days prior to the Interest Payment Date for such Interest Period (or the date falling p London Banking Days prior to such earlier date, if any, on which the Notes become due and payable);

"SONIA Reference Rate" means, in respect of any London Banking Day, a reference rate equal to the daily Sterling Overnight Index Average ("SONIA") rate for such London Banking Day as provided by the administrator of SONIA to authorised distributors and as then published on the Relevant Screen Page (or if the Relevant Screen Page is unavailable, as otherwise is published by such authorised distributors) on the London Banking Day immediately following such London Banking Day; and

"SONIA_i" means, in respect of any London Banking Day "i" falling in the relevant Observation Period, the SONIA Reference Rate.

For the avoidance of doubt, the formula for the calculation of Compounded Daily SONIA-Shift only compounds the SONIA Reference Rate in respect of any London Banking Day. The SONIA Reference Rate applied to a day that is a non-London Banking Day will be taken by applying the SONIA Reference Rate for the previous London Banking Day but without compounding.

- (f) If, in respect of any London Banking Day in the relevant Reference Period or Observation Period, as the case may be, the Calculation Agent determines that the SONIA Reference Rate is not available on the Relevant Screen Page or has not otherwise been published by the relevant authorised distributors, such SONIA Reference Rate shall be:
 - the sum of (a) the Bank of England's Bank Rate (the "Bank Rate") prevailing at close of business on the relevant London Banking Day and(b) the mean of the spread of the SONIA Reference Rate to the Bank Rate over the previous London Banking Days on which a SONIA Reference Rate has been published, excluding the highest spread (or, if there is more than one highest spread, one only of those highest spreads) and lowest spread (or, if there is more than one lowest spread, one only of those lowest spreads) to the Bank Rate; or
 - (ii) if the Bank Rate is not published by the Bank of England at close of business on the relevant London Banking Day, (a) the SONIA Reference Rate published on the Relevant Screen Page (or otherwise published by the relevant authorised distributors) for the first

preceding London Banking Day on which the SONIA Reference Rate was published on the Relevant Screen Page (or otherwise published by the relevant authorised distributors) or (b) if this is more recent, the latest determined rate under (i) above.

- (g) If the Rate of Interest cannot be determined in accordance with the foregoing provisions of this Condition 5(c)(iii)(C)(f), the Rate of Interest shall be (x) that determined as at the last preceding Interest Determination Date (though substituting, where a different Margin is to be applied to the relevant Interest Period from that which applied to the last preceding Interest Period, the Margin relating to the relevant Interest Period, in place of the Margin relating to that last preceding Interest Period) or (y) if there is no such preceding Interest Determination Date, the initial Rate of Interest which would have been applicable to the Notes for the first Interest Period had the Notes been in issue for a period equal in duration to the scheduled first Interest Period but ending on (and excluding) the Interest Commencement Date (but applying the Margin applicable to the first Interest Period).
- (h) If the Notes become due and payable in accordance with Condition 9 (*Events of default*), the final Interest Determination Date shall, notwithstanding the definition specified above, be deemed to be the date on which the Notes became due and payable and the Rate of Interest on the Notes shall, for so long as the Notes remain outstanding, be the rate determined on such date.
- (D) Screen Rate Determination for Floating Rate Notes SOFR
 - (a) Where "Screen Rate Determination SOFR" is specified in the relevant Final Terms as the manner in which a Rate of Interest is to be determined, the Rate of Interest for each Interest Period will, subject as provided below, be the Benchmark plus or minus (as specified in the relevant Final Terms) the Margin, all as determined by the Calculation Agent. In no event will the Rate of Interest for any Interest Period be less than the Minimum Rate of Interest.
 - (b) Daily SOFR rates will not be published in respect of any day that is not a U.S. Government Securities Business Day, such as a Saturday, Sunday or holiday. For this reason, in determining Compounded SOFR in accordance with the specific formula and other provisions set forth herein, the daily SOFR rate for any U.S. Government Securities Business Day that immediately precedes one or more days that are not U.S. Government Securities Business Days in the Observation Period will be multiplied by the number of calendar days from and including such U.S. Government Securities Business Day to, but excluding, the following U.S. Government Securities Business Day.

If the Calculation Agent (in consultation with the Issuer) determines that a Benchmark Transition Event and its related Benchmark Replacement Date have occurred in respect of Compounded SOFR (or the daily SOFR used in the calculation hereof) prior to the relevant SOFR Determination Time, then the provisions under Condition 5(c)(iii)(D)(c) below will apply.

- (c) If the Calculation Agent (in consultation with the Issuer) determines on or prior to the relevant Reference Time that a Benchmark Transition Event and its related Benchmark Replacement Date have occurred with respect to the then-current Benchmark, the Benchmark Replacement will replace the then-current Benchmark for all purposes relating to the Notes in respect of all determinations on such date and for all determinations on all subsequent dates. In connection with the implementation of a Benchmark Replacement, the Calculation Agent (in consultation with the Issuer) will have the right to make Benchmark Replacement Conforming Changes from time to time, without any requirement for the consent or approval of Noteholders.
- (d) Any determination, decision or election that may be made by the Calculation Agent (in consultation with the Issuer) pursuant to this section, including any determination with respect to a tenor, rate or adjustment or of the occurrence or non-occurrence of an event, circumstance or date and any decision to take or refrain from taking any action or any selection:
 - (i) will be conclusive and binding absent manifest error;
 - (ii) will be made by the Calculation Agent (in consultation with the Issuer); and
 - (iii) notwithstanding anything to the contrary in the documentation relating to the Notes, shall become effective without consent from the holders of the Notes or any other party.
- (e) Any Benchmark Replacement, Benchmark Replacement Adjustment and the specific terms of any Benchmark Replacement Conforming Changes, determined under this Condition 5(c)(iii)(D) will be notified promptly by the Issuer to the Fiscal Agent, the Calculation Agent, the Paying Agents and, in accordance with Condition 14 (*Notices*), the Noteholders. Such notice shall be irrevocable and shall specify the effective date on which such changes take effect.
- (f) For the purposes of this Condition 5(c)(iii)(D):

"Benchmark" means, initially, Compounded SOFR, which is a compounded average of daily SOFR, as determined for each Interest Period in accordance with the specific formula and other provisions set out in this Condition 5(c)(iii)(D); provided that if the Calculation Agent (in consultation with the Issuer) on or prior to the Reference Time that a Benchmark Transition Event and its related Benchmark Replacement Date have occurred with respect to Compounded SOFR (or the published daily SOFR used in the calculation thereof) or the then-current Benchmark, then "Benchmark" shall mean the applicable Benchmark Replacement.

"Benchmark Replacement" means the first alternative set forth in the order below that can be determined by the Calculation Agent (in consultation with the Issuer) as of the Benchmark Replacement Date:

- (i) the sum of: (i) the alternate rate of interest that has been selected or recommended by the Relevant Governmental Body as the replacement for the thencurrent Benchmark and (ii) the Benchmark Replacement Adjustment;
- (ii) the sum of: (i) the ISDA Fallback Rate and (ii) the Benchmark Replacement Adjustment; or
- (iii) the sum of: (i) the alternate rate of interest that has been selected by the Calculation Agent (in consultation with the Issuer) as the replacement for the then-current Benchmark giving due consideration to any industry-accepted rate of interest as a replacement for the then-current Benchmark for U.S. dollar-denominated floating rate notes at such time and (ii) the Benchmark Replacement Adjustment:

"Benchmark Replacement Adjustment" means the first alternative set forth in the order below that can be determined by the Issuer as of the Benchmark Replacement Date:

- (i) the spread adjustment, or method for calculating or determining such spread adjustment, (which may be a positive or negative value or zero) that has been selected or recommended by the Relevant Governmental Body for the applicable Unadjusted Benchmark Replacement;
- (ii) if the applicable Unadjusted Benchmark Replacement is equivalent to the ISDA Fallback Rate, the ISDA Fallback Adjustment; or
- (iii) the spread adjustment (which may be a positive or negative value or zero) that has been selected by the Calculation Agent (in consultation with the Issuer) giving due consideration to any industry-accepted spread adjustment, or method for calculating or determining such spread adjustment, for the replacement of the then-current Benchmark with the applicable Unadjusted Benchmark Replacement for U.S. dollar-denominated floating rate notes at such time;

"Benchmark Replacement Conforming Changes" means, with respect to any Benchmark Replacement, any technical, administrative or operational changes (including changes to the timing and frequency of determining rates and making payments of interest, rounding of amounts or tenors, and other administrative matters) that the Calculation Agent (in consultation with the Issuer) may be appropriate to reflect the adoption of such Benchmark Replacement in a manner substantially consistent with market practice (or, if the Calculation Agent decides, in consultation with the Issuer, that adoption of any portion of such market practice is not administratively feasible or if the Calculation Agent determines, in consultation with the Issuer, that no market practice for use of the Benchmark Replacement exists, in such other manner as the Calculation Agent determines, in consultation with the Issuer, is reasonably necessary);

"Benchmark Replacement Date" means the earliest to occur of the following events with respect to the then-current Benchmark (including the daily published component used in the calculation thereof):

- (i) in the case of clause (x) or (y) of the definition of "Benchmark Transition Event," the later of (a) the date of the public statement or publication of information referenced therein and (b) the date on which the administrator of the Benchmark permanently or indefinitely ceases to provide the Benchmark (or such component); or
- (ii) in the case of clause (z) of the definition of "Benchmark Transition Event," the date of the public statement or publication of information referenced therein.

For the avoidance of doubt, if the event that gives rise to the Benchmark Replacement Date occurs on the same day as, but earlier than, the Reference Time in respect of any determination, the Benchmark Replacement Date will be deemed to have occurred prior to the Reference Time for such determination;

"Benchmark Transition Event" means the occurrence of one or more of the following events with respect to the then-current Benchmark (including the daily published component used in the calculation thereof):

- (i) a public statement or publication of information by or on behalf of the administrator of the Benchmark (or such component) announcing that such administrator has ceased or will cease to provide the Benchmark (or such component), permanently or indefinitely, provided that, at the time of such statement or publication, there is no successor administrator that will continue to provide the Benchmark (or such component); or
- a public statement or publication of information by the (ii) regulatory supervisor for the administrator of the Benchmark (or such component), the central bank for the currency of the Benchmark (or such component), an insolvency official with jurisdiction over the administrator for the Benchmark (or such component), a resolution authority with jurisdiction over the administrator for the Benchmark (or such component) or a court or an entity with similar insolvency or resolution authority over the administrator for the Benchmark, which states that the administrator of the Benchmark (or such component) has ceased or will cease to provide the Benchmark (or such component) permanently or indefinitely, provided that, at the time of such statement or publication, there is no successor administrator that will continue to provide the Benchmark (or such component); or
- (iii) a public statement or publication of information by the regulatory supervisor for the administrator of the Benchmark announcing that the Benchmark is no longer representative;

"Compounded SOFR" with respect to any Interest Period, means the rate of return of a daily compound interest investment computed in accordance with the following formula (and the resulting percentage will be rounded, if necessary, to the nearest one hundred-thousandth of a percentage point, with 0.000005 being rounded upwards to 0.00001):

$$\left[\prod_{i=1}^{d_o} \left(1 + \frac{SOFR_i \times n_i}{D} \right) - 1 \right] \times \frac{D}{d}$$

"d" is the number of calendar days in the relevant Observation Period:

"D" is the number specified in the relevant Final Terms (or, if no such number is specified, 360);

"d₀" for any Observation Period, is the number of U.S. Government Securities Business Days in the relevant Observation Period:

"Interest Period" means each period from, and including, an Interest Payment Date (or, in the case of the first Interest Period, the Interest Commencement Date) to, but excluding, the next Interest Payment Date (or, in the case of the final Interest Period, the Maturity Date or, if the Issuer elects to redeem the Notes on any earlier redemption date, the relevant redemption date);

"i" is a series of whole numbers from one to d_o , each representing the relevant U.S. Government Securities Business Day in chronological order from, and including, the first U.S. Government Securities Business Day in the relevant Observation Period;

"Interest Payment Determination Dates" means the date falling "p" U.S. Government Securities Business Days before each Interest Payment Date where "p" has the value ascribed to it in the relevant Final Terms;

"ISDA Definitions" means the 2006 ISDA Definitions published by the International Swaps and Derivatives Association, Inc. or any successor thereto, as amended or supplemented from time to time, or any successor definitional booklet for interest rate derivatives published from time to time;

"ISDA Fallback Adjustment" means the spread adjustment (which may be a positive or negative value or zero) that would apply for derivatives transactions referencing the ISDA Definitions to be determined upon the occurrence of an index cessation event with respect to the Benchmark;

"ISDA Fallback Rate" means the rate that would apply for derivatives transactions referencing the ISDA Definitions to be effective upon the occurrence of an index cessation date with respect to the Benchmark for the applicable tenor excluding the applicable ISDA Fallback Adjustment;

"n_i" for any U.S. Government Securities Business Day "i" in the relevant Observation Period, is the number of calendar days from, and including, such U.S. Government Securities Business

Day "i" to, but excluding, the following U.S. Government Securities Business Day ("i+1");

"Observation Period" in respect of each Interest Period means the period from, and including, the date falling "p" U.S. Government Securities Business Days preceding the first date in such Interest Period to, but excluding, the date falling "p" U.S. Government Securities Business Days preceding the Interest Payment Date for such Interest Period;

"p" for any Observation Period, means the number of U.S. Government Securities Business Days specified in the relevant Final Terms or if no such period is specified, five (5) U.S. Government Securities Business Days;

"Reference Time" with respect to any determination of the Benchmark means (i) if the Benchmark is Compounded SOFR, the SOFR Determination Time, and (ii) if the Benchmark is not Compounded SOFR, the time determined by the Calculation Agent (in consultation with the Issuer) after giving effect to the Benchmark Replacement Conforming Changes;

"Relevant Governmental Body" means the Federal Reserve Board and/or the Federal Reserve Bank of New York, or a committee officially endorsed or convened by the Federal Reserve Board and/or the Federal Reserve Bank of New York or any successor thereto;

"SOFR" with respect to any U.S. Government Securities Business Day, means:

- (i) The Secured Overnight Financing Rate published for such U.S. Government Securities Business Day as such rate appears on the SOFR Administrator's Website at 3:00 p.m. (New York time) on the immediately following U.S. Government Securities Business Day (the "SOFR Determination Time"); or
- (ii) if the rate specified in (i) above does not so appear, the Secured Overnight Financing Rate as published in respect of the first preceding U.S. Government Securities Business Day for which the Secured Overnight Financing Rate was published on the SOFR Administrator's Website;

"SOFR Administrator" means the Federal Reserve Bank of New York (or a successor administrator of the Secured Overnight Financing Rate);

"SOFR Administrator's Website" means the website of the Federal Reserve Bank of New York, or any successor source; and

"SOFRi" for any U.S. Government Securities Business Day "i" in the relevant Observation Period, is equal to SOFR in respect of that day "i";

"Unadjusted Benchmark Replacement" means the Benchmark Replacement Adjustment; and

"U.S. Government Securities Business Day" means any day except for a Saturday, a Sunday or a day on which the Securities Industry and Financial Markets Association recommends that the fixed income departments of its members be closed for the entire day for purposes of trading in U.S. government securities.

- (E) Screen Rate Determination for Floating Rate Notes €STR
 - (a) Where "Screen Rate Determination €STR" is specified in the relevant Final Terms as the manner in which a Rate of Interest is to be determined, the Rate of Interest for each Interest Period will, subject as provided below, be Compounded Daily €STR plus or minus (as specified in the relevant Final Terms) the Margin, all as determined by the Calculation Agent on each Interest Determination Date.
 - (b) If, where any Rate of Interest is to be calculated, in respect of any TARGET Settlement Day in respect of which an applicable €STR reference rate is required to be determined, such €STR reference rate is not made available on the Relevant Screen Page and has not otherwise been published by the relevant authorised distributors, then the €STR reference rate in respect of such TARGET Settlement Day shall be the €STR reference rate for the first preceding TARGET Settlement Day in respect of which €STR reference rate was published by the European Central Bank on its website, as determined by the Calculation Agent.
 - (c) If the Rate of Interest cannot be determined in accordance with the foregoing provisions of this 5(c)(iii)(E), the Rate of Interest shall be (A) that determined as at the last preceding Interest Determination Date (though substituting, where a different Margin is to be applied to the relevant Interest Period from that which applied to the last preceding Interest Period, the Margin relating to the relevant Interest Period, in place of the Margin relating to that last preceding Interest Period) or (B) if there is no such preceding Interest Determination Date, the initial Rate of Interest which would have been applicable to the Notes for the first Interest Period had the Notes been in issue for a period equal in duration to the scheduled first Interest Period but ending on (and excluding) the Interest Commencement Date (but applying the Margin applicable to the first Interest Period).
 - (d) For the purposes of this Condition 5(c)(iii)(E):

"Compounded Daily ESTR" means, with respect to any Interest Period, the rate of return of a daily compound interest investment (with the daily euro short-term rate as reference rate for the calculation of interest) as calculated by the Calculation Agent as at the relevant Interest Determination Date in accordance with the following formula (and the resulting percentage will be rounded if necessary to the nearest fifth decimal place, with 0.000005 being rounded upwards):

$$\left[\prod_{i=1}^{d_o} \left(1 + \frac{\in STR_i \times n_i}{D}\right) - 1\right] \times \frac{D}{d}$$

where:

"d" means the number of calendar days in:

- (i) where "Lag" is specified as the Observation Method in the relevant Final Terms, the relevant Interest Period; or
- (ii) where "Observation Shift" is specified as the Observation Method in the relevant Final Terms, the relevant Observation Period;

"D" means the number specified as such in the relevant Final Terms (or, if no such number is specified, 360);

"d_o" means the number of TARGET Settlement Days in:

- (i) where "Lag" is specified as the Observation Method in the relevant Final Terms, the relevant Interest Period; or
- (ii) where "Observation Shift" is specified as the Observation Method in the relevant Final Terms, the relevant Observation Period;

the "€STR reference rate", in respect of any TARGET Settlement Day, is a reference rate equal to the daily euro short-term rate ("€STR") for such TARGET Settlement Day as provided by the European Central Bank as the administrator of €STR (or any successor administrator of such rate) on the website of the European Central Bank (or, if no longer published on its website, as otherwise published by it or provided by it to authorised distributors and as then published on the Relevant Screen Page or, if the Relevant Screen Page is unavailable, as otherwise published by such authorised distributors) on the TARGET Settlement Day immediately following such TARGET Settlement Day (in each case, at the time specified by, or determined in accordance with, the applicable methodology, policies or guidelines, of the European Central Bank or the successor administrator of such rate);

"**€STRi**" means the **€**STR reference rate for:

- (i) where "Lag" is specified as the Observation Method in the relevant Final Terms, the TARGET Settlement Day falling "p" TARGET Settlement Days prior to the relevant TARGET Settlement Day "i"; or
- (ii) where "Observation Shift" is specified as the Observation Method in the relevant Final Terms, the relevant TARGET Settlement Day "i".

"i" is a series of whole numbers from one to " d_o ", each representing the relevant TARGET Settlement Day in chronological order from, and including, the first TARGET Settlement Day in:

- (i) where "Lag" is specified as the Observation Method in the relevant Final Terms, the relevant Interest Period; or
- (ii) where "Observation Shift" is specified as the Observation Method in the relevant Final Terms, the relevant Observation Period;

to, and including, the last TARGET Settlement Day in such period;

"Interest Determination Date" means, in respect of any Interest Period, the date falling "p" TARGET Settlement Days prior to the Interest Payment Date for such Interest Period (or the date falling "p" TARGET Settlement Days prior to such earlier date, if any, on which the Notes are due and payable);

" $\mathbf{n_i}$ " for any TARGET Settlement Day "i" in the relevant Interest Period or Observation Period (as applicable), means the number of calendar days from (and including) such TARGET Settlement Day "i" up to (but excluding) the following TARGET Settlement Day;

"Observation Period" means, in respect of any Interest Period, the period from (and including) the date falling "p" TARGET Settlement Days prior to the first day of the relevant Interest Period (and the final Interest Period shall begin on and include the Interest Commencement Date) to (but excluding) the date falling "p" TARGET Settlement Days prior to (A) (in the case of an Interest Period) the Interest Payment Date for such Interest Period or (B) such earlier date, if any, on which the Notes become due and payable; and

"p" for any latest Interest Period or Observation Period (as applicable), means the number of TARGET Settlement Days specified as the "Lag Period" or the "Observation Shift Period" (as applicable) in the relevant Final Terms or, if no such period is specified, five (5) TARGET Settlement Days.

- (d) **Interest on Fixed/Floating Rate Notes**: Where a Change of Interest Basis is specified to be applicable in the relevant Final Terms, each Fixed/Floating Rate Note will bear interest on their outstanding nominal amount at a rate:
 - (i) that the Issuer may decide to convert at the switch date specified in the relevant Final Terms (the "Switch Date") from a Fixed Rate (as calculated in accordance with Condition 5(b) and specified in the relevant Final Terms) to a Floating Rate (as calculated in accordance with Condition 5(c) and specified in the relevant Final Terms) or from a Floating Rate to a Fixed Rate (the "Change of Interest Basis"). The Change of Interest Basis by the Issuer will be applicable by giving notice to the Noteholders within the period specified in the relevant Final Terms in accordance with Condition 14; or
 - (ii) which shall be automatically converted from a Fixed Rate to a Floating Rate or from a Floating Rate to a Fixed Rate at the Switch Date specified in the relevant Final Terms (the "Automatic Change of Interest Basis").

(e) Sustainability Linked Notes:

(i) General

This Condition 5(e) applies to Fixed Rate Notes, Floating Rate Notes and Fixed/Floating Rate Notes issued by the Issuer in respect of which the applicable Final Terms indicate that the Step Up Option and/or the Premium Payment, as the case may be, is applicable (the "Sustainability Linked Notes").

(ii) Interest Step Up

Where a Step Up Option is specified to be applicable in the relevant Final Terms, the Rate of Interest for such Notes will be the Initial Rate of Interest specified in the relevant Final Terms, provided that for any one or more Interest Period(s) commencing on or after the Interest Payment Date following a Step Up Event, if any, and specified as Step Up Date(s) in the relevant Final Terms, the Rate of Interest (or the applicable Margin, in the event of Floating Rate Notes) shall be increased by the Step Up Margin specified in the applicable Final Terms.

(iii) Premium Payment

Where a Premium Payment is specified to be applicable in the relevant Final Terms, the Issuer shall pay in respect of each Note of a Series an amount equal to the Premium Payment Amount on the Premium Payment Date if a Premium Trigger Event has occurred.

(iv) Reporting

Until the maturity of the Sustainability Linked Notes and including in the year in which the Target Observation Date falls, the Issuer shall publish on an annual basis within its universal registration document or as a separate document on its website by the end of May in each year:

- a report (the "Annual Reporting") containing:

- up-to-date information on the performance of the KPIs in the relevant reporting period, including the calculation methodology and baselines where relevant;
- any relevant information enabling investors to monitor the ambition of the SPTs including any update in its sustainability strategy or any recent announcements, strategic decisions on the related KPI;
- when relevant any re-assessments of KPIs and/or restatement of the SPTs and/or pro-forma adjustments of KPI scope or more generally any information relevant to the analysis of the KPIs and SPTs, including in the context of a Recalculation Event pursuant to Condition 5(e)(vi); and

- a report containing an independent and external verification of the performance of the KPIs by the External Auditor in the relevant reporting period (the "Assurance Report").

In relation to the year in which the Target Observation Date falls only and not in relation to any other reporting period, the Issuer shall also publish within its universal registration document or as a separate document on its website by the end of May following the Target Observation Date a verification assurance certificate of the External Auditor in respect of the satisfaction by the Issuer of the applicable SPT (the "Compliance Certificate").

(v) Absence of Event of Default

Any failure by the Issuer to publish the Annual Reporting or the Assurance Report in any year prior to the year in which the Target Observation Date falls, or the occurrence of a Step Up Event or a Premium Trigger Event, shall not constitute an Event of Default or a breach of the Issuer's obligations under the Notes.

(vi) Recalculation of SPT

In the event of any change, which occurs between the Issue Date of a Series of Sustainability Linked Notes and the Target Observation Date (i) in the Group's

perimeter (due to an acquisition, a merger or a demerger or other restructuring (scission or apport partiel d'actifs), an amalgamation, a consolidation or other form of reorganisation with similar effect, a spin-off, a disposal or a sale of assets); (ii) in or any amendment to any applicable laws, regulations, rules, guidelines and policies relating to the business of the Group; or (iii) to the methodology for calculation of any KPI to reflect changes in the market practice or the relevant market standards, which, individually or in aggregate, has a significant impact on the level of any SPT or any KPI baseline (each, a "Recalculation Event"), the relevant SPT may be recalculated in good faith by the Issuer to reflect such change, provided that the Independent External Verifier has independently confirmed that the proposed revision is consistent with the initial level of ambition of the relevant SPT taking into account the Recalculation Event.

By subscribing or acquiring the Notes, each Noteholder accepts and agrees not to be consulted in respect of such changes. Any such change and the resulting recalculation to any SPT will be communicated as soon as reasonably practicable by the Issuer to the Paying Agents and the Calculation Agent and notified to the relevant Noteholders (with a copy to the relevant Representative) in accordance with Condition 14.

Any other changes to the SPT or to any Step Up Margin or to any Premium Payment Amount will be made with the prior approval of the Noteholders in accordance with Condition 11.

In this Condition:

"CO2eq" means carbon dioxide equivalent.

"External Auditor" means EY & Associés or, in the event that EY & Associés resigns or is otherwise replaced, such other qualified provider of third party assurance or attestation services chosen among the audit or ESG services firms and appointed by the Issuer.

"Framework" means the Issuer's green and sustainability-linked financing framework (as may be amended and/or supplemented from time to time) which is available on the website of the Issuer (https://www.valeo.com/en/bond-investors/).

"GHG Protocol Standard" means the document entitled "The Greenhouse Gas Protocol, A Corporate Accounting and Reporting Standard (Revised Edition)" published by the World Business Council for Sustainable Development and the World Resources Institute (as amended and updated from time to time).

"Independent External Verifier" means Forvis Mazars or any other independent accounting or appraisal firm or other independent expert of internationally recognised standing appointed by the Issuer, in each case with the expertise necessary to perform the functions required to be performed by the Independent External Verifier under these Conditions, as determined by the Issuer.

"Initial Rate of Interest" means the initial Rate of Interest specified in the relevant Final Terms;

"KPI" means key performance indicator and designates the Carbon Reduction KPI and the Sustainable Procurement KPI.

"Adjusted Carbon Footprint KPI" means the key performance indicator which measures the Issuer's gross carbon footprint across all of its operational activities, its supply chain and the use of products (scopes 1, 2 & 3) minus greenhouse gas emissions ("GHG") avoided through the electrification of the Issuer's portfolio. The Issuer's gross carbon footprint includes:

- direct GHG emissions: combustion emissions from stationary sources on sites, emissions from fuel combustion by Group vehicles, direct emissions from non-energy processes;
- indirect GHG emissions: associated with energy consumption, related to the consumption of electricity, steam, compressed air and other sources;
- indirect GHG emissions linked to the purchase of materials used in industrial processes (steel, aluminum, copper, zinc, plastics, electronic components, chemicals and packaging); and
- indirect GHG emissions related to the use of products.

GHG emissions avoided through the electrification of the Issuer's portfolio includes emissions savings generated by the use of the Issuer's products.

The calculation methodology for the Issuer's gross carbon footprint takes into account GHG Protocol for Scope 1&2 and Scope 3 categories (excluding categories 2, 3, 5, 6, 7, 8, 9, 10, 12, 13, 14, 15 of GHG Protocol, which are considered as not material by the Issuer1). The Issuer's gross carbon footprint is based on the SBTi approach which evaluates the level of emissions of the Issuer's different products that will need to be downsized by -15% by 2030 compared to 2019.

In relation to the calculation methodology for the Issuer's GHG emissions avoided through the electrification of the Issuer's portfolio, with the help of Emisia (a laboratory spin off of Thessaloniki University, official reviewer for emissions calculations of the EU Commission DG Clima), the Issuer has set up a methodology to calculate the adjusted avoided emissions for the vehicles in which the Issuer contributes directly through the use of its sold technologies in place in the vehicles. This approach evaluates the level of avoided emissions during the use phase of the lifetime of the vehicles taking into account the following parameters:

- mass and electric consumption of the product;
- technical characteristic of the vehicles in which the products are integrated (differentiated evaluation by segment, product lifetime);
- market penetration of the Issuer's products within each vehicle segmentation and world market fleet evolution; and
- annual sold Issuer products taken in account for this calculation.
- "Adjusted Carbon Footprint KPI Condition" means the SPT Notice sent by the Issuer to the Principal Paying Agent and the Noteholders in accordance with Condition 14 on the SPT Notification Date that the actual CO2eq emissions related to the Adjusted Carbon Footprint KPI was equal or lower than the applicable Adjusted Carbon Footprint SPT, and therefore the relevant Adjusted Carbon Footprint SPT was met or exceeded, at the Target Observation Date.
- "Adjusted Carbon Footprint KPI Event" means the failure of the Issuer to satisfy the applicable Adjusted Carbon Footprint SPT or the Adjusted Carbon Footprint KPI Condition.
- "Adjusted Carbon Footprint SPT" means the objective(s) set out in the relevant Final Terms for the Adjusted Carbon Footprint KPI to be observed on the Target Observation Date with respect to the Issuer's gross carbon footprint minus GHG avoided through the electronification of the Issuer's portfolio, compared to the level in 2019. The Adjusted Carbon Footprint SPT will vary based on the maturity of the Sustainability Linked Notes but will be calibrated based on the 2025 or 2030 emissions reduction targets:
 - (i) Intermediary reduction target: 37.95 million CO2eq tons in 2025

For information purposes only, the Issuer intends to pursue the following objectives, on a best efforts basis, to achieve this intermediary reduction target:

- reducing CO2eq emissions (scope 1 & 2) from 1.1 million tons emitted in 2019 to 0.65 million tons in 2025
- reducing CO2eq emissions (scope 3 upstream) from 9.5 million tons emitted in 2019 to 8.9 million tons in 2025
- reducing CO2eq emissions (scope 3 downstream) from 39 million tons emitted in 2019 to 28.4 million tons in 2025 (including electrification portfolio)
- (ii) 2030 reduction target: 27.88 million CO2eq tons in 2030

For information purposes only, the Issuer intends to pursue the following objectives, on a best efforts basis, to achieve this 2030 reduction target:

- reducing CO2eq emissions (scope 1 & 2) from 1.1 million tons emitted in 2019 to 0.28 million tons in 2030
- reducing CO2eq emissions (scope 3 upstream) from 9.5 million tons emitted in 2019 to 8.04 million tons in 2030
- reducing CO2eq emissions (scope 3 downstream) from 39 million tons emitted in 2019 to 19.5 million tons in 2030 (including electrification portfolio)

"Premium Payment Amount" means, in respect of each nominal amount of Notes, an amount specified in the applicable Final Terms.

"Premium Payment Date" means the date specified as such in the relevant Final Terms.

"Premium Trigger Event" means the failure of the Issuer to publish, in relation to the year in which the Target Observation Date falls only and not in relation to any other reporting period, the Annual Reporting, the Assurance Report or the Compliance Certificate by the end of May following the Target Observation Date, or the occurrence of either (i) an Adjusted Carbon Footprint KPI Event or (ii) a Sustainable Procurement KPI Event, as specified in the relevant Final Terms.

"SBTi" means the Science Based Targets initiative.

"SPT" means the Adjusted Carbon Footprint SPT related to the Adjusted Carbon Footprint KPI or the Sustainable Procurement SPT related to the Sustainable Procurement KPI, as specified in the relevant Final Terms.

"SPT Notice" means the notice delivered by the Issuer on the SPT Notification Date to satisfy the Adjusted Carbon Footprint KPI Condition or the Sustainable Procurement KPI Condition (as applicable).

"SPT Notification Date" means a Business Day falling no later than forty-five (45) days prior to the Step Up Date or the Premium Payment Date, when the Issuer will notify and report the actual performance related to the applicable SPT.

"Step Up Date" means the date specified as such in the relevant Final Terms.

"Step Up Event" means the failure of the Issuer to publish, in relation to the year in which the Target Observation Date falls only and not in relation to any other reporting period, the Annual Reporting, the Assurance Report or the Compliance Certificate by the end of May following the Target Observation Date, or the occurrence of either (i) an Adjusted

Carbon Footprint KPI Event or (ii) a Sustainable Procurement KPI Event, as specified in the relevant Final Terms.

"Step Up Margin" means the amount specified in the relevant Final Terms as being the Step Up Margin.

"Sustainable Procurement KPI" means the key performance indicator which measures the percentage of the Issuer's production purchases performed with suppliers which have been subject to the evaluation of their sustainable development practices over the year (in proportion of the amount of purchases). The Sustainable Procurement KPI is defined in the Framework and is structured following a yearly evaluation by the Issuer of a sample of its production and non-production suppliers (representing suppliers from all regions, commodities and segments, and integrates different types of companies (large corporations, small and medium enterprises and so on) on governance, health and safety, environmental and carbon, working conditions and human rights, management of own suppliers and business ethics.

"Sustainable Procurement KPI Condition" means the SPT Notice sent by the Issuer to the Principal Paying Agent and the Noteholders in accordance with Condition 14 on the SPT Notification Date that the actual share of production purchases related to the Sustainable Procurement KPI was equal to or higher than the applicable Sustainable Procurement SPT, and therefore the relevant Sustainable Procurement SPT was met or exceeded, at the Target Observation Date.

"Sustainable Procurement KPI Event" means the failure of the Issuer to satisfy the applicable Sustainable Procurement SPT or the Sustainable Procurement KPI Condition.

"Sustainable Procurement SPT" means the objective(s) set out in the relevant Final Terms for the Sustainable Procurement KPI to be observed on the Target Observation Date with respect to the share of production purchases related to the Sustainable Procurement KPI compared to the level in 2019. The Sustainable Procurement SPT will vary based on the maturity of the Sustainability Linked Notes but will be calibrated based on the Issuer's target to increase the amount of its purchases from which suppliers are subject to the evaluation of their sustainable development practices to 82% in 2025 and to 86% in 2030.

"Target Observation Date" means the date associated with a predefined SPT specified in the relevant Final Terms, on which the Issuer's performance of each KPI will be observed and measured against each respective predefined SPT.

- (f) **Zero Coupon Notes:** Where a Note the Interest Basis of which is specified to be Zero Coupon and is repayable prior to the Maturity Date is not paid when due, the amount due and payable prior to the Maturity Date shall be, unless otherwise provided in the relevant Final Terms, the Early Redemption Amount of such Note. As from the Maturity Date, the Rate of Interest for any overdue principal of such a Note shall be a rate per annum (expressed as a percentage) equal to the Amortisation Yield (as described in Condition 6(d)(i)).
- (g) Accrual of Interest: Interest shall cease to accrue on each Note on the due date for redemption unless (i) in the case of Dematerialised Notes, on such due date or (ii) in the case of Materialised Notes, upon due presentation, payment is improperly withheld or refused, in which event interest shall continue to accrue (both before and after judgment) at the Rate of Interest in the manner provided in this Condition 5 to the Relevant Date (as defined in Condition 5(a)(vii)).
- (h) Margin, Maximum/Minimum Rates of Interest, Redemption Amounts, Rate Multipliers and Rounding:
 - (i) If any Margin or Rate Multiplier is specified in the relevant Final Terms (either (x) generally, or (y) in relation to one or more Interest Accrual Periods), an

- adjustment shall be made to all Rates of Interest, in the case of (x), or the Rates of Interest for the specified Interest Accrual Periods, in the case of (y), calculated in accordance with (c) above by adding (if a positive number) or subtracting the absolute value (if a negative number) of such Margin or multiplying by such Rate Multiplier, subject always to the next paragraph.
- (ii) If any Maximum or Minimum Rate of Interest or Redemption Amount is specified in the relevant Final Terms, then any Rate of Interest or Redemption Amount shall be subject to such maximum or minimum, as the case may be, subject always to subparagraph (iv) below.
- (iii) Unless otherwise stated in the applicable Final Terms, the Minimum Rate of Interest shall be deemed to be zero.
- (iv) For the purposes of any calculations required pursuant to these Conditions (unless otherwise specified), (x) all percentages resulting from such calculations shall be rounded, if necessary, to the nearest one hundred- thousandth of a percentage point (with halves being rounded up), (y) all figures shall be rounded to seven significant figures (with halves being rounded up) and (z) all currency amounts that fall due and payable shall be rounded to the nearest unit of such currency (with halves being rounded up), save in the case of yen, which shall be rounded down to the nearest yen. For these purposes "unit" means the lowest amount of such currency that is available as legal tender in the country(ies) of such currency.
- (v) The Minimum Rate of Interest shall in no circumstance be less than zero.
- (i) Calculations: The amount of interest payable in respect of any Note for any period shall be calculated by multiplying the product of the Rate of Interest and the outstanding nominal amount of such Note by the Day Count Fraction, unless an Interest Amount (or a formula for its calculation) is specified in respect of such period, in which case the amount of interest payable in respect of such Note for such period shall equal such Interest Amount (or be calculated in accordance with such formula). Where any Interest Period comprises two or more Interest Accrual Periods, the amount of interest payable in respect of such Interest Period shall be the sum of the amounts of interest payable in respect of each of those Interest Accrual Periods.
- (j) Determination and Publication of Rates of Interest, Interest Amounts, Final Redemption Amounts, Optional Redemption Amounts, Early Redemption Amounts and Make-whole Redemption Amounts: As soon as practicable after the relevant time on such date as the Calculation Agent or the Make-whole Calculation Agent may be required to calculate any rate or amount, obtain any quotation or make any determination or calculation, it shall determine such rate and calculate the Interest Amounts in respect of each Specified Denomination of the Notes for the relevant Interest Accrual Period, calculate the Final Redemption Amount, Optional Redemption Amount, Early Redemption Amount or Make-whole Redemption Amount, obtain such quotation or make such determination or calculation, as the case may be, and cause the Rate of Interest and the Interest Amounts for each Interest Period and the relevant Interest Payment Date and, if required to be calculated, the Final Redemption Amount, Optional Redemption Amount, Early Redemption Amount or any Make-whole Redemption Amount to be notified to the Fiscal Agent, the Issuer, each of the Paying Agents, the Noteholders, any other Calculation Agent appointed in respect of the Notes that is to make a further calculation upon receipt of such information and, if the Notes are admitted to trading on a Regulated Market and the rules of such Regulated Market so require, such Regulated Market as soon as possible after their determination but in no event later than (i) the commencement of the relevant Interest Period, if determined prior to such time, in the case of notification to such Regulated Market of a Rate of Interest and Interest Amount, or (ii) in all other cases, the fourth (4th) Business Day after such determination. Where any Interest Payment Date or Interest Period Date is subject to adjustment pursuant to Condition 5(c)(ii), the Interest Amounts and the Interest Payment Date so published may subsequently be amended (or

appropriate alternative arrangements made by way of adjustment) without notice in the event of an extension or shortening of the Interest Period. The determination of any rate or amount, the obtaining of each quotation and the making of each determination or calculation by the Calculation Agent(s) or the Make-whole Calculation Agent shall (in the absence of manifest error) be final and binding upon all parties.

- (k) Calculation Agent and Reference Banks: The Issuer shall use its best efforts to procure that there shall at all times be four Reference Banks (or such other number as may be required by the Conditions) with offices in the Relevant Financial Centre and one or more Calculation Agents and a Make-whole Calculation Agent if provision is made for them in the relevant Final Terms and for so long as any Note is outstanding (as defined above in the Agency Agreement). If any Reference Bank (acting through its relevant office) is unable or unwilling to continue to act as a Reference Bank, then the Issuer shall appoint another Reference Bank with an office in the Relevant Financial Centre to act as such in its place. Where more than one Calculation Agent is appointed in respect of the Notes, references in these Conditions to the Calculation Agent shall be construed as each Calculation Agent performing its respective duties under the Conditions. Without prejudice and subject to the provisions of Condition 5(c)(ii)(B)(d), if the Calculation Agent or the Make-whole Calculation Agent is unable or unwilling to act as such or if the Calculation Agent or Make-whole Calculation Agent fails duly to establish the Rate of Interest for an Interest Period or Interest Accrual Period or to calculate any Interest Amount, Final Redemption Amount, Early Redemption Amount, Optional Redemption Amount or Make-whole Redemption Amount, as the case may be, or to comply with any other requirement, the Issuer shall appoint a leading bank or investment banking firm engaged in the interbank market (or, if appropriate, money, swap or over-the-counter index options market) that is most closely connected with the calculation or determination to be made by the Calculation Agent (acting through its principal office or any other office actively involved in such market) or the Make-whole Calculation Agent to act as such in its place. The Calculation Agent or the Make-whole Calculation Agent may not resign its duties without a successor having been appointed as aforesaid. So long as the Notes are admitted to trading on a Regulated Market and the rules of that Regulated Market so require, notice of any change of Calculation Agent or Make- whole Calculation Agent shall be given in accordance with Condition 14.
- (1) CNY Notes: Notwithstanding the foregoing, each CNY Note which is a Fixed Rate Note bears interest from (and including) the Interest Commencement Date at the rate per annum equal to the Rate of Interest. For the purposes of calculating the amount of interest, if any Interest Payment Date would otherwise fall on a day which is not a Business Day, it shall be postponed to the next day which is a Business Day unless it would thereby fall into the next calendar month in which case it shall be brought forward to the immediately preceding Business Day. Interest will be payable in arrear on each Interest Payment Date. The Calculation Agent will, as soon as practicable after 11.00 a.m. (Hong Kong time) on each Interest Determination Date, calculate the amount of interest payable per Specified Denomination for the relevant Interest Period. The determination of the amount of interest payable per Specified Denomination by the Calculation Agent shall (in the absence of manifest error and after confirmation by the Issuer) be final and binding upon all parties. The Calculation Agent will cause the amount of interest payable per Specified Denomination for each Interest Period and the relevant Interest Payment Date to be notified to each of the Paying Agents and to be notified to Noteholders as soon as possible after their determination but in no event later than the fourth (4th) Business Day thereafter. The amount of interest payable per Specified Denomination and Interest Payment Date so published may subsequently be amended (or appropriate alternative arrangements made by way of adjustment) without notice in the event of an extension or shortening of the Interest Period. If the Notes become due and payable under Condition 9 the accrued interest per Specified Denomination shall nevertheless continue to be calculated as previously by the Calculation Agent in accordance with this provision but no publication of the amount of interest payable per Specified Denomination so calculated need be made. Unless otherwise agreed in the relevant Final Terms, interest shall be calculated in respect of any period by applying the Rate of Interest to the Specified Denomination, multiplying

such product by the actual number of calendar days in the relevant Interest Period or, as applicable, other period concerned and dividing it by three hundred and sixty-five (365), and rounding the resultant figure to the nearest Renminbi sub-unit, half of any such sub-unit being rounded upwards or otherwise in accordance with applicable market convention.

6. REDEMPTION, PURCHASE AND OPTIONS

(a) **Final Redemption**: Unless previously redeemed, purchased and cancelled as provided below, each Note shall be finally redeemed on the Maturity Date specified in the relevant Final Terms at its Final Redemption Amount (which, unless otherwise provided in the Final Terms, is its nominal amount).

(b) Redemption at the option of the Issuer

(i) Call Option and partial redemption: If a Call Option is specified in the relevant Final Terms, the Issuer may, subject to compliance by the Issuer with all relevant laws, regulations and directives and on giving not less than fifteen (15) nor more than thirty (30) calendar days' irrevocable notice in accordance with Condition 14 (Notices) to the Noteholders (or such other notice period as may be specified in the relevant Final Terms), redeem in relation to all, or, if so provided, some, of the Notes on any Optional Redemption Date or Option Exercise Date, as the case may be. Any such redemption of Notes shall be at their Optional Redemption Amount together with interest accrued to the date fixed for redemption, if any. Any such redemption or exercise must relate to Notes of a nominal amount at least equal to the Minimum Redemption Amount to be redeemed as specified in the relevant Final Terms and no greater than the Maximum Redemption Amount to be redeemed as specified in the relevant Final Terms.

All Notes in respect of which any such notice is given shall be redeemed, or the Call Option shall be exercised, on the date specified in such notice in accordance with this Condition.

In the case of a partial redemption or a partial exercise of a Call Option in respect of Materialised Notes, the notice to holders of such Materialised Notes shall also contain the number of the Definitive Materialised Bearer Notes to be redeemed or in respect of which such Call Option has been exercised, which shall have been drawn in such place and in such manner as may be fair and reasonable in the circumstances, taking account of prevailing market practices, subject to compliance with any applicable laws and Regulated Market requirements.

In the case of a partial redemption of or a partial exercise of a Call Option in respect of Dematerialised Notes, the redemption may be effected, at the option of the Issuer, by reducing the nominal amount of all such Dematerialised Notes in a Series in proportion to the aggregate nominal amount redeemed, subject to compliance with any other applicable laws and Regulated Market requirements.

So long as the Notes are admitted to trading on Euronext Paris and the rules of Euronext Paris so require, the Issuer shall, once in each year in which there has been a partial redemption of the Notes, give notice to the Noteholders in accordance with Condition 14 the aggregate nominal amount of Notes outstanding and, in the case of Materialised Notes a list of any Definitive Materialised Bearer Notes drawn for redemption but not surrendered.

In the case of a partial redemption of Notes pursuant to Condition 6(b)(ii), the relevant provisions of this Condition 6(b)(i) shall apply *mutatis mutandis*.

(ii) Make-whole Redemption by the Issuer:

Unless otherwise specified in the relevant Final Terms, the Issuer may, subject to the satisfaction of any refinancing conditions to which the redemption is subject and having given:

- (A) not less than fifteen (15) nor more than thirty (30) calendar days' notice to the Noteholders in accordance with Condition 14; and
- (B) not less than fifteen (15) calendar days before the giving of the notice referred to in paragraph (A) above, notice to the Fiscal Agent, the Calculation Agent, the Make-whole Calculation Agent and such other parties as may be specified in the Final Terms,

(which notices shall specify (i) the date fixed for redemption, (ii) any refinancing condition to which the redemption is subject and (iii) be otherwise irrevocable (each such date, a "Make-whole Redemption Date")) redeem the Notes, in whole or in part then outstanding at any time or from time to time prior to their Maturity Date at their relevant Make-whole Redemption Amount.

For the purposes of this Condition, unless the context otherwise requires, the following defined terms shall have the meanings set out below:

"Make-whole Calculation Agent" means the international credit institution or financial services institution appointed by the Issuer in relation to a Series of Notes, as specified as such in the relevant Final Terms.

"Make-whole Redemption Amount" means,

- in respect of any Notes (that are not subject to the Step Up Option) to be redeemed pursuant to Condition 6(b)(ii), an amount calculated by the Make- whole Calculation Agent and equal to the greater of (x) 100 per cent. of the nominal amount of the Notes so redeemed and (y) the sum of the then present values of the remaining scheduled payments of principal and interest on such Notes (excluding any interest accrued on the Notes to, but excluding, the relevant Make-whole Redemption Date) discounted to the relevant Make- whole Redemption Date on an annual basis at the Makewhole Redemption Rate plus a Make-whole Redemption Margin, plus in each case, any interest accrued on the Notes to, but excluding, the Makewhole Redemption Date. If the Residual Maturity Call Option is specified in the relevant Final Terms as being applicable, and if the Issuer decides to redeem the Notes pursuant to the Make-whole Redemption by the Issuer before the date specified in the relevant Final Terms as the date from which the Residual Maturity Call Option may be exercised, the Make-whole Redemption Amount will be calculated taking into account the date specified in the relevant Final Terms as the date from which the Residual Maturity Call Option may be exercised and not the Maturity Date.
- in respect of any Notes that are subject to the Step Up Option to be redeemed pursuant to Condition 6(b)(ii), an amount calculated by the Make- whole Calculation Agent and equal to the greater of
 - (x) 100 per cent. of the nominal amount of the Notes so redeemed and
 - (y) the sum of the then present values of the remaining scheduled payments of principal and interest on such Notes, calculated on the basis of:
 - (a) if the Step Up Option applies, the Initial Rate of Interest until the Interest Period immediately following the Step Up Date, at which point the Rate of Interest shall be deemed to be the Subsequent

Rate of Interest for the calculation of remaining scheduled payments of interest; and/or

(b) if Premium Payment applies, on the basis that the Premium Payment Amount shall be included in the sum of the remaining scheduled payments of principal,

discounted to the relevant Make-whole Redemption Date on an annual basis at the Make-whole Redemption Rate plus a Make-whole Redemption Margin, plus in each case, any interest accrued on the Notes to, but excluding, the Make-whole Redemption Date, in each case unless:

- (i) the Make-whole Redemption Date is prior to the Target Observation Date and the Issuer is able to demonstrate that it has already satisfied the relevant SPT by (a) publishing, in relation to the most recent completed reporting period (which shall not be in relation to the year in which the Target Observation Date falls), (x) the Annual Reporting, (y) the Assurance Report and (z) a verification assurance certificate of the External Auditor, prepared at the request of the Issuer for the purposes of the exercise of this Condition 6(b)(ii), confirming the satisfaction by the Issuer of the applicable SPT and (b) providing a notice confirming the satisfaction of the relevant SPT (prior to the Target Observation Date) to the Principal Paying Agent and the Noteholders in accordance with Condition 14; or
- (ii) the Make-whole Redemption Date is after the Target Observation Date and the Issuer is able to demonstrate that it has satisfied the relevant SPT by (a) publishing, in relation to the year in which the Target Observation Date falls only and not in relation to any other reporting period, the Annual Reporting, the Assurance Report and the Compliance Certificate and (b) providing the SPT Notice to the Principal Paying Agent and the Noteholders in accordance with Condition 14 by the end of May following the Target Observation Date,

in which case the sum of the then present values of the remaining scheduled payments of principal and interest on such Notes shall be calculated on the basis of:

- (a) if the Step up Option applies, the Initial Rate of Interest for the remaining scheduled payments of interest (including for Interest Periods following the Step Up Date); and/or
- (b) if the Premium Payment applies, on the basis that the Premium Payment should not be included in the sum of remaining scheduled payments of principal.

If the Residual Maturity Call Option is specified in the relevant Final Terms as being applicable, and if the Issuer decides to redeem the Notes pursuant to the Make-whole Redemption by the Issuer before the date specified in the relevant Final Terms as the date from which the Residual Maturity Call Option may be exercised, the Make-whole Redemption Amount will be calculated taking into account the date specified in the relevant Final Terms as the date from which the Residual Maturity Call Option may be exercised and not the Maturity Date.

"Make-whole Redemption Margin" means the margin specified as such in the relevant Final Terms.

"Make-whole Redemption Rate" means (i) the average of the four (4) quotations given by the Reference Dealers of the mid-market annual yield to maturity of the Reference Security on the fourth (4th) Business Day preceding the Make-whole Redemption Date at 11:00 a.m. (Central European Time ("CET")) ("Reference Dealer Quotation") or (ii) the Reference Screen Rate, as specified in the relevant Final Terms.

"Reference Dealers" means each of the four banks selected by the Issuer which are primary European government security dealers, and their respective successors, or market makers in pricing corporate bond issues, or such other banks or method of selection of such banks as specified in the Final Terms.

"Reference Screen Rate" means the screen rate specified as such in the relevant Final Terms.

"Reference Security" means the security specified as such in the relevant Final Terms.

If the Reference Security is no longer outstanding, a Similar Security will be chosen by the Issuer (acting in consultation with the Reference Dealers) at 11:00 a.m. (CET) on the third (3rd) Business Day preceding the Make-whole Redemption Date, quoted in writing by the Issuer to the Make-whole Calculation Agent and published in accordance with Condition 14.

"Similar Security" means a reference bond or reference bonds issued by the same issuer as the Reference Security having an actual or interpolated maturity comparable with the remaining term of the Notes that would be published, at the time of selection and in accordance with customary financial practice, in pricing new issues of corporate debt securities of comparable maturity to the remaining term of the Notes.

"Subsequent Rate of Interest" means the Rate of Interest applicable from and including the first day of the Interest Period following the Step Up Date (or the first Step Up Date if more than one).

The Make-whole Redemption Rate will be published by the Issuer in accordance with Condition 14.

The determination of any rate or amount, the obtaining of each quotation and the making of each determination or calculation by the Make-whole Calculation Agent shall (in the absence of manifest error) be final and binding upon all parties.

In the case of a partial redemption of Notes pursuant to this Condition 6(b)(ii), the relevant provisions of Condition 6(b)(i) shall apply *mutatis mutandis*.

- (iii) **Residual Maturity Call Option**: If a Residual Maturity Call Option is specified in the relevant Final Terms, the Issuer may, on giving not less than fifteen (15) nor more than thirty (30) calendar days' irrevocable notice in accordance with Condition 14 to the Noteholders redeem the Notes, in whole but not in part, at par together with interest accrued to, but excluding, the date fixed for redemption, which shall be no earlier than three (3) months before the Maturity Date.
- (iv) Clean-Up Call Option: If a Clean-Up Call Option is specified in the relevant Final Terms and if eighty (80) per cent. of the initial aggregate nominal amount of Notes of the same Series have been redeemed or purchased and, in each case, cancelled, other than by way of a redemption at the option of the Issuer in accordance with Condition 6(b)(ii), the Issuer may, on giving not less than fifteen (15) nor more than thirty (30) calendar days' irrevocable notice in accordance with Condition 14 to the Noteholders redeem on a date to be specified in such notice

the remaining Notes, in whole but not in part, at par together with interest accrued to, but excluding, the date fixed for redemption.

(c) Redemption at the option of Noteholders and exercise of Noteholders' options:

(i) If a put option (the "*Put Option*") is specified in the relevant Final Terms the Issuer shall, at the option of the Noteholder, upon the Noteholder giving not less than fifteen (15) nor more than thirty (30) calendar days' notice to the Issuer (or such other notice period as may be specified in the relevant Final Terms) redeem such Note on the Optional Redemption Date(s) at its Optional Redemption Amount together with interest accrued to the date fixed for redemption.

To exercise such option the Noteholder must deposit with the Put Agent at its specified office during usual business hours a duly completed option exercise notice (the "*Exercise Notice*") in the form obtained during usual business hours from the Put Agent or the Registration Agent, as the case may be, within the notice period. Such notice shall, in the case of Materialised Bearer Notes, have attached to it such Note (together with all unmatured Coupons and unexchanged Talons). In the case of Dematerialised Notes, the Noteholder shall transfer, or cause to be transferred, the Dematerialised Notes to be redeemed to the account of the Principal Paying Agent specified in the Exercise Notice. No option so exercised and, where applicable, no Note so deposited or transferred may be withdrawn (except as provided in the Agency Agreement) without the prior consent of the Issuer.

(ii) If at any time while any Note remains outstanding (i) a Change of Control occurs and (ii) within the Change of Control Period (A) (if at the time that the Change of Control occurs the Notes are rated with the agreement of the Issuer) a Rating Downgrade in respect of that Change of Control occurs and has not been cured prior to the expiry of the Change of Control Period, or (B) (if at such time the Notes are not rated) a Negative Rating Event in respect of that Change of Control occurs (either case, a "Put Event"), the holder of each Note will have the option (the "Change of Control Put Option") (unless, prior to the giving of the Put Event Notice referred to below, the Issuer gives notice to redeem the Notes under Condition 6) to require the Issuer to redeem or, at the Issuer's option, purchase (or procure the purchase of) that Note on the Optional Redemption Date (Put) (as defined below) at its nominal amount together with (or, where purchased, together with an amount equal to) accrued interest to but excluding the Optional Redemption Date (Put).

A "Change of Control" shall be deemed to have occurred at each time (whether or not approved by the Board of Directors of the Issuer) that any person or persons acting in concert or any person or persons acting on behalf of any such person(s), at any time directly or indirectly owns or acquires, (A) more than fifty (50) per cent. of the issued ordinary share capital of the Issuer or (B) such number of the shares in the capital of the Issuer carrying more than fifty (50) per cent. of the voting rights normally exercisable at a general meeting of the Issuer.

"Acting in concert" has the meaning given in Article L. 233-10 of the French Code de commerce.

"Change of Control Period" means the period commencing on the date of the first public announcement of the result (avis de résultat) by the Autorité des marchés financiers of the relevant Change of Control, and ending on the date which is sixty (60) calendar days after the date of such public announcement.

"Investment Grade Rating" means a rating of Baa3 by Moody's or its equivalent for the time being, or better.

A "Negative Rating Event" shall be deemed to have occurred if (i) the Issuer does not on or before the forty-fifth (45th) Business Day after the relevant Change of Control seek, and thereafter use all reasonable endeavours to obtain from a Rating Agency, a rating or (ii) if it does so seek and use such endeavours, it has not at the expiry of the Change of Control Period and as a result of such Change of Control obtained an Investment Grade Rating, provided that the Rating Agency publicly announces or publicly confirms or having been so requested by the Issuer informs the Issuer or the Paying Agent in writing that its declining to assign an Investment Grade Rating was the result, in whole or in part, of any event or circumstance comprised in or arising as a result of, or in respect of, the applicable Change of Control.

"Rating Agency" means Moody's Investors Service ("Moody's"), Inc. or any other rating agency of equivalent international standing requested from time to time by the Issuer to grant a rating, and, in each case, their respective successors or affiliates.

A "Rating Downgrade" shall be deemed to have occurred in respect of a Change of Control if within the Change of Control Period (A) the rating previously solicited by the Issuer and assigned to the Notes by any Rating Agency is (x) voluntarily withdrawn or (y) changed from an Investment Grade Rating to a non Investment Grade Rating (Ba1 by Moody's, or its equivalents for the time being, or worse) or (z) (if the solicited rating previously assigned to the Notes by any Rating Agency of the Issuer was below an Investment Grade Rating) lowered by one full rating notch (for example, from Ba1 to Ba2 by Moody's or such similar lower or equivalent rating) and (B) such rating is not within the Change of Control Period subsequently upgraded (in the case of a downgrade) or reinstated (in the case of a withdrawal) either to an Investment Grade Rating (in the case of (x) and (y)) or to its earlier credit rating or better (in the case of (z)) by such Rating Agency; provided however that (i) a Rating Downgrade otherwise arising by virtue of a particular change in rating shall be deemed not to have occurred in respect of a particular Change of Control if the Rating Agency making the change in rating to which this definition would otherwise apply does not publicly announce or publicly confirm or having been so requested by the Issuer does not inform the Issuer or the Paying Agent in writing that the reduction or withdrawal was effected because of the result, in whole or in part, of any event or circumstance comprised in or arising as a result of, or in respect of, the applicable Change of Control and (ii) any Rating Downgrade has to be confirmed in a letter sent to the Issuer and publicly disclosed.

Promptly upon the Issuer becoming aware that a Put Event has occurred, the Issuer or the Put Agent on its behalf shall give notice (a "*Put Event Notice*") to the Noteholders in accordance with Condition 14 specifying the nature of the Put Event and the circumstances giving rise to it and the procedure for exercising the Change of Control Put Option.

To exercise the Change of Control Put Option to require redemption or, as the case may be, purchase of a Note under this Condition 6(c), the holder of that Note must, on any Business Day (as defined in Condition 5(a)) in the city of the specified office of the Put Agent falling within the period (the "Put Period") of forty-five (45) calendar days after a Put Event Notice is given, (i) deliver at the specified office of the Put Agent, a duly signed and completed notice of exercise in the form (for the time being current) obtainable from the specified office of the Put Agent (a "Put Option Notice") and in which the holder shall specify a bank account to which payment is to be made under this Condition 6(c) and (ii) transfer (or procure the transfer of) the Note to the securities account of the Paying Agent specified by the Issuer in the Put Event Notice for the account of the Issuer.

The Issuer shall redeem or at the option of the Issuer purchase (or procure the purchase of) the Notes in respect of which the Change of Control Put Option has been validly exercised as provided above, and subject to the transfer of such Notes to the account of the Paying Agent for the account of the Issuer as provided above, on the date which is the fourteenth (14th) calendar day after the last calendar day of the Put Period (an "*Optional Redemption Date (Put)*"), unless previously redeemed and purchased. Payment in respect of any Note so transferred will be made on the Optional Redemption Date (Put) by transfer to the bank account specified in the Put Option Notice by the Noteholder. A Put Option Notice once given shall be irrevocable.

For the avoidance of doubt, the Issuer shall have no responsibility for any cost or loss of whatever kind (including breakage costs) which the Noteholder may incur as a result of or in connection with such Noteholder's exercise or purported exercise of, or otherwise in connection with, any Change of Control Put Option (whether as a result of any purchase or redemption arising there from or otherwise), unless such cost or loss is attributable to a breach by the Issuer and/or the Put Agent of its obligations in connection with any Change of Control Put Option.

(d) Early Redemption:

- (i) Zero Coupon Notes:
 - (A) The Early Redemption Amount payable in respect of any Zero Coupon Note, upon redemption of such Note pursuant to Condition 6(e) or Condition 6(h) or upon it becoming due and payable as provided in Condition 9 shall be the Amortised Nominal Amount (calculated as provided below) of such Note.
 - (B) Subject to the provisions of sub-paragraph (C) below, the Amortised Nominal Amount of any such Note shall be the scheduled Final Redemption Amount of such Note on the Maturity Date discounted at a rate per annum (expressed as a percentage) equal to the Amortisation Yield (which, if none is shown in the relevant Final Terms, shall be such rate as would produce an Amortised Nominal Amount equal to the issue price of the Notes if they were discounted back to their issue price on the Issue Date) compounded annually.
 - (C) If the Early Redemption Amount payable in respect of any such Note upon its redemption pursuant to Condition 6(e) or Condition 6(h) or upon it becoming due and payable as provided in Condition 9 is not paid when due, the Early Redemption Amount due and payable in respect of such Note shall be the Amortised Nominal Amount of such Note as defined in sub-paragraph (B) above, except that such sub-paragraph shall have effect as though the date on which the Amortised Nominal Amount becomes due and payable were the Relevant Date. The calculation of the Amortised Nominal Amount in accordance with this sub-paragraph shall continue to be made (both before and after judgment) until the Relevant Date, unless the Relevant Date falls on or after the Maturity Date, in which case the amount due and payable shall be the scheduled Final Redemption Amount of such Note on the Maturity Date together with any interest that may accrue in accordance with Condition 5(d).

Where such calculation is to be made for a period of less than one (1) year, it shall be made on the basis of the Day Count Fraction shown in the relevant Final Terms.

(ii) Other Notes:

The Early Redemption Amount payable in respect of any Note (other than Notes described in (i) above), upon redemption of such Note pursuant to Condition 6(e) or Condition 6(h), or upon it becoming due and payable as provided in Condition 9 shall be the Final Redemption Amount together with interest accrued to the date fixed for redemption unless otherwise specified in the relevant Final Terms.

(e) Redemption for Taxation Reasons:

- (i) If, by reason of any change in French law, or any change in the official application or interpretation of such law, becoming effective after the Issue Date, the Issuer would on the occasion of the next payment of principal or interest due in respect of the Notes, not be able to make such payment without having to pay additional amounts as specified under Condition 8(b) below, the Issuer may, at its option, on any Interest Payment Date (if this Note is a Floating Rate Note) or, at any time (if this Note is not a Floating Rate Note), subject to having given not more than sixty (60) nor less than thirty (30) calendar days' notice to the Noteholders (which notice shall be irrevocable), in accordance with Condition 14, redeem all, but not some only, of the Notes at their Early Redemption Amount provided that the due date for redemption of which notice hereunder may be given shall be no earlier than the latest practicable date on which the Issuer could make payment of principal and interest without withholding for French taxes or, if such date is past, as soon as practicable thereafter.
- (ii) If the Issuer would on the next payment of principal or interest in respect of the Notes be prevented by French law from making payment to the Noteholders or, if applicable, Couponholders of the full amounts then due and payable, notwithstanding the undertaking to pay additional amounts contained in Condition 8(b) below, then the Issuer shall forthwith give notice of such fact to the Fiscal Agent and the Issuer shall upon giving not less than seven (7) calendar days' prior notice to the Noteholders in accordance with Condition 14, redeem all, but not some only, of the Notes then outstanding at their Redemption Amount together with any interest accrued to the date set for redemption on (A) the latest practicable Interest Payment Date (if this Note is a Floating Rate Note) on which the Issuer could make payment of the full amount then due and payable in respect of the Notes, provided that if such notice would expire after such Interest Payment Date the date for redemption pursuant to such notice of Noteholders shall be the later of (i) the latest practicable date on which the Issuer could make payment of the full amount then due and payable in respect of the Notes and (ii) fourteen (14) calendar days after giving notice to the Fiscal Agent as aforesaid or (B) at any time (if this Note is not a Floating Rate Note), provided that the due date for redemption of which notice hereunder shall be given shall be the latest practicable date at which the Issuer could make payment of the full amount payable in respect of the Notes, or, if applicable, Coupons or, if that date is passed, as soon as practicable thereafter.
- (f) **Purchases**: The Issuer shall have the right at all times to purchase Notes (provided that, in the case of Materialised Notes, all unmatured Coupons and unexchanged Talons relating thereto are attached thereto or surrendered therewith) in the open market or otherwise at any price, in accordance with applicable laws and regulations. Notes so purchased by the Issuer may be held and resold in accordance with Article L. 213-0-1 of the Code, for the purpose of enhancing the liquidity of the Notes, or cancelled in accordance with Condition 6(g), provided that the Issuer will not be entitled to hold the Notes for a period exceeding one (1) year from their purchase date, in accordance with Article D.213-0-1 of the Code.
- (g) Cancellation: All Notes redeemed or purchased by or on behalf of the Issuer may, at its sole option, be held or cancelled in accordance with applicable laws and regulations. Notes

will be cancelled, in the case of Dematerialised Notes, by transfer to an account in accordance with the rules and procedures of Euroclear France and, in the case of Materialised Bearer Notes, by surrendering the Temporary Global Certificate and the Definitive Materialised Bearer Notes in question together with all unmatured Coupons and all unexchanged Talons to the Fiscal Agent and, in each case, if so transferred or surrendered, shall, together with all Notes redeemed by the Issuer, be cancelled forthwith (together with, in the case of Dematerialised Notes, all rights relating to payment of interest and other amounts relating to such Dematerialised Notes and, in the case of Materialised Notes, all unmatured Coupons and unexchanged Talons attached thereto or surrendered therewith). Any Notes so cancelled or, where applicable, transferred or surrendered for cancellation may not be re-issued or resold and the obligations of the Issuer in respect of any such Notes shall be discharged. To the extent that the Notes are listed and admitted to trading on Euronext Paris, the Issuer will inform Euronext about such cancellation.

(h) **Illegality**: If, by reason of any change in French law, or any change in the official application or interpretation of such law, becoming effective after the Issue Date, it would become unlawful for the Issuer to perform or comply with one or more of its obligations under the Notes, the Issuer will, subject to having given not more than sixty (60) nor less than thirty (30) calendar days' notice to the Noteholders (which notice shall be irrevocable), in accordance with Condition 14, redeem all, but not some only, of the Notes at their Early Redemption Amount together with any interest accrued to the date set for redemption.

7. PAYMENTS AND TALONS

- (a) **Dematerialised Notes**: Payments of principal and interest in respect of Dematerialised Notes shall (in the case of Dematerialised Notes in bearer dematerialised form or administered registered form) be made by transfer to the account denominated in the relevant currency of the relevant Account Holders for the benefit of the Noteholders and, (in the case of Dematerialised Notes in fully registered form), to an account denominated in the relevant currency with a Bank designated by the Noteholders. All payments validly made to such Account Holders will be an effective discharge of the Issuer in respect of such payments.
- (b) Materialised Bearer Notes: Payments of principal and interest in respect of Materialised Bearer Notes shall, subject as mentioned below, be made against presentation and surrender during usual business hours of the relevant Materialised Bearer Notes (in the case of all payments of principal and, in the case of interest, as specified in Condition 7(f)(v)) or Coupons (in the case of interest, save as specified in Condition 7(f)(v)), as the case may be, at the specified office of any Paying Agent outside the United States by a cheque payable in the relevant currency drawn on, or, at the option of the Noteholder, by transfer to an account denominated in such currency with, a Bank. "Bank" means a bank in the principal financial centre for such currency or, in the case of Euro, in a city in which banks have access to T2.
- (c) Payments in the United States: Notwithstanding the foregoing, if any Materialised Bearer Notes are denominated in U.S. Dollars, payments in respect thereof may be made at the specified office of any Paying Agent in New York City in the same manner as aforesaid if (i) the Issuer shall have appointed Paying Agents with specified offices outside the United States with the reasonable expectation that such Paying Agents would be able to make payment of the amounts on the Notes in the manner provided above when due, (ii) payment in full of such amounts at all such offices is illegal or effectively precluded by exchange controls or other similar restrictions on payment or receipt of such amounts and (iii) such payment is then permitted by United States law, without involving, in the opinion of the Issuer, any adverse tax consequence to the Issuer.
- (d) **Payments Subject to Fiscal Laws**: All payments are subject in all cases to any applicable fiscal or other laws, regulations and directives in the place of payment but without

prejudice to the provisions of Condition 8. No commission or expenses shall be charged to the Noteholders or Couponholders in respect of such payments.

(e) Appointment of Agents: The Fiscal Agent, the Paying Agents, the Calculation Agent, the Redenomination Agent, the Consolidation Agent and the Put Agent initially appointed by the Issuer and their respective specified offices are listed at the end of this Base Prospectus. The Fiscal Agent, the Paying Agents, the Redenomination Agent, the Consolidation Agent, the Put Agent and the Registration Agent act solely as agents of the Issuer and the Calculation Agent(s) act(s) as independent expert(s) and, in each such case, do not assume any obligation or relationship of agency for any Noteholder or Couponholder. The Issuer reserves the right at any time to vary or terminate the appointment of the Fiscal Agent, any other Paying Agent, the Redenomination Agent, the Consolidation Agent, the Put Agent and the Registration Agent or the Calculation Agent(s) and to appoint additional or other Paying Agents, provided that the Issuer shall at all times maintain (i) a Fiscal Agent, (ii) one or more Calculation Agent(s) where the Conditions so require, (iii) a Redenomination Agent and a Consolidation Agent where the Conditions so require, (iv) Paying Agents having specified offices in at least two major European cities (including Paris so long as the Notes are admitted to trading on Euronext Paris and in such other city so long as the Notes are admitted to trading on any other Regulated Market), (v) in the case of Dematerialised Notes in fully registered form, a Registration Agent, and (vii) such other agents as may be required by the rules of, or applicable to, any other Regulated Market on which the Notes may be admitted to trading.

In addition, the Issuer shall forthwith appoint a Paying Agent in New York City in respect of any Materialised Bearer Notes denominated in U.S. Dollars in the circumstances described in paragraph (c) above.

On a redenomination of the Notes of any Series pursuant to Condition 1(d) with a view to consolidating such Notes with one or more other Series of Notes, in accordance with Condition 13, the Issuer shall ensure that the same entity shall be appointed as both Redenomination Agent and Consolidation Agent in respect of both such Notes and such other Series of Notes to be so consolidated with such Notes.

Notice of any such change or any change of any specified office shall promptly be given to the Noteholders in accordance with Condition 14.

(f) Unmatured Coupons and unexchanged Talons:

- (i) Unless Materialised Bearer Notes provide that the relative Coupons are to become void upon the due date for redemption of those Notes, Materialised Bearer Notes should be surrendered for payment together with all unmatured Coupons (if any) relating thereto, failing which an amount equal to the face value of each missing unmatured Coupon (or, in the case of payment not being made in full, that proportion of the amount of such missing unmatured Coupon that the sum of principal so paid bears to the total principal due) shall be deducted from the Final Redemption Amount, Amortised Nominal Amount, Early Redemption Amount or Optional Redemption Amount, as the case may be, due for payment. Any amount so deducted shall be paid in the manner mentioned above against surrender of such missing Coupon within a period of ten (10) years from the Relevant Date for the payment of such principal (whether or not such Coupon has become void pursuant to Condition 10).
- (ii) If Materialised Bearer Notes so provide, upon the due date for redemption of any such Materialised Bearer Note, unmatured Coupons relating to such Note (whether or not attached) shall become void and no payment shall be made in respect of them.

- (iii) Upon the due date for redemption of any Materialised Bearer Note, any unexchanged Talon relating to such Note (whether or not attached) shall become void and no Coupon shall be delivered in respect of such Talon.
- (iv) Where any Materialised Bearer Note that provides that the relative unmatured Coupons are to become void upon the due date for redemption of those Notes is presented for redemption without all unmatured Coupons, and where any Bearer Note is presented for redemption without any unexchanged Talon relating to it, redemption shall be made only against the provision of such indemnity as the Issuer may require.
- (v) If the due date for redemption of any Materialised Bearer Note is not a due date for payment of interest, interest accrued from the preceding due date for payment of interest or the Interest Commencement Date, as the case may be, shall only be payable against presentation (and surrender if appropriate) of the relevant Definitive Materialised Bearer Note. Interest accrued on a Materialised Bearer Note that only bears interest after its Maturity Date shall be payable on redemption of such Note against presentation of the relevant Materialised Bearer Notes.
- (g) **Talons**: On or after the Interest Payment Date for the final Coupon forming part of a Coupon sheet issued in respect of any Materialised Bearer Note, the Talon forming part of such Coupon sheet may be surrendered at the specified office of the Fiscal Agent in exchange for a further Coupon sheet (and if necessary another Talon for a further Coupon sheet) (but excluding any Coupons that may have become void pursuant to Condition 10).
- (h) Non-Business Days: If any date for payment in respect of any Note or Coupon is not a business day, the Noteholder shall not be entitled to payment until the next following business day nor to any interest or other sum in respect of such postponed payment. In this paragraph, "business day" means a day (other than a Saturday or a Sunday) (A) (i) in the case of Dematerialised Notes, on which Euroclear France is open for business or (ii) in the case of Materialised Notes, on which banks and foreign exchange markets are open for business in the relevant place of presentation, (B) on which banks and foreign exchange markets are open for business in such jurisdictions as shall be specified as "Financial Centres" in the relevant Final Terms and (C) (i) (in the case of a payment in a currency other than Euro), where payment is to be made by transfer to an account maintained with a bank in the relevant currency, on which foreign exchange transactions may be carried on in the relevant currency in the principal financial centre of the country of such currency or (ii) (in the case of a payment in Euro), which is a TARGET Settlement Day.
- (i) Alternative Payment in U.S. Dollar: Notwithstanding any other provision in these Conditions, if an Inconvertibility, Non-transferability or Illiquidity (each as defined below) occurs, or if Renminbi is otherwise not available to the Issuer as a result of circumstances beyond its control and such unavailability has been confirmed by a Renminbi Dealer, following which the Issuer is unable to satisfy payments of principal or interest (in whole or in part) in respect of Renminbi Notes, the Issuer on giving not less than five (5) nor more than thirty (30) calendar days irrevocable notice in accordance with Condition 14 "Notices" to the Noteholders prior to the due date for payment, shall be entitled to satisfy its obligations in respect of any such payment by making any such payment (in whole or in part) in U.S. dollars on the due date at the U.S. dollar Equivalent of any such Renminbi denominated amount.

In such event, payments of the U.S. Dollar Equivalent of the relevant principal or interest in respect of the Notes shall be made by transfer to the U.S. dollar account of the relevant Account Holders for the benefit of the Noteholders. For the avoidance of doubt, any payment made under such circumstances of the U.S. Dollar Equivalent will constitute valid payment, and will not constitute a default in respect of the Notes within the meaning of Condition 9.

All notifications, opinions, determinations, certificates, calculations, quotations and decisions given, expressed, made or obtained for the purposes of this Condition 7(i) by the Renminbi Rate Calculation Agent, will (in the absence of manifest error) be binding on the Issuer, the Paying Agents and all Noteholders.

These provisions may be amended or supplemented in the relevant Final Terms. For the purpose of this Condition 7(i):

"Governmental Authority" means any de facto or de jure government (or any agency or instrumentality thereof), court, tribunal, administrative or other governmental authority or any other entity (private or public) charged with the regulation of the financial markets (including the central bank) of Hong Kong.

"Illiquidity" means that the general Renminbi exchange market in Hong Kong becomes illiquid, other than as a result of an event of Inconvertibility or Non- transferability, as determined by the Issuer in good faith and in a commercially reasonable manner following consultation with two Renminbi Dealers.

"Inconvertibility" means the occurrence of any event that makes it impossible for the Issuer to convert any amount due in respect of the Renminbi Notes in the general Renminbi exchange market in Hong Kong, other than where such impossibility is due solely to the failure of the Issuer to comply with any law, rule or regulation enacted by any Governmental Authority (unless such law, rule or regulation is enacted on or after the issue date of such Renminbi Notes and it is impossible for the Issuer, due to an event beyond its control, to comply with such law, rule or regulation).

"Non-transferability" means the occurrence of any event that makes it impossible for the Issuer to deliver Renminbi between accounts inside Hong Kong or from an account inside Hong Kong to an account outside Hong Kong, other than where such impossibility is due solely to the failure of the Issuer to comply with any law, rule or regulation enacted by any Governmental Authority (unless such law, rule or regulation is enacted on or after the issue date of the relevant Renminbi Notes and it is impossible for the Issuer, due to an event beyond its control, to comply with such law, rule or regulation).

"Renminbi Dealer" means an independent foreign exchange dealer of international repute active in the Renminbi exchange market in Hong Kong reasonably selected by the Issuer.

"Renminbi Rate Calculation Agent" means the agent appointed from time to time by the Issuer for the determination of the Renminbi Spot Rate or identified as such in the relevant Final Terms.

"Renminbi Rate Calculation Business Days" means a day (other than a Saturday or Sunday) on which commercial banks are open for general business (including dealings in foreign exchange) in Hong Kong and in New York City.

"Renminbi Rate Calculation Date" means the day which is two RMB Rate Calculation Business Days before the due date for payment of the relevant Renminbi amount under the Conditions.

"Renminbi Spot Rate" for a Renminbi Rate Calculation Date means the spot U.S. dollar/CNY exchange rate for the purchase of U.S. dollars with CNY in the over-the-counter Renminbi exchange market in Hong Kong for settlement on the relevant due date for payment, as determined by the Renminbi Rate Calculation Agent at or around 11.00 a.m. (Hong Kong time) on such Renminbi Rate Calculation Date, on a deliverable basis by reference to Reuters Screen Page TRADCNY3, or if no such rate is available, on a non-deliverable basis by reference to Reuters Screen Page TRADNDF. If neither rate is available, the Renminbi Rate Calculation Agent will determine the Renminbi Spot Rate at or around 11:00 a.m. (Hong Kong time) on the Renminbi Rate Calculation Date as the most recently available U.S. dollar/CNY official fixing rate for settlement on the relevant due date for payment reported by The State Administration of Foreign Exchange of the

PRC, which is reported on the Reuters Screen Page CNY=SAEC. Reference to a page on the Reuters Screen means the display page so designated on the Reuters Monitor Money Rates Service (or any successor service) or such other page as may replace that page for the purpose of displaying a comparable currency exchange rate.

"U.S. Dollar Equivalent" means the relevant Renminbi amount converted into US dollars using the Renminbi Spot Rate for the relevant Renminbi Rate Calculation Date, as calculated by the Renminbi Rate Calculation Agent.

8. TAXATION

- (a) Tax exemption for Notes: All payments of principal, interest and other revenues by or on behalf of the Issuer in respect of the Notes shall be made free and clear of, and without withholding or deduction for, any taxes, duties, assessments or governmental charges of whatever nature imposed, levied, collected, withheld or assessed by or within France, any authority therein or thereof having power to tax or any other governmental authority, unless such withholding or deduction is required by law.
- (b) Additional Amounts: If French law should require that payments of principal or interest in respect of any Note or Coupon be subject to deduction or withholding in respect of any present or future taxes duties, assessments or governmental charges whatsoever, the Issuer will, to the fullest extent then permitted by law, pay such additional amounts as shall result in receipt by the Noteholders or, if applicable, the Couponholders, as the case may be, of such amounts as would have been received by them had no such withholding or deduction been required, except that no such additional amounts shall be payable with respect to any Note or Coupon, as the case may be:
 - (i) Other connection: to, or to a third party on behalf of, a Noteholder or a Couponholder, as the case may be, who is liable to such taxes, duties, assessments or governmental charges in respect of such Note or Coupon by reason of his having some connection with France other than the mere holding of the Note or Coupon; or
 - (ii) Presentation more than thirty (30) calendar days after the Relevant Date: in the case of Materialised Notes, more than thirty (30) calendar days after the Relevant Date except to the extent that the Noteholder or the Couponholder, as the case may be, would have been entitled to such additional amounts on presenting it for payment on or before the thirtieth (30th) such calendar day of such time period; or
 - (iii) **Payment by another paying agent**: in the case of Materialised Notes, presented for payment by or on behalf of a holder who would be able to avoid such withholding or deduction by presenting the relevant Note or Coupon to another paying agent in a Member State of the European Union; or
 - (iv) Excess interest paid to a shareholder of the Issuer: to, or to a third party on behalf of, a Noteholder or, if applicable or a Couponholder, as the case may be, who is liable to such taxes in respect of such Notes or Coupon solely by reason of (x) his being a shareholder of the Issuer and (y) the payment of interest being made to him at a rate in excess of the limit set forth in the French *Code Général des Impôts* (Article 39, 1, 3°) for the deduction of interest paid to shareholders of a borrowing company; or
 - (v) Non-cooperative State or territory: when such withholding or deduction is required to be made by reason of that interest or Coupon being (x) paid to an account held in, or (y) paid or accrued to a person established or domiciled in, a non-cooperative State or territory (*Etat ou territoire non coopératif*) as defined in Article 238-0 A of the French *Code Général des Impôts* (other than those mentioned in Article 238-0 A 2 bis 2° of the same code) for the purposes of Articles 125 A III, and 119 bis 2 of the same code, and as defined in Article 238-

0 A of the French Code Général des Impôts for the purposes of article 238 A of the same code.

As used in these Conditions, "Relevant Date" in respect of any Note or Coupon means the date on which payment in respect of it first becomes due or (if any amount of the money payable is improperly withheld or refused) the date on which payment in full of the amount outstanding is made or, in the case of Materialised Notes (if earlier) the date seven (7) calendar days after that on which notice is duly given to the Noteholders that, upon further presentation of the Note or Coupon being made in accordance with the Conditions, such payment will be made, provided that payment is in fact made upon such presentation. References in these Conditions to (i) "principal" shall be deemed to include any premium payable in respect of the Notes, all Final Redemption Amounts, Early Redemption Amounts, Optional Redemption Amounts, Amortised Nominal Amounts and all other amounts in the nature of principal payable pursuant to Condition 6 or any amendment or addition to it, (ii) "interest" shall be deemed to include all Interest Amounts and all other amounts payable pursuant to Condition 5 or any amendment or addition to it and (iii) "principal" and/or "interest" shall be deemed to include any additional amounts that may be payable under this Condition.

(c) FATCA Withholding: The Issuer shall be permitted to withhold or deduct any amounts required by the rules of U.S. Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended, Sections 1471 through 1474, pursuant to any inter-governmental agreement, or implementing legislation adopted by another jurisdiction in connection with those provisions, or pursuant to any agreement with the U.S. Internal Revenue Service ("FATCA withholding") as a result of the Noteholder, beneficial owner or an intermediary (that is not an agent of the Issuer) not being entitled to receive payments free of FATCA withholding. The Issuer shall not be liable for, or otherwise obliged to pay, any FATCA withholding deducted or withheld by the Issuer, any paying agent or any other party.

9. **EVENTS OF DEFAULT**

The Representative (as defined in Condition 11), upon request of any Noteholder, unless such request is manifestly ill founded, or, if and so long as the Notes are held by a sole Noteholder and unless a Representative has been appointed, such Noteholder, may, upon written notice to the Issuer and the Fiscal Agent after the application of the relevant grace period, if any, and before all defaults shall have been remedied, cause all the Notes held by such Noteholder to become immediately due and payable, whereupon the Notes shall become immediately due and payable at their nominal amount, plus accrued interest, without any other formality, if any of the following events (each an "Event of Default") shall occur:

- (a) the Issuer is in default for a period of more than fifteen (15) calendar days for the payment of principal or interest on any Note (including the payment of any additional amounts in accordance with Condition 8), when the same shall become due and payable; or
- (b) the Issuer is in default in the performance of, or compliance with, any of its other obligations under the Notes and such default has not been cured within thirty (30) calendar days after the receipt by the Fiscal Agent of the written notice of such default by the Representative; or
- (c) any other present or future indebtedness of the Issuer for money borrowed or raised in excess of Euro 200,000,000 (or its equivalent in any other currency), whether individually or in the aggregate, becomes due and payable prior to its stated maturity as a result of a default thereunder, or any such indebtedness is not paid when due or, as the case may be, within any originally applicable grace period therefor or any steps are taken to enforce any security in respect of any such indebtedness or any guarantee or indemnity in excess of such aforesaid amount given by the Issuer for, or in respect of, any such indebtedness of others are not honoured when due and called upon (subject to any originally applicable

grace period) unless the Issuer challenges in good faith the default under such indebtedness or the validity of the enforcement of any such guarantee or indemnity before a court of competent jurisdiction, in which case none of the foregoing events will constitute an Event of Default until a final judgement has been rendered by such relevant court; or

- (d) the Issuer sells or otherwise disposes of all or substantially all of its assets or ceases to carry on the whole or substantially the whole of its business or an order is made or an effective resolution passed for its winding-up, dissolution or liquidation, unless such disposal, winding up, dissolution, liquidation or cessation is made or takes place in connection with a merger, consolidation, reconstruction, amalgamation or other form of combination with or to any other corporation and the liabilities under the Notes are transferred to and assumed by such other corporation and provided that the long-term credit rating assigned by any Rating Agency to such other corporation immediately following such merger, consolidation, reconstruction, amalgamation or other form of combination is not less than the long-term credit rating assigned by such agency to the Issuer immediately prior to such merger, consolidation, reconstruction, amalgamation or other form of combination; or
- (e) (A) the Issuer (i) makes any proposal for a general moratorium in relation to its debts or (ii) a corporate protection procedure (procédure de sauvegarde ou procédure de sauvegarde accélérée) or (B) a judgment is issued for (i) the judicial reorganization (redressement judiciaire) of the Issuer or (ii) the judicial liquidation (liquidation judiciaire) of the Issuer or for a transfer of the whole of the business (cession totale de l'entreprise) of the Issuer in the context of insolvency or bankruptcy proceedings or the Issuer is subject to any other insolvency or bankruptcy proceedings.

10. PRESCRIPTION

Claims against the Issuer for payment in respect of the Notes and Coupons (which for this purpose shall not include Talons) shall be prescribed and become void unless made within ten (10) years (in the case of principal) or five (5) years (in the case of interest) from the appropriate Relevant Date in respect of them.

11. REPRESENTATION OF NOTEHOLDERS

The Noteholders will, in respect of all Tranches of the relevant Series, be grouped automatically for the defence of their common interests in a masse (the "Masse") which will be governed by the provisions of articles L.228-46 *et seq.* of the French *Code de commerce* as amended by this Condition 11.

The Masse alone, as an entity and to the exclusion of each individual Noteholder, shall exercise the common rights, actions and benefits which may accrue with respect to the Notes. This shall not prejudice the rights that Noteholders may exercise individually in accordance with, and subject to any other provisions of the Terms and Conditions.

(a) Legal Personality

The Masse will be a separate legal entity and will act in part through a representative (the "Representative") and in part through collective decisions of the Noteholders (the "Collective Decisions").

(b) Representative

The names and addresses of the Representative and its alternate (if any), will be set out in the relevant Final Terms. The Representative appointed in respect of the first Tranche of any Series of Notes will be the Representative of the single Masse of all subsequent Tranches in such Series.

The Representative will be entitled to such remuneration in connection with its functions or duties as set out in the relevant Final Terms. No additional remuneration is payable in relation to any subsequent Tranche of any given Series.

In the event of death, liquidation, retirement, resignation or revocation of appointment of the Representative, such Representative will be replaced by its alternate, if any. Another Representative may be appointed. Collective Decisions in relation to the appointment or replacement of the Representative shall be published in accordance with paragraph 11(j).

All interested parties will at all times have the right to obtain the names and addresses of the Representative and the alternate Representative (if any) at the head office of the Issuer.

(c) Powers of Representative

The Representative shall (in the absence of any decision to the contrary of the General Meeting) have the power to take all acts of management necessary in order to defend the common interests of the Noteholders.

All legal proceedings against the Noteholders or initiated by them must be brought by or against the Representative.

(d) Collective Decisions

Collective Decisions are adopted either (i) in a general meeting (the "General Meetings"), or (ii) by unanimous consent of the Noteholders following a written consultation (the "Written Unanimous Decisions"), or (iii) by the consent of one or more Noteholders holding together at least 70 per cent. of the nominal amount of the Notes outstanding, following a written consultation (the "Written Majority Decisions", and together with the Written Unanimous Decisions, the "Written Decisions").

In accordance with Article R. 228-71 of the French *Code de commerce*, the rights of each Noteholder to participate in Collective Decisions will be evidenced by the entries in the books of the relevant Account Holder or the Issuer or the Registration Agent (as the case may be) of the name of such Noteholder as of 0:00 Paris time, on the second (2nd) business day in Paris preceding the date set for the Collective Decision.

Collective Decisions must be published in accordance with paragraph 11(j).

The Issuer shall hold a register of the Collective Decisions and shall make it available, upon request, to any subsequent holder of any of the Notes of such Series.

(e) General Meeting

A General Meeting may be called at any time, either by the Issuer or by the Representative. One or more Noteholders, holding together at least one-thirtieth (1/30) of the nominal amount of Notes outstanding, may address to the Issuer and the Representative a demand for a General Meeting to be called. If such General Meeting has not been called within two (2) months after such demand, the Noteholders may commission one of them to petition the competent court to appoint an agent (*mandataire*) who will call the General Meeting.

General Meetings may deliberate validly on first convocation only if the Noteholders present or represented hold at least one-fifth (1/5) of the nominal amount of the Notes then outstanding. On second convocation, no quorum shall be required. The decisions of the General Meeting shall be taken by a two-third (2/3) majority of votes held by the Noteholders attending such General Meeting or represented thereat.

Notice of the date, time, place and agenda of any General Meeting will be published in accordance with paragraph 11(j) not less than fifteen (15) calendar days prior to the date

of the General Meeting on first convocation and not less than five (5) calendar days prior to the date of the General Meeting on second convocation.

Each Noteholder has the right to participate in a General Meeting in person, by proxy or by correspondence.

Each Noteholder or representative thereof will have the right to consult or make a copy of the text of the resolutions which will be proposed and of the reports, if any, which will be presented at the General Meeting, all of which will be available for inspection by the relevant Noteholders at the registered office of the Issuer and at any other place specified in the notice of the General Meeting, during the fifteen (15) calendar day period preceding the holding of the General Meeting on first convocation, or during the five (5) calendar day period preceding the holding of the General Meeting on second convocation.

The General Meeting is chaired by the Representative. In the event of the absence of a representative at the start of a General Meeting and if no Noteholder is present or represented at the General Meeting, the Issuer may, notwithstanding the provisions of Article L.228-64 of the French *Code de commerce*, designate a provisional chairman until a new Representative has been appointed.

(f) Written Decisions

At the initiative of the Issuer, Collective Decisions may also be taken by Written Unanimous Decisions or Written Majority Decisions.

(i) Written Unanimous Decision

Written Unanimous Decisions shall be signed by or on behalf of all the Noteholders without having to comply with formalities and time limits referred to in paragraph 11(e). Approval of a Written Unanimous Decision may also be given by way of electronic communication allowing the identification of Noteholders in accordance with Article L.228-46-1 of the French *Code de commerce* ("Electronic Consent"). Any such decision shall, for all purposes, have the same effect as a resolution passed at a General Meeting of such Noteholders. Such Written Unanimous Decision may be contained in one document, or in several documents in like form each signed by or on behalf of one or more of such Noteholders, and shall be published in accordance with paragraph 11(j).

(ii) Written Majority Decision

Notices seeking the approval of a Written Majority Decision, which shall include the text of the proposed resolutions together with any report thereon, will be published as provided under paragraph 11(j) no less than fifteen (15) calendar days prior to the date fixed for the passing of such Written Majority Decision (the "Written Majority Decision Date"). Notices seeking the approval of a Written Majority Decision will contain the conditions of form and time limits to be complied with by the Noteholders who wish to express their approval or rejection of such proposed Written Majority Decision. Noteholders expressing their approval or rejection before the Written Majority Decision Date will undertake not to dispose of their Notes until after the Written Majority Decision Date.

Written Majority Decisions shall be signed by one or more Noteholders holding together at least 70 per cent. of the nominal amount of the Notes outstanding. Approval of a Written Majority Decision may also be given by Electronic Consent. Any Written Majority Decision shall, for all purposes, have the same effect as a resolution passed at a General Meeting of the Noteholders. Such Written Majority Decisions may be contained in one document, or in several documents in like form each signed by or on one behalf of one or more of the Noteholders, and shall be published in accordance with paragraph 11(j).

(g) Expenses

The Issuer shall pay all expenses relating to the operations of the Masse, including all expenses relating to the calling and holding of Collective Decisions and, more generally, all administrative expenses resolved upon by Collective Decisions, it being expressly stipulated that no expenses may be imputed against interest payable under the Notes.

(h) Single Masse

The holders of Notes of the same Series, and the holders of Notes of any other Series which have been assimilated with the Notes of such first mentioned Series in accordance with Condition 13, shall, for the defence of their respective common interests, be grouped in a single Masse.

(i) Sole Noteholder

If and for so long as the Notes of any Series are held by a sole Noteholder and unless a Representative has been appointed in relation to such Series, such Noteholder shall exercise all powers and rights and perform all the obligations entrusted to the Masse by the provisions of the French *Code de commerce*. The Issuer shall hold a register of the decisions taken by the sole Noteholder in this capacity and shall make it available, upon request, to any subsequent holder of any of the Notes of such Series.

(j) Notices for the purpose of this Condition 11

Any notice to be given to Noteholders in accordance with this Condition 11 shall be published on the website of Valeo (www.valeo.com) and,

- (i) in the case of the holders of Notes in registered form (*au nominatif*), mailed to them at their respective addresses, in which case they shall be deemed to have been given on the fourth (4th) weekday (being a day other than a Saturday or a Sunday) after the mailing; or
- (ii) in the case of the holders of Notes in bearer form (*au porteur*), given by delivery of the relevant notice to Euroclear France, Euroclear, Clearstream and any other clearing system through which the Notes are for the time being cleared.

Any decision to proceed with a modification of the purpose or of the form of the Issuer or with an issuance of secured bonds (*obligations assorties d'une sûreté réelle*), notwithstanding the failure to obtain Noteholders' approval, as contemplated by Article L.228-72 of the French *Code de commerce*, will be notified to Noteholders in accordance with this paragraph 11(j). Any Noteholder will then have the right to request redemption of its Notes at par within three (3) months of the date of notification, in which case the Issuer shall redeem such Noteholder within thirty (30) days of the Noteholder's request for redemption.

If a merger or a spin-off is contemplated by the Issuer, the Issuer will have the option to submit the proposal for approval by a Collective Decision of the Masse or to offer redemption at par to Noteholders pursuant to Article L. 228-73 of the French *Code de commerce*. Such redemption offer shall be notified to Noteholders in accordance with this paragraph 11(j). If the Masse does not approve the merger or spin-off proposal, any decision to proceed with the merger or spin-off will be notified to Noteholders in accordance with this paragraph 11(j).

In this Condition 11, the expression "outstanding" does not include the Notes subscribed or purchased by the Issuer in accordance with Article L.213-0-1 of the French *Code monétaire et financier* which are held by the Issuer and not cancelled.

12. REPLACEMENT OF DEFINITIVE NOTES, COUPONS AND TALONS

If, in the case of any Materialised Bearer Notes, a Definitive Materialised Bearer Note, Coupon or Talon is lost, stolen, mutilated, defaced or destroyed, it may be replaced, subject to applicable laws, regulations and Regulated Market regulations on which the Notes are listed, at the specified office of the Fiscal Agent or such other Paying Agent as may from time to time be designated by the Issuer for the purpose and notice of whose designation is given to Noteholders, in each case on payment by the claimant of the fees and costs incurred in connection therewith and on such terms as to evidence, security and indemnity (which may

provide, *inter alia*, that if the allegedly lost, stolen or destroyed Definitive Materialised Bearer Note, Coupon or Talon is subsequently presented for payment or, as the case may be, for exchange for further Coupons, there shall be paid to the Issuer on demand the amount payable by the Issuer in respect of such Definitive Materialised Bearer Notes, Coupons or further Coupons) and otherwise as the Issuer may require. Mutilated or defaced Materialised Bearer Notes, Coupons or Talons must be surrendered before replacements will be issued.

13. FURTHER ISSUES AND CONSOLIDATION

- (a) **Further Issues:** The Issuer may from time to time without the consent of the Noteholders or Couponholders create and issue further notes to be assimilated (*assimilées*) and form a single series with the Notes provided such Notes and the further notes carry rights identical in all respects (or in all respects save for the nominal amount thereof and the first payment of interest specified in the relevant Final Terms) and that the terms of such further notes provide for such assimilation and references in these Conditions to "**Notes**" shall be construed accordingly.
- (b) Consolidation: The Issuer may, with the prior approval of the Redenomination and Consolidation Agents, from time to time on any Interest Payment Date occurring on or after the Redenomination Date on giving not less than thirty (30) calendar days' prior notice to the Noteholders in accordance with Condition 14, without the consent of the Noteholders or Couponholders, consolidate the Notes of one Series with the Notes of one or more other Series issued by it, whether or not originally issued in one of the European national currencies or in Euro, provided such other Notes have been redenominated in Euro (if not originally denominated in Euro) and which otherwise have, in respect of all periods subsequent to such consolidation, the same terms and conditions as the Notes.

14. **NOTICES**

- (a) Subject to Condition 14(d), notices to the holders of Dematerialised Notes in registered form (*au nominatif*) shall be valid if either, (i) they are mailed to them at their respective addresses, in which case they will be deemed to have been given on the fourth (4th) weekday (being a day other than a Saturday or a Sunday) after the mailing, or, (ii) at the option of the Issuer, they are published in a leading daily newspaper of general circulation in Europe (which is expected to be the *Financial Times*); provided that, so long as such Notes are admitted to trading on any Regulated Market and the rules applicable to such Regulated Market so require, notices shall be valid if published in a daily newspaper with general circulation in the city/ies where the Regulated Market on which such Notes is/are admitted to trading is located which, in the case of Euronext Paris, is expected to be *Les Echos*, and as otherwise required by the applicable rules of that Regulated Market, as the case may be.
- (b) Notices to the holders of Materialised Bearer Notes and Dematerialised Notes in bearer form (*au porteur*) shall be valid if published in a daily leading newspaper of general circulation in Europe (which is expected to be the *Financial Times*) and so long as such Notes are admitted to trading on any Regulated Market and the rules applicable to such Regulated Market so require, in a leading daily newspaper with general circulation in the city/ies where the Regulated Market on which such Notes is/are admitted to trading is

located which, in the case of Euronext Paris is expected to be *Les Echos*, and as otherwise required by the applicable rules of that Regulated Market, as the case may be.

- (c) If any such publication is not practicable, notice shall be validly given if published in another leading daily English language newspaper with general circulation in Europe, provided that so long as such Notes are admitted to trading on any Regulated Market, notice shall be published as otherwise required by the applicable rules of that Regulated Market, as the case may be. Any such notice shall be deemed to have been given on the date of such publication or, if published more than once or on different dates, on the date of the first publication as provided above. Holders of Coupons shall be deemed for all purposes to have notice of the contents of any notice given to the holders of Materialised Bearer Notes in accordance with this Condition.
- (d) Notices required to be given to the holders of Dematerialised Notes (whether in registered or in bearer form) (au nominatif ou au porteur) pursuant to these Conditions may be given by delivery of the relevant notice to Euroclear France, Euroclear, Clearstream and any other clearing system through which the Notes are for the time being cleared in substitution for the mailing and publication as required by Conditions 14 (a), (b) and (c) above; except that so long as such Notes are listed on any Regulated Market and the rules applicable to such Regulated Market so require, notices shall also be published in a daily newspaper with general circulation in the city/ies where the Regulated Market on which such Notes are admitted to trading is/are located which, in the case of Euronext Paris is expected to be Les Echos, and as otherwise required by the applicable rules of that Regulated Market, as the case may be.
- (e) For the avoidance of doubt, this Condition 14 shall not apply to notices being given pursuant to Condition 11.

15. GOVERNING LAW AND JURISDICTION

- (a) **Governing Law:** The Notes (and, where applicable, the Coupons and the Talons) are governed by, and shall be construed in accordance with, French law.
- (b) **Jurisdiction:** Any claim against the Issuer in connection with any Notes, Coupons or Talons will be submitted to the exclusive jurisdiction of the competent courts in Paris.

TEMPORARY GLOBAL CERTIFICATES ISSUED IN RESPECT OF MATERIALISED BEARER NOTES

Temporary Global Certificates

A Temporary Global Certificate, without interest Coupons, will initially be issued in connection with Materialised Bearer Notes. Upon the initial deposit of such Temporary Global Certificate with a common depositary for Euroclear and Clearstream (the "Common Depositary"), Euroclear or Clearstream will credit the accounts of each subscriber with a nominal amount of Notes equal to the nominal amount thereof for which it has subscribed and paid.

The Common Depositary may also credit with a nominal amount of Notes the accounts of subscribers with (if indicated in the relevant Final Terms) other clearing systems through direct or indirect accounts with Euroclear and Clearstream held by such other clearing systems. Conversely, a nominal amount of Notes that is initially deposited with any other clearing system may similarly be credited to the accounts of subscribers with Euroclear, Clearstream or other clearing systems.

Exchange

Each Temporary Global Certificate issued in respect of Notes will be exchangeable, free of charge to the holder, on or after its Exchange Date (as defined below):

- (i) if the relevant Final Terms indicate that such Temporary Global Certificate is issued in compliance with the C Rules or in a transaction to which TEFRA is not applicable (as to which, see "General Description of the Programme Selling Restrictions"), in whole, but not in part, for the Definitive Materialised Bearer Notes and
- (ii) otherwise, in whole but not in part upon certification as to non-U.S. beneficial ownership (a form of which shall be available at the specified offices of any of the Paying Agents) for Definitive Materialised Bearer Notes.

Delivery of Definitive Materialised Bearer Notes

On or after its Exchange Date, the holder of a Temporary Global Certificate may surrender such Temporary Global Certificate to or to the order of the Fiscal Agent. In exchange for any Temporary Global Certificate, the Issuer will deliver, or procure the delivery of, an equal aggregate nominal amount of duly executed and authenticated Definitive Materialised Bearer Notes. In this Base Prospectus, Definitive Materialised Bearer Notes means, in relation to any Temporary Global Certificate, the Definitive Materialised Bearer Notes for which such Temporary Global Certificate may be exchanged (if appropriate, having attached to them all Coupons in respect of interest that have not already been paid on the Temporary Global Certificate and a Talon). Definitive Materialised Bearer Notes will be security printed in accordance with any applicable legal and Regulated Market requirements. Forms of such Definitive Bearer Materialised Notes shall be available at the specified offices of any of the Paying Agent(s).

Exchange Date

"Exchange Date" means, in relation to a Temporary Global Certificate, the calendar day falling after the expiry of 40 (forty) calendar days after its issue date, provided that, in the event any further Materialised Notes are issued prior to such calendar day pursuant to Condition 13(a), the Exchange Date for such Temporary Global Certificate shall be postponed to the calendar day falling after the expiry of forty (40) calendar days after the issue of such further Materialised Notes.

USE OF PROCEEDS

An amount equivalent to the net proceeds of the issue of the Notes will be applied by the Issuer to:

- finance its general corporate activities (including for the financing or the refinancing of its current indebtedness);
- finance or refinance any Green Eligible Projects, as defined in the Green Financing Framework within the Issuer's green and sustainability-linked financing framework (as may be amended and/or supplemented from time to time, the "Framework"), which is available on the Issuer's website (https://www.valeo.com/en/bond-investors/); or
- finance any other particular identified use of proceeds, as specified in the relevant Final Terms.

The Framework further describes the above-mentioned Green Eligible Projects. Based on the Issuer's own analysis, and at the date of the Framework, 3 categories of Green Eligible Projects (3.4, 3.6 and 3.18) out of 4 categories of Green Eligible Projects included in the Framework are aligned with the Sustainable Finance Taxonomy Regulation (as defined above). As the date of this Base Prospectus, there is no third-party confirmation on the alignment of these 3 categories of Green Eligible Projects with the Sustainable Finance Taxonomy Regulation. The other category of Green Eligible Projects (3.3, it being specified that the Green Eligible Projects of category 3.3 have been merged within category 3.18) is not an eligible activity under the Sustainable Finance Taxonomy Regulation following the above mentioned amended Delegated Regulation (EU) 2021/2139.

With respect to Green Eligible Projects, the Issuer will provide an investor report on an annual basis until proceeds are fully allocated. In accordance with the Framework, such report will include:

- The list of outstanding Green Bonds and the total amount of outstanding net proceeds of Green Bonds;¹
- The description of the Green Eligible Projects to which the Green Bonds have been allocated;
- The aggregate amount of allocation of the net proceeds to the Green Eligible Projects at the category level;
- The aggregate amount of allocation of the net proceeds to the Green Eligible Projects by region;
- The proportion of net proceeds used for financing vs. refinancing;
- The balance of any unallocated proceeds invested as per the Issuer's liquidity management policy, including in cash or cash equivalents, or in other liquid marketable instruments;
- Any material developments related to the project financed, including ESG controversies, where feasible and subject to confidentiality considerations. In the case of material developments that impact allocation, the Issuer will publish a revised allocation overview in revised allocation reporting, including external verification as described in the Framework; and
- The environmental impact report to support the allocation report described above and information on the methodology and assumptions used to evaluate the eligible projects impacts.

A verification of the above reporting in relation to the Green Bonds will be conducted by the Issuer's external auditor on an annual basis until proceeds are fully allocated and/or when there is a significant change to the allocation of the proceeds and in each case shall be made publicly available on the Issuer's website (https://www.valeo.com/en/bond-investors/). The external auditor will verify that the proceeds of the Green Bonds are allocated to Green Eligible Projects. For the avoidance of doubt, any such external verification will not provide any confirmation on the alignment of the Green Eligible Projects with the Sustainable Finance Taxonomy Regulation.

¹ The reporting will cover all green finance instruments, as further described in the Framework.

With respect to Sustainability Linked Notes, until the maturity of the Sustainability Linked Notes and including in the year in which the Target Observation Date falls, the Issuer shall publish on an annual basis within its universal registration document or as a separate document in its website by the end of May in each year²:

- Annual Reporting which will include:
 - up-to-date information on the performance of the KPIs in the relevant reporting period, including the calculation methodology and baselines where relevant;
 - any relevant information enabling investors to monitor the ambition of the SPTs including any update in its sustainability strategy or any recent announcements, strategic decisions on the related KPI;
 - where relevant any re-assessments of KPIs and/or restatement of the SPTs and/or pro-forma adjustments of KPI scope or more generally any information relevant to the analysis of the KPIs and SPTs, including in the context of a Recalculation Event pursuant to Condition 5(e)(vi); and
- an Assurance Report which will provide an independent and external verification of the performance of the KPIs by the External Auditor in the relevant reporting period.

In relation to the year in which the Target Observation Date falls only and not in relation to any other reporting period, the Issuer shall also publish within its universal registration document or as a separate document on its website by the end of May following the Target Observation Date a Compliance Certificate in respect of the satisfaction by the Issuer of the applicable SPT.

The Issuer has appointed ISS ESG to provide a second party opinion (the "Second Party Opinion") on the Framework, assessing its transparency, governance and alignment with the sustainability-linked bond principles of the ICMA and the sustainability-linked loan principles and the green bond principles of the Loan Market Association. This Second Party Opinion is available on the Issuer's website (https://www.valeo.com/en/bond-investors/).

Any amendment to such Second Party Opinion, or any new second party opinion, to be provided following an amendment to the Framework, the publication of a new Framework or in application of any new legislation or regulation, will be made available on the Issuer's website.

As specified in the Framework, the providers of the second party opinion and verification are and will be independent experts. Any such opinion or certification is not, nor should be deemed to be, a recommendation by the Issuer, the Dealers or any other person to buy, sell or hold any such Notes. As a result, neither the Issuer nor the Dealers nor any of their affiliates will be, or shall be deemed, liable for any issue in connection with its content.

For the avoidance of doubt, the Framework, the Second Party Opinion or any other such opinion or certification does not form part of, nor is incorporated by reference in, this Base Prospectus.

In order to meet the requirements of the CSRD³, Valeo has adapted the reporting of its greenhouse gas emission targets and results (as further described in its 2023 Universal Registration Document – see paragraph "Clarification on the presentation of Carbon Neutrality Contribution Plan reporting" of section 4.7.1.1 « Reporting methodology for environmental indicators »). Accordingly, the 2030 targets and the annual results now separate avoided emissions from gross emissions. However, the KPI "VALEO'S TOTAL ADJUSTED CARBON FOOTPRINT" described in the Issuer's Framework does not reflect this change. The Issuer envisages amending and updating its Framework by 2026, after the outstanding

² The reporting will cover all sustainability-linked instruments, as further described in the Framework.

³ Corporate Sustainability Reporting Directive: Directive (EU) 2022/2464 of the European Parliament and of the Council of December 14, 2022 as regards corporate sustainability reporting, transposed into French law by Government order No. 2023-1142 of December 6, 2023 on the publication and certification of sustainability reporting and the environmental, social and corporate governance obligations of commercial companies.

Sustainability Linked Notes relevant Target Observation Dates. Pending the update of its Framework, the Issuer does not contemplate to issue new Sustainability Linked Notes under the current Framework.

Prior to any investment in Notes in which the net proceeds are to be used to finance investments in any Green Eligible Projects, as further specified in the applicable Final Terms, investors are advised to consult the Framework for further information.

DESCRIPTION OF VALEO

The description of the Issuer is set out in the "Documents Incorporated by Reference" section set forth above in this Base Prospectus and in the section below.

RECENT DEVELOPMENTS

On 26 June 2024, the Issuer published the following press release:

VALEO AT EUROBIKE 2024

From July 3 to 7, 2024, at the Eurobike 2024 Valeo presents Valeo Cyclee[™], its offer for ebikes. At Eurobike, the Group will showcase the latest evolution of the 48V mid-drive unit which is now even quieter, and also a new Human Machine Interface (HMI).

Valeo CycleeTM 48V mid-drive unit is adaptive and understands what the rider wants. With a 7-speed gear automatic transmission and responding with a 130Nm torque - the highest level available on the market - it boosts all the rides, even the hardest ones.

To give its users the best experience, Valeo keeps on improving its solutions. Valeo CycleeTM introduces a stylish Human-Machine Interface (HMI) solution made of a smart dock, a 2" touch display and a remote with a rotative throttle. The new HMI seamlessly transitions from city to mountain, thanks to multiple assembly positions and a removable display. Valeo smart dock Phone-as-a-Key system also automatically locks the eBike when the rider steps 3 meters away. Although an anti-theft system already existed on the motor gearbox, this new device enhances user safety with a secure, easy-to-use locking system tailored to the needs of e-bike users. This technology brings an answer to the rise of thefts due to the growing value of ebikes.

Aiming to reduce its ecological footprint, this new HMI has been designed for easy assembly and disassembly, and the materials used include up to 30% recycled plastics.

Beyond the design and the selection of more sustainable material, Valeo's HMI uses Velco Suite, a software suite developed to meet the connectivity and adaptability needs of cyclists, as well as those of bikes sales and repair network.

This software provides connected services through 3 distinct applications:

- Assembly Assist module: This WEB application is intended for bike makers and dedicated to the pairing and integration tests of drive unit, battery, connected HMI on bikes at the end of the assembly line. It is also used to report diagnostic information for e-Bikes.
- Diagnostic Service module: this web application is intended for bikes shops & dealers to diagnose & calibrate the ebike, update electric kit firmware components and provide drive unit & components providers hotline support towards bike shops.
- Rider module: Velco Rider is a white label mobile application for the riders to offer the best riding experience thanks to valuable services. The mobile app can be customized into the ebike's brands

The complete solution is multi-engine and is aimed at all ebikes brands wanting to offer a digital experience to their customers.

The Valeo CycleeTM offer includes two HMI versions: an entry pack with the smart dock and remote, and a premium pack by adding the 2" touch display.

Valeo CycleeTM mid-drive unit is now more silent than ever with a noise level of the complete electric propulsion solution reduced of around -7dB. To reach this new level of NVH (noise, vibration & harshness) efficiency, the new version of the Valeo CycleeTM mid-drive unit presents a new gear geometry, and additional ribs on the cover to smooth the vibrations and additional bridges on stator stacks. With this evolution, VALEO CycleeTM mid drive unit offers the same noise level as other less powerful solutions.

In addition to its original equipment activities, Valeo is also involved in the circular economy of ebikes. Valeo and Smovengo, the operator of Vélib' Métropole, the self-service bicycle hire scheme run by the City of Paris and 64 of its communes, have joined forces to recondition the motors and batteries of the 8,000 electric Velibs that ply the streets of Greater/Grand Paris. Two Valeo sites specialized in reconditioning were selected for the partnership with Smovengo: the "Circular Electronics Laboratory" in Nevers for the batteries, and the "Circular Innovation Factory" in Czechowice (Poland) for the motors.

eBikes City, Trekking and Speedbike, equipped with the Valeo CycleeTM solutions will be present on the Valeo stand at the Eurobike 2024.

On 24 June 2024, the Issuer published the following press release:

VALEO RECEIVES THE FROST & SULLIVAN 2024 GLOBAL COMPANY OF THE YEAR AWARD FOR ITS MARKET-LEADING POSITION ON SOFTWARE-DEFINED VEHICLE

Valeo is proud to announce it has been awarded the 2024 Global Company of the Year Award for Software Defined Vehicle activities by Frost and Sullivan.

With the development of electric, autonomous and connected cars, software has become a key component to modern mobility, and car manufacturers are moving from a hardware-based architecture to a software-based architecture, the Software Defined Vehicle (SDV).

Valeo is the key innovation partner of global OEMs for their SDV as the Group offers the largest portfolio of sensors, high performance computing units along with their cooling systems, as well as one of the largest software offerings in the market, including embedded software, software as a product and software services (integration, validation, testing). Valeo has more than 30 years of experience in providing software solutions for safer, cleaner, affordable mobility. Today, more than 40% of Valeo's 20,000 engineers are dedicated to software, systems and artificial intelligence, and we are growing our forces.

"We are honored to receive the 2024 Global Company of the Year Award from Frost & Sullivan. This recognition highlights our leadership in the Software-Defined Vehicle revolution, combining cutting-edge software with advanced computing platforms. At Valeo, we are committed to driving innovation in intelligent mobility and sustainability, empowering OEMs to navigate modern vehicle architecture and seize new opportunities." Marc Vrecko, CEO of Valeo Brain division.

Each year, Frost & Sullivan presents a Company of the Year Award to the organization that demonstrates excellence in terms of growth strategy and implementation in its field. The award recognizes a high degree of innovation in products and technologies, and the resulting leadership in terms of customer value and market penetration. Recently Frost & Sullivan assessed the software-defined vehicle (SDV) industry, and based on its findings, recognized Valeo with the 2024 Global Company of the Year Award.

Kamalesh Mohanarangam, Associate Director and Head of Connected and Autonomous

Vehicles Research, Frost & Sullivan, observed "Valeo showcases its pioneering efforts in addressing customers' unmet needs within the automotive industry with the launch of Valeo anSWer, a revolutionary transformation journey poised to redefine the future of mobility. Building upon decades of expertise and innovation, the company recognized the pressing need for a comprehensive, integrated software platform that seamlessly integrates diverse automotive functionalities."

"Valeo capitalizes on the convergence of energy, big data, and computational intelligence to redefine mobility and create unparalleled opportunities in the automotive landscape. Its impressive growth trajectory over the past three fiscal years and its top-notch collaborations highlight the company's ability to capture market opportunities effectively and deliver exceptional value propositions to customers," added Rabin Dhakal, Best Practices Research Analyst at Frost & Sullivan.

On 11 June 2024, the Issuer published the following press release:

VALEO PARTNERS WITH DASSAULT SYSTÈMES TO ACCELERATE THE DIGITALIZATION OF ITS R&D

- Valeo will deploy Dassault Systèmes' 3DEXPERIENCE platform to optimize the development of new technologies for safer and more sustainable mobility
- More than 15,000 Valeo users across R&D, purchasing, manufacturing and other areas will be connected in a virtual ecosystem featuring generative design and data science capabilities
- The deployment will help Valeo develop the technologies needed to make the car more electrified, autonomous and software driven. It will also support the optimization of the company's research and development expenses.

Valeo, a world leader in mobility technologies, and Dassault Systèmes (Euronext Paris: FR0014003TT8, DSY.PA) today announced their partnership. Valeo will rely on Dassault Systèmes' "Global Modular Platform" and "Smart, Safe & Connected" industry solution experiences based on the 3DEXPERIENCE platform to accelerate the digital transformation of the Group's research and development activities.

Valeo will deploy Dassault Systèmes' 3DEXPERIENCE platform to more than 15,000 users across the Group to manage growing product complexity and contribute to Valeo's leading offer in terms of software and hardware solutions for electrification, advanced driving assistance systems and lighting.

With the 3DEXPERIENCE platform, multiple activities across Valeo will be able to capitalize on existing legacy data to boost innovation and take informed decisions leveraging intelligent data by benefiting from technology on the platform that is always up-to-date.

"At Valeo, we are proud to be the key innovation partner of our clients. Our more than 20,000 engineers develop innovative solutions combining hardware and software and leveraging AI to make tomorrow's mobility safer and more sustainable. Thanks to our partnership with Dassault Systèmes, our teams will have more efficient solutions enabling digital continuity to support our world leading R&D activities." said Christophe Périllat, Chief Executive Officer, Valeo.

"The automotive industry is highly competitive, and companies continually strive to address the imperative of sustainability and generate experiences that consumers love. We're elevating our long partnership with Valeo to foster this spirit of innovation and further support its transformation to a tech company for the automotive industry," said Pascal Daloz, CEO, Dassault Systèmes.

"Creating new mobility usages and universes of experiences requires proven capabilities for styling, electrification and software-defined vehicles. Our 3DEXPERIENCE platform is this differentiator. It leverages the power of generative AI to connect models from science to data from experience, along the full lifecycle of the vehicle."

On 23 May 2024, the Issuer published the following press release:

VALEO AND SMOVENGO COMMIT TO CIRCULAR MAINTENANCE OF VÉLIB' ELECTRIC BIKE MOTORS AND BATTERIES

Paris - 23 May 2024 – Valeo and Smovengo, the operator of Vélib' Métropole, a large-scale public bicycle sharing system in Paris and 64 of its communes, have joined forces to remanufacture the motors and batteries of the 8,000 electric Vélib' bicycles that tour the streets of Greater Paris.

Valeo and remanufacturing for all mobilities

Valeo is the key technology partner of global automakers and plays a major role in promoting more diverse mobility. Recognizing that there is no one-size-fits-all solution for mobility in today's urban

environments, Valeo offers a range of solutions for small mobility devices such as bicycles, scooters and electric rickshaws.

Valeo's commitment to the e-bike sector includes the supply of Valeo CycleeTM electric motors and the circular maintenance of other essential components used in e-bikes such as the Smovengo bikes. Bringing such service for eBike is fully part of Valeo's circular economy strategy (4R) to expand the lifespan of existing mobility systems. This concrete action is possible thanks to Valeo's unique positioning to build the sustainable mobility of tomorrow.

For over 40 years, Valeo has put its expertise in the design and manufacture of original parts at the service of remanufacturing, to offer a range of products with the highest quality standards. Two Valeo sites specialising in remanufacturing have been selected for the partnership with Smovengo:

• the "Circular Electronics Laboratory" in Nevers for batteries

Valeo launched in 2023 the Circular Electronics Lab in Nevers (France) to set up a dedicated team combining flexibility, quality and competitiveness, in touch with our internal experts to incubate circular electronics projects. This unit successfully launched the first ever remanufactured front camera and has expanded its circular services for Small Mobility, starting with the Repair of batteries for Smovengo.

• the "Circular Innovation Factory" in Czechowice (Poland) for electric motors.

Czechowice is Valeo's Competence Centre for remanufactured products such as starters, alternators, dual mass flywheels, dual clutches and air conditioning compressors, and is now expanding its remanufacturing activity into the field of micromobility with the motors equipped on Smovengo's electric bikes.

Recycling and upgrading at the heart of Smovengo's commitments

Since becoming the operator of Vélib' Métropole in 2018, the largest station-based bike-sharing service in the world, covering 65 municipalities and 450 km², Smovengo has been tackling a considerable logistical challenge. Every day, the teams in the field and in the workshops repair 1,000 bikes to ensure a constant availability of the fleet, 24 hours a day, every day of the year.

To meet this challenge, and in response to the ecological emergency, Smovengo has chosen to strengthen its commitment to the circular economy by designing parts that are increasingly durable, reliable and, above all, refurbishable. This effort, steered by the R&D department, enables the provision of cutting-edge equipment while reducing dependence on Asian suppliers.

Since 2020, the company has implemented a complete industrial process for recycling spare parts. All maintenance parts are prepared for a second life or recycled. Currently, 30 employees are dedicated daily to testing and repairing these components. In parallel, a wheel production line has been set up in Alfortville, producing the 2,500 wheels needed for fleet maintenance each week, using new or recycled parts. Continuing these efforts, Smovengo has been certified as a bicycle manufacturer in October 2021, allowing for the annual production of over 2,000 CE-certified electric and mechanical bicycles, also using new and recycled parts.

To go further, and in order to repair more complex parts such as electric motors and batteries, specific expertise was needed, as well as industrialisation capacity. This is why Smovengo has entered into a partnership with Valeo, a global expert in automotive parts recycling.

Eric Schuler, CEO of Valeo Service: "Valeo is delighted to announce its partnership with Smovengo, a major player in urban mobility in Paris. This collaboration for the repair and remanufacturing of batteries and motors for electric Velib bicycles demonstrates Valeo's commitment to safer and more sustainable mobility, and its capability to offer solutions for the electrification of all forms of mobility."

"As a player in sustainable daily mobility, it is essential to provide responsible solutions to the environmental challenge," explains Jacques Greiveldinger, Managing Director of Smovengo. "We are proud of our partnership with Valeo, whose expertise helps us make significant progress in our commitments and continuously improve the management of second-hand parts in the bicycle sector. This

represents a triple benefit: ecological, economic and optimisation of logistics for our company. The revaluation of motors and batteries is only the first step in this partnership, which will be extended to many other bicycle parts."

On 23 May 2024, the Issuer published the following press release:

VALEO SHAREHOLDERS' MEETING 2024

Valeo's Shareholders' Meeting was held today. The Meeting was chaired by Gilles Michel, Chairman of the Board of Directors. All the resolutions were adopted.

The shareholders approved the financial statements for the year ended December 31, 2023 as well as a dividend distribution of 0.40 euro per share. The ex-dividend date is set at May 28, 2024, and the record date at May 29, 2024. The dividend will be paid on May 30, 2024.

The shareholders renewed the term of office of the Fonds Stratégique de Participations, represented by Julie Avrane as (independent) director, and appointed Sascha Zahnd and Beatriz Puente as (independent) directors, for a period of four years. Following the expiry of Thierry Moulonguet and Ulrike Steinhorst's terms of office at the end of the Shareholders' Meeting, the Chairman of the Board reiterated his warm thanks for their involvement and the remarkable work they have carried out over more than 12 years as part of the Board of Directors and its specialized Committees.

In addition, the Shareholders' Meeting also appointed Eric Chauvirey as director representing employee shareholders, for a period of four years, with Yann Le Pêcheur as his substitute.

At the end of the Shareholders' Meeting, the Board of Directors therefore comprises 15 directors, including 2 directors representing employees and one director representing employee shareholders. 92% of the directors are independent and 42% of the directors are women (excluding employee directors). The composition of specialized Committees of the Board and their chairs have also been reviewed to reflect these developments, with Véronique Weill now chairing the Audit and Risks Committee and Alexandre Dayon now chairing the Compensation Committee and the Governance, Appointments and Corporate Social Responsibility Committee (Patrick Sayer will continue to chair the Strategy Committee). It should also be noted that Julie Avrane, permanent representative of the *Fonds Stratégique de Participations*, is now in charge of CSR matters within the Governance, Appointments and Corporate Social Responsibility Committee. The new composition of the Board of Directors and its specialized Committees are set out in full in Appendix 1 below.

The Shareholders' Meeting also approved the compensation paid or granted to Directors and Executive Corporate Officers for the 2023 financial year (*ex post* votes) as well as the compensation policies applicable to Directors and Executive Corporate Officers for the 2024 financial year (*ex ante* votes).

Finally, the shareholders decided to appoint Mazars, statutory auditors of the Company, as auditor in charge of the certification of information related to sustainability. The shareholders also approved the renewal of the authorisation to allot free shares.

On 16 May 2024, the Issuer published the following press release:

VALEO EACCESS TO POWER TOYOTA APM ELECTRIC SHUTTLES FOR MAJOR SUMMER 2024 SPORTING EVENT

Valeo is proud to be part of a major international sport event through the 48V eAccess technology that will power Toyota APM electric shuttles in Paris this summer.

Originally, APM was specifically designed by Toyota to offer a safe and efficient mobility solution to athletes and officials during the major sport event in Tokyo, Japan in 2020.

The electric shuttle will again be at the heart of the transport solutions during the next sports event in Paris to ease mobility for all within the sports sites. This is a completely new version, more adapted to the European environment, it can embark 6 persons including the driver and has been designed for very flexible use. The foldable seats enable the transport of people in wheelchairs. The vehicle is also available in a relief version, developed to provide medical assistance, enabling the transport of a stretcher and medical staff.

Christophe Périllat, Valeo's Chief Executive Officer, said: "We are delighted that Toyota has chosen Valeo eAccess technology to power the APM electric shuttles. This confirms the relevance of Valeo's strategy when it comes to exploring ever more sustainable and affordable technologies. Valeo will contribute with their technologies to make this major sporting event more sustainable, while providing spectators and delegations with a mobility experience adapted to the Parisian environment"

Valeo eAccess is a scalable and affordable electric drive solution for urban mobility

Toyota chose Valeo eAccess Belt 14, all-in-one solution (motor, inverter, reducer) offering the possibility to the vehicle to operate up to 20 kph with a gross vehicle mass of 1390 kg.

Valeo's 48V eAccess combines a 48 Volts 13.5 kW generator, coming from the 48V electrical propulsion platform which has already reached sufficient maturity to become a standard equipment for the automobile market, combined with a gear reducer and an innovative ribbed elastic belt to create a full eDrive propulsion system.

This all-in-one solution is a unique automobile powertrain transmission system in the automotive industry landscape and shows the Valeo expertise and its capacity to propose a modular approach for the quickly-growing market of light powertrain vehicles.

Giving the possibility to reach speed up to 100 kph and an electric autonomy average of 100 km, the Valeo's 48V eAccess is also matching the noise, vibration & harshness (NVH) high performance standards and registers in a medium and long-term strategy to reduce the environmental footprint impact of the automotive industry (end-of-life recycling, recycled material cover).

Valeo's eAccess technology is already powering the urban car Citroën Ami and also other applications such as the 3-Wheelers from Atul which is addressing the Indian market. The 48V Valeo expertise in electric motors for small mobility is also available on 2-Wheelers markets and the latest addition to this is the BMW e-motorbike CE02.

The Valeo's 48V eAccess is a real game changer in the electric propulsion industry, as it provides an affordable and easy to integrate solution for faster adoption of electric mobility, a necessity to comply with growing environmental regulations.

Toyota plans to provide 250 vehicles for the major sport event to take place in Paris next summer.

On 15 May 2024, the Issuer published the following press release:

ACQUISITION OF SHARES

Valeo has requested the assistance of an investment services provider in order to achieve certain objectives of its share buy-back program, as authorized by the General Shareholders' Meeting of May 24, 2023.

According to the terms of the contract signed on March 11, 2024, Valeo acquired 2,175,683 shares on May 13, 2024 at an average price of 11.4906 euros.

All these shares are allocated to cover the implementation of free and performance share plans, the allotment of shares to employees as part of their involvement in the performance and growth of the Company or the implementation of any company employee savings plan and more generally any allocation of shares within the Group.

On 14 May 2024, the Issuer published the following press release:

NEW, MORE ENVIRONMENTALLY FRIENDLY VALEO CANOPY^{IM} WIPER BLADES AT SPEEDY

- Speedy is the first fast-fit maintenance and repair chain in France to market Valeo Canopy[™], the first more environmentally friendly wiper blade.
- This approach benefits Valeo and Speedy, two companies resolutely committed to reducing their carbon footprint, as well as cardrivers keen to limit their impact on the environment.

Valeo Canopy, a product designed to reduce CO2 emissions

In addition to wiping performance identical to premium blades, the Valeo Canopy[™] range stands out in the automotive aftermarket for its particularly advanced environmental performance, as these wiper blades boast a carbon footprint reduced by 61%* compared to conventional models.

To achieve this, Valeo CanopyTM wiper blades adopt technical solutions throughout their design cycle designed to limit their CO2 emissions. Over 80% of the CanopyTM rubber blade is made from natural, renewable or recycled materials, such as cane sugar, vegetable oils and carbon black from recycled tyres. CanopyTM wiper blades incorporate an increased proportion of recycled materials in their components, with up to 15% recycled steel in the metal structures and up to 50% recycled plastic in the end clips.

What's more, the CanopyTM wiper blade is packaged in 100% cardboard packaging, which is fully recyclable and printed with solvent-free, water-based inks. The product is manufactured in France in an ISO 50001-certified "Energy Management" plant, limiting the impact of transport on the environment.

Marlène Carrias-Iked, Vice-President Strategic Marketing, Digital and Innovation for Valeo Service: «Valeo is pleased to announce its partnership with Speedy, the first service and repair chain in France to offer Valeo Canopy which, as part of the 'I Care 4 the Planet' programme, represents the first aftermarket innovation designed to significantly reduce environmental impact. This offering responds to a growing consumer demand for sustainability. The CanopyTM range marks Valeo's lasting commitment alongside automotive aftermarket players to make sustainable development a reality.»

A global approach for Speedy

This partnership adds another arrow to the eco-responsible bow developed by Speedy France in recent years. This year, the brand signed a partnership with Black Star for reconditioned tyres manufactured in France.

Speedy is the first network in France to install E85 bioethanol conversion kits by 2022 - approved under the Flexfuel brand - whose 12,000 kits are already helping the French to reduce their net greenhouse gas emissions by 72% compared with conventional fossil fuel. Speedy's pollution control diagnostics can reduce fine particles released into the atmosphere by a factor of 4.5. The company also places great emphasis on recycling (in partnership with Aliapur for tyres and Chimirec for used oils, liquids, batteries, windscreens, etc.) and the use of second-life parts.

Speedy also maintains and repairs electric cars and two-wheelers, and charges them via the 70 electric charging points already installed in its centres, with the aim of eventually equipping 100% of centres.

Finally, on the energy front, Speedy obtains its biomethane from Total Energies, with guarantees of origin and French production. Some of the electricity used by Speedy's integrated centres comes from

photovoltaic panels, and the company has signed a 100% green electricity supply contract certified by FDF

Romain Vancappel, Strategy, Marketing and Innovation Director at Speedy France: « Speedy facilitates mobility for the French customers. We are present everywhere in France and for everyone. Our product and service solutions enable us to meet the growing demand from the French customers to drive in a more environmentally responsible way and by favouring products made in France. We are therefore proud to be associated with Valeo and to be pioneers in France by offering the CanopyTM wiper blade, whose environmental characteristics have convinced us. »

Speedy customers can now find this new range of wipers in their nearest car centre: https://centres-auto.speedy.fr/

(*) The Valeo Canopy Flat Blade, with a specific rubber and packaged in cardboard box enables a CO2 emission reduction of 61% compared to a Valeo Flat Blade product representative of the majority of commercialized wiper blades in the European market, produced in Asia, with a synthetic rubber and marketed in a plastic packaging. This performance has been certified by Bureau Veritas, an independent body.

On 7 May 2024, the Issuer published the following press release:

VALEO AND ICAP GROUP, OWNER OF TECNOBUS, FINALIZE THE AGREEMENT TO PREPARE THE FUTURE OF MOBILITY IN FERENTINO

On May 6th, 2024 Valeo and ICAP Group, owner of Tecnobus, signed a closing agreement to prepare the future of Valeo's site in Ferentino. ICAP Group will take over Ferentino Automotive Transition Srl, the Valeo company owning the Ferentino site, on May 7th, 2024.

ICAP Group takeover of Ferentino Automotive Transition is a further step in the ambitious plan to develop in the fast growing industry of sustainable collective mobility, where ICAP Group is already a key player with its subsidiary Tecnobus, an Italian manufacturer of electric powered minibuses established since 1988 and already present in Frosinone. They are looking to increase their footprint to support the rapid ramp up of their production as demand for electric mobility booms.

Maurizio Martinelli, Valeo Group President Italy, "We are very proud to have finalized the takeover of our site in Ferentino by ICAP Group. It is a great opportunity to secure the future of the site and its people, while contributing their expertise to the development of electric mobility, in Italy but also in Europe. At Valeo, we are looking forward to continuing contributing to the Italian ecosystem with our other sites in the country to offer safer and more sustainable mobility to all."

Paolo Marini, CEO Tecnobus, "As Tecnobus is growing and the demand for our products booms, we are very proud to welcome Ferentino Automotive Transition in our family. We are looking forward to welcoming the new workforce and their contribution to our amazing journey to offer solutions for more sustainable collective and proximity mobility thanks to our electric technologies."

On 30 April 2024, the Issuer published the following press release:

VALEO WINS AUTOMOTIVE NEWS PACE AWARD FOR ITS SCALATM 3 LIDAR

Valeo picked up its 17th Automotive News PACE Award for its SCALATM 3 LiDAR during an awards ceremony yesterday. The prestigious awards recognize automotive suppliers for superior innovation, technological advancement and business performance.

"We're committed to helping our customers succeed by providing the most innovative products available," said Jeffrey Shay, president, Valeo North America. "These technologies, supported by our industry-leading

software capabilities, are key enablers for the transition toward software defined vehicles. We're honored by this recognition, and we look forward to continued collaboration with our customers to continue propelling our industry forward."

The SCALATM 3 is Valeo's next-generation LiDAR perception system, which already equips numerous models from European and Asian automakers. It offers an automotive-grade, high-resolution LiDAR sensor, allowing advanced perception in all conditions and meeting the highest automotive industry quality and safety standards.

SCALA™ 3 high-density point cloud and associated AI-based perception software enable autonomous driving on highways up to 80 mph (130 km/h), in a wider range of conditions.

This dramatically increases end-user value in passenger cars, offering Level 3 autonomy in an extended operating range or Level 4 for robotaxis.

Valeo's LiDAR technology currently equips the only Level 3 passenger cars allowed in Europe, and the company announced in March 2023 orders worth more than \$1 billion in the previous 18 months for Valeo SCALATM 3.

Valeo, the world leader in Advanced Driver Assistance Systems (ADAS), was the first company to produce automotive LiDAR sensors and perception software for Level 3 autonomous driving on an industrial scale. To find out more about the Automotive News PACE Award, go to:https://www.autonews.com/awards/2024-pace-program

On 25 April 2024, the Issuer published the following press release:

FIRST-QUARTER SALES OF 5.4 BILLION EUROS, UP 2% LIKE FOR LIKE 2024 AND 2025 OBJECTIVES REAFFIRMED

- Sales of 5.4 billion euros, up 2% on a like-for-like basis (LFL)
 - Original equipment sales up 1% LFL
 - Outperformance of 2 percentage points versus automotive production, after a slightly unfavorable geographic mix
 - 7 percentage point outperformance for ADAS, 6 percentage point outperformance for the Visibility Systems Business Group, 4 percentage point outperformance for the Thermal Systems Business Group
 - 9 percentage point outperformance for the traditional Powertrain activities, partially offsetting the low level of activity in high-voltage electrification. 5 percentage point underperformance for the Powertrain Systems Business Group.
 - Aftermarket sales up 1% LFL
- New organization based on three divisions, leading to a change in reporting from publication of first-half 2024 results
- 2024 and 2025 objectives reaffirmed, with margins and free cash flow generation in the second half of 2024 expected to be higher than in the first half

"Our first-quarter sales of 5.4 billion euros reflect a solid start to 2024, thanks to the growth of all our businesses, excluding high-voltage electrification.

The traditional Powertrain activities benefited from the ramp-up in production in Europe, North America and China, partially offsetting the low level of activity in high-voltage electrification, which was penalized

by an unfavorable basis for comparison and a decline on certain platforms. The high-voltage electrification activity should see improved business levels in the second quarter.

Overall, the Group outperformed automotive production by 2 percentage points, despite a slightly unfavorable geographic mix over the quarter.

In addition, the merger of the Thermal Systems and Powertrain Systems activities into a single division called "Valeo Power" has been implemented. The Comfort & Driving Assistance Systems and Visibility Systems Business Groups have been renamed "Valeo Brain" and "Valeo Light".

Finally, taking into account the prudent production assumptions adopted as part of our Move Up plan, our operating efficiency action plan, and our cost reduction measures which are on track, we are reaffirming our 2024 and 2025 objectives."

Christophe Périllat, Valeo's Chief Executive Officer

Sales of 5,427 million euros in first-quarter 2024, up 2% like-for-like

Sales (in millions of euros)	As a % of Q1 2024 sales	Q1 2024	Q1 2023	Change	FX	Scope	LFL* change
Original equipment	84 %	4,554	4,637	-2 %	-2 %	-1 %	+1 %
Aftermarket	11 %	597	615	-3 %	-4 %	-1 %	+1 %
Miscellaneous	5 %	276	230	+20 %	-2 %	-2 %	+24 %
Total	100 %	5,427	5,482	-1 %	-2 %	-1 %	+2 %

^{*} Like for like.

Automotive production contracted by 1% compared to the same period in 2023, amid:

 a 4% rise in production in China, due to a favorable basis for comparison linked to weak demand following the easing of a strict zero-COVID policy at the end of 2022; a 2% fall in production in Europe, due to an unfavorable basis for comparison linked to a low level of new vehicle inventories and an increase in production volumes at the start of 2023.

Total sales for first-quarter 2024 came in at 5,427 million euros, down 1 % compared with the same period in 2023.

Changes in exchange rates had a negative 2.4% impact, primarily due to the appreciation of the euro against the Chinese yuan, the Japanese yen and the South Korean won.

Changes in Group structure had a negative 0.6 % impact, mainly linked to the sale of the Ichikoh Mirror business in Japan on August 1, 2023.

On a like-for-like basis, sales rose by 2 %.

Original equipment sales were up 1 % on a like-for-like basis, driven by all of the Group's businesses, excluding high-voltage electrification: Comfort & Driving Assistance Systems Business Group up 4% (of which ADAS up 6%), Visibility Systems Business Group up 5% and Thermal Systems Business Group up 3%. In the Powertrain Systems Business Group, original equipment sales for the traditional businesses posted growth of 8%. This partially offset the downturn in high-voltage electrification on certain electric vehicle platforms, particularly in Europe, and the unfavorable basis for comparison linked to automakers building up inventories on these platforms in the first half of 2023.

Aftermarket sales rose by 1 % on a like-for-like basis compared with the prior-year period, fueled by the increased number and age of vehicles on the road, a more attractive offering with a shift towards more value-added products (for example, transmissions systems kits).

"Miscellaneous" sales (tooling and customer contributions to R&D) increased by 24 % like for like.

2 percentage point outperformance in first-quarter 2024 vs global automotive production after a slightly unfavorable geographic mix

Original equipment sales*** (in millions of euros)	As a % of sales	Q1 2024	Q1 2023	Change	LFL* change	Perf. **
Europe & Africa	49 %	2,215	2,293	-3%	-3 %	-1 pt
Asia, Middle East & Oceania	29 %	1,343	1,409	-5 %	+4 %	+5 pts
o/w Asia (excluding China)	15 %	717	777	-8 %	+2 %	+8 pts
o/w China	14 %	626	632	-1 %	+6 %	+2 pts
North America	20 %	912	847	+8%	+9 %	+8 pts
South America	2 %	84	88	-5 %	-7 %	-1 pt
Total	100 %	4,554	4,637	-2 %	+1 %	+2 pts

^{*} Like for like.

In first-quarter 2024, like-for-like growth in original equipment sales outperformed the market by 2 percentage points, taking into account a slightly unfavorable geographic mix.

^{**} Based on S&P Global Mobility automotive production estimates released on April 16, 2024.

^{***} Original equipment sales by destination region.

- in Europe and Africa, the Group underperformed global automotive production by -1 percentage point: the Comfort & Driving Assistance Systems Business Group reported strong growth in its ADAS business (particularly front cameras and computer-vision cameras) with a premium German automaker. The Powertrain Systems Business Group was impacted by (i) a downturn on certain electric vehicle platforms, particularly in Europe, and (ii) automakers building up inventories on these platforms in the first half of 2023. The impact of the decline in the high-voltage electric powertrain business was partially offset by growth in the Powertrain Systems Business Group's traditional businesses, such as transmission systems and 48V, linked to the ramp-up in production for European automakers. The Thermal Systems Business Group's performance was driven by the ramp-up in new cabin thermal management systems contracts put into production for German automakers, and the Visibility Systems Business Group was lifted by production launches for several European automakers;
- in Asia, the Group outperformed global automotive production by 5 percentage points:
 - in China, the Group outperformed automotive production by 2 percentage points. Valeo is repositioning its customer portfolio (more than 50% of 2023 orders were with automakers in China, excluding JVs). The Thermal Systems Business Group's performance was powered by the rampup in production of electric vehicles for Chinese automakers. The Visibility Systems Business Group is fully benefiting from recent production launches for a North American automaker and several Chinese automakers for electrification projects;
 - in Asia, excluding China, Valeo outperformed automotive production by 8 percentage points thanks to the strong momentum of (i) the Comfort & Driving Assistance Systems Business Group in ADAS with a South Korean automaker and several Japanese automakers, and (ii) the Powertrain Systems Business Group in traditional technologies for a South Korean automaker;
- in North America, Valeo outperformed automotive production by 8 percentage points. The Powertrain Systems Business Group was lifted by the ramp-up in production for a leading Japanese customer. The Thermal Systems Business Group saw its activity boosted by the ramp-up in production for cabin thermal management systems, notably for North American customers. The Visibility Systems Business Group enjoyed the full effects of the ramp-up in production of a new contract in electrification for a North American automaker;
- in South America, the Group underperformed automotive production by 1 percentage point.

Segment reporting: further strong momentum in all Group businesses, with the exception of the highvoltage electrification business, which was affected by a downturn on certain electric vehicle platforms, particularly in Europe

Sales by Business Group (in millions of euros)	Q1 2024	Q1 2023	Change in sales	Change in OE sales*	Perf. **
Comfort & Driving Assistance Systems	1,229	1,159	+6%	+4%	+5 pts
Powertrain Systems	1,635	1,741	-6%	-6%	-5 pts
Thermal Systems	1,150	1,145	—%	+3%	+4 pts
Visibility Systems	1,415	1,376	+3%	+5%	+6 pts
Other	-2	61	N/A	N/A	N/A
Group	5,427	5,482	-1%	+1%	+2 pts

^{*} Like for like.

The sales performance for the Business Groups reflects the specific product, geographic and customer mix and the relative weighting of the aftermarket in their activity as a whole.

The Comfort & Driving Assistance Systems Business Group recorded an outperformance of 5 percentage points, thanks to strong growth – notably in Europe with a premium German automaker and in Asia, excluding China (South Korea and Japan) – for ADAS, particularly front cameras and computer-vision cameras, strengthening its position as world leader. Like-for-like original equipment sales were up by 6% for ADAS and by 0% for the Reinvention of the Interior Experience segment.

The traditional Powertrain activities (transmission systems and 48V) delivered 8% like-for-like growth, outperforming automotive production by 9 percentage points, benefiting from the ramp-up in production for European automakers in Europe, for a leading Japanese customer in North America, and in China. This helped to mitigate the impact of the decline in the high-voltage electric powertrain business (199 million euros in the first quarter of 2024, compared with 362 million euros for the same period in 2023), which was penalized by the decline on certain electric vehicle platforms, notably in Europe, and by the unfavorable basis for comparison linked to automakers building up inventories on these platforms in 2023. The high-voltage electrification activity should see improved business levels in the second quarter. Overall, the **Powertrain Systems Business Group** underperformed automotive production by 5 percentage points over the quarter.

The Thermal Systems Business Group outperformed automotive production by 4 percentage points. In Europe, the Business Group's sales were buoyed by the ramp-up in new contracts put into production for German automakers. In North America, the Thermal Systems Business Group saw a good level of activity with a North American customer. In China, the Business Group's performance was driven by the ramp-up in production in the area of electric vehicles for several Chinese automakers.

The Visibility Systems Business Group outperformed automotive production by 6 percentage points. In Europe, the Business Group benefited from production launches for lighting projects for several European

^{**} Based on S&P Global Mobility automotive production estimates released on April 16, 2024. (Q1 2024 global production growth: -1%)

automakers. In China and North America, the Visibility Systems Business Group's sales were driven by the recent production launch for a North American automaker in the field of electrification. In China, activity was boosted by the ramp-up in production for several Chinese automakers in the area of electrification.

2024 and 2025 objectives reaffirmed

	2023 (as reported)	2024 guidance (a) (b)	2025 objectives (b)	Previous 2025 objectives
Sales (in billions of euros)	22.0	22.5 to 23.5	24.5 to 25.5	~ 27.5
EBITDA (as a % of sales)	12.0%	12.1 % to 13.1 %	13.5 % to 14.5 %	~ 14.5%
Operating margin (as a % of sales)	3.8%	4.0 % to 5.0 %	5.5 % to 6.5 %	~ 6.5%
Free cash flow before one-time exceptional cost reduction measures (in millions of euros) (c)	-	~ 500	~ 800	-
Free cash flow after one-time exceptional cost reduction measures (in millions of euros) (c)	379	~ 350	~ 650	~ 800 - 1,000

- (a) Second-half margins and free cash flow generation higher than in the first half, thanks to higher production volumes and efficiency gains.
- (b) For greater comfort, figures are based on (i) light vehicle production 3% below the S&P Global Mobility scenario released on February 16, 2024, and (ii) stable sales in high-voltage electrification over the period 2023-2025.
- (c) Includes, but is not limited to, potential restructuring measures.

Upcoming events

First-half 2024 results: July 25, 2024

Highlights

ESG

On January 2, Christophe Perillat, CEO of Valeo, nominated Édouard de Pirey as Chief Financial Officer. He takes over from Robert Charvier who, after 24 years with the Group, will retire. <u>Click here</u>

On March 27, Valeo informed its shareholders that its Combined (ordinary and extraordinary) General Shareholders' Meeting will be held on May 23, 2024. <u>Click here</u>

On April 3, Valeo announced that it had published its 2023 Universal Registration Document. Click here

On April 22, Valeo took a new step towards electric mobility and announced its new Valeo Power division. Click here

Industrial partnerships

Valeo took part in CES 2024 from January 8 to 12, during which it announced several partnerships:

- On January 4, Valeo and Teledyne FLIR announced that they had signed an agreement and first
 contract for thermal imaging for automotive safety systems. <u>Click here</u>
- On January 4, Valeo and Sennheiser presented ImagIn: an immersive sound and light experience in your car. <u>Click here</u>
- On January 4, Valeo and Applied Intuition announced their partnership to provide digital twin technology for ADAS simulation. Click here
- On January 8, ZutaCore® and Valeo announced their first contract for innovative data center cooling.
 Click here

On February 8, Dawex, Schneider Electric, Valeo, CEA and Prosyst joined forces to create Data4Industry-X, the trusted data exchange solution for industry. <u>Click here</u>

Products/technologies and patents

On January 4, Valeo announced expanded software capabilities in North America to support increased demand. <u>Click here</u>

On January 8, Valeo announced its acceleration in artificial intelligence thanks to Google Cloud tools. Click here

From January 8 to 12, Valeo took part in CES 2024, where it presented groundbreaking innovations from its booth and from its live demonstration area paving the way for affordable, greener, safer and more connected mobility:

- On January 4, Valeo presented the latest update of its Valeo Cyclee™ Mid-Drive Unit solution with a new HMI and reduced noise and vibration at CES 2024. Click here
- On January 4, Valeo presented IneezTM Air Charging, its solution for wireless charging for electric vehicles. <u>Click here</u>

On January 10, Valeo's Vsevolod Vovkushevsky was named a MotorTrend Software Defined Vehicle Innovator Awards Winner. <u>Click here</u>

On January 18, Mister-Auto integrated the Valeo Canopy low-carbon-footprint wiper blade range. <u>Click</u> here

On January 23, Valeo was once again ranked first among French patent applicants worldwide. Click here

On January 25, Smart #3 equipped with Valeo Smart Safety 360 received 5 stars at Euro NCAP. <u>Click here</u>

On February 1, Valeo was certified ISO/SAE21434, the benchmark for automotive cybersecurity, by UTAC. <u>Click here</u>

On February 21, Valeo announced its participation in SXSW 2024. Click here

On February 26, Valeo announced its participation at the Taipei Cycle Show 2024. Click here

On March 4, Valeo presented Valeo Racer, a new extended reality in-car gaming experience developed with Unity, at South by Southwest 2024. <u>Click here</u>

On March 6, Valeo announced that it is Launch Partner for SDVerse, a new Automotive Software Marketplace <u>Click here</u>

On March 28, Valeo announced that it is taking the driver's seat on generative AI with Google Cloud. Click here

On March 29, Valeo announced the opening of a new plant in Daegu (South Korea) for the production of Advanced Driver Assistance Systems. Click here

On April 17, Valeo announced it was celebrating 30 years in China and showcasing its latest technologies at Auto China – Beijing 2024. <u>Click here</u>

Financing activities and financial ratings

On March 11, Valeo announced the implementation of its share buy-back program. Click here

On March 22, Moody's affirmed Valeo's "Baa3" long-term issuer rating, negative outlook, and "P3" short-term issuer rating. Click here

On April 3, Standard & Poor's affirmed Valeo's "BB+" long-term issuer rating, revising its outlook from "stable" to "negative". <u>Click here</u>

On April 4, Valeo announced a green bond issue for an amount of 850 million euros with maturity April 2030. <u>Click here</u>

Financial glossary

Operating margin including share in net earnings of equity-accounted companies corresponds to operating income before other income and expenses.

EBITDA corresponds to (i) operating margin before depreciation, amortization and impairment losses (included in the operating margin) and the impact of government subsidies and grants on non-current assets, and (ii) net dividends from equity-accounted companies.

Free cash flow corresponds to net cash from operating activities (excluding changes in non-recurring sales of receivables and net payments for the principal portion of lease liabilities) after taking into account acquisitions and disposals of property, plant and equipment and intangible assets.

Safe Harbor Statement

Statements contained in this document which, when they are not historical fact, constitute "forward-looking statements". These statements include projections and estimates and their underlying assumptions, statements regarding projects, objectives, intentions and expectations with respect to future financial results, events, operations, services, and product development and potential and future performance. Even though Valeo's Management feels that the forward-looking statements are reasonable as at the date of this document, investors are put on notice that the forward-looking statements are subject to numerous factors, risks and uncertainties that are difficult to predict and generally beyond Valeo's control, which could cause actual results and events to differ materially from those expressed or projected in the forward-looking statements. Such factors include, among others, the Company's ability to generate cost savings or manufacturing efficiencies to offset negotiated or imposed price reductions. The risks and uncertainties to which Valeo is exposed mainly comprise the risks resulting from the investigations currently being carried out by the antitrust authorities as identified in the Universal Registration Document, risks related to the

automotive equipment industry and to the development and launch of new products and risks due to certain global and regional economic conditions, environmental and industrial risks as well as risks and uncertainties described or identified in the public documents submitted by Valeo to the French financial markets authority (*Autorité des marchés financiers* – AMF), including those set out in the "Risk Factors" section of the 2023 Universal Registration Document registered with the AMF on March 29, 2024 (under number D.24-0218).

In addition, other risks which are currently unidentified or considered to be non-material by the Group, could have the same adverse impact and investors could lose all or part of their investment. Forward-looking statements are given only as at the date of this document and Valeo does not undertake to update the forward-looking statements to reflect events or circumstances which occur subsequent to the publication of this document. Valeo assumes no responsibility for any analyses issued by analysts and any other information prepared by third parties which may be used in this document. Valeo neither intends to review, nor will it confirm, any estimates issued by analysts.

On 25 April 2024, the Issuer published the following press release:

VALEO IS THE NUMBER 1 PATENT APPLICANT IN EUROPE AND THE NUMBER 3 PATENT APPLICANT IN FRANCE

Valeo continues to establish itself as a highly innovative company, partnering its customers to transform mobility. Valeo is determined to protect its innovations and is one of the French companies to have filed the most patents across all sectors in 2023.

In the report published by the European Patent Office (EPO) on 19 March 2024, Valeo ranked first in France (33rd overall) in terms of patent filings in Europe in 2023, for the second year running, with 564 patent applications filed.

Valeo also features on the podium of patent applicants in France in the *Institut National de la Propriété Intellectuelle* (INPI) report of 25 April 2024, with 681 priority patent applications filed in 2023, i.e. 40% of its priority applications filed in 2023 worldwide (1,666 in total).

In addition, Valeo is ranked as the number one French patent applicant worldwide for the second year running in the INPI's December 2023 report*.

Valeo is the reference technology partner for mobility players, and its innovations are protected by a portfolio of more than 33,000 IP rights worldwide. In 2023, Valeo's innovations enabled it to register a record level of orders from its customers.

Christophe Périllat, Valeo's Chief Executive Officer, explains: "At Valeo, our more than 20,000 engineers around the world work every day to develop software, components and equipment that make mobility safer, more respectful of the environment and accessible to all. Today, we are the reference technology partner for our customers, who trust us to provide them with innovative solutions tailored to their needs. At a time when our sector is undergoing a major transformation, we are maintaining our investment drive to ensure that we continue to have the right technologies, at the right time, to meet the needs of the market and support our customers in their transformation."

The Group's patent applications in 2023 protect its innovations in equipment and components, as well as software. The Group's technologies are focused on 4 pillars: autonomous driving, electrification, lighting and life on board, with patent applications notably in the following areas:

- systems for monitoring the passenger compartment and driver attention,

- new-generation LiDARs,
- high-voltage electric transmissions (eAxle),
- low-frequency chargers,
- heat pump and battery cooling systems and modules,
- light sources with adaptable shapes.

Valeo's patent applications also protect innovations that contribute to its CO2 reduction commitments, with applications relating to bio-based materials and optimized consumption, such as "just in light" solutions using AI to adapt light intensity to the vehicle's environment and thus limit electric consumption.

*For the year 2022

On 22 April 2024, the Issuer published the following press release:

VALEO TAKES A NEW STEP TOWARDS ELECTRIC MOBILITY AND ANNOUNCES ITS NEW VALEO POWER DIVISION

Earlier this year, Valeo announced a project to merge its thermal and powertrain activities into a single entity to better address the electrification market expectations and to further improve Valeo's competitiveness and financial performance.

The Valeo Power division is created on April 22, 2024. Mobility needs power. The acceleration of electrification relies on powertrain and thermal management systems to increase the range, performance and comfort of the vehicles. The Valeo Power division will implement a lean organization structure based on 7 Regional Operations and will progressively replace the former Valeo Thermal Systems and Powertrain Systems business groups until the completion of all social and legal procedures [1]. Xavier Dupont is appointed Chief Executive Officer of the Valeo Power division and Valeo Group Executive Vice President.

Christophe Périllat, Valeo CEO, explains: "Today is an important milestone in the story of Valeo with the creation of our new Valeo Power division, born from the merger of our former Powertrain Systems and Thermal Systems Business Groups. As we further accelerate in electrification, our Valeo Power division will enable us to offer our customers technologies tailored to market expectations in terms of performance and cost. The new division will also contribute to our efforts to improve our competitiveness and financial performance."

At the same time, Valeo updates the names of its two other divisions to reflect the evolution of their activities:

• The Valeo Comfort and Driving Assistance business group becomes the Valeo Brain division

Mobility is evolving towards the Software Defined Vehicle, the acceleration of advanced driving assistance systems (ADAS) and the new opportunities they open for in-vehicle experience. They all rely on software and on powerful computing units acting like "brains" of the vehicles. Marc Vrecko is appointed Chief Executive Officer of the Valeo Brain division and Valeo Group Executive Vice President

• The Valeo Visibility business group becomes the Valeo Light division

Safe mobility relies on light to see and be seen. The light must reach the driver or the sensors without distortion, thanks to wiper and sensor cleaning systems. The revolution of mobility supports the acceleration of lighting everywhere as electric and advanced vehicles offer new opportunities in terms of lighting design,

functionality and personalization. Maurizio Martinelli is appointed Chief Executive Officer of the Valeo Light division and Valeo Group Executive Vice President

Valeo's new operational structure is now organized around these three divisions that will become the financial reporting segments of the Group starting at the 2024 half-year results.

Valeo aftermarket activity remains Valeo Service activity with Eric Schuler appointed Chief Executive Officer of Valeo Service Activity

[1] During this transition period, the current organization by Product Groups/Regional Operations will coexist with the future organization by Regional Operations

On 4 April 2024, the Issuer published the following press release:

VALEO ANNOUNCES ITS GREEN BOND ISSUE FOR AN AMOUNT OF 850 MILLION EUROS WITH MATURITY APRIL 2030

On April 4, 2024, Valeo announced the placement of 850 million euros worth of new green bonds maturing April 11, 2030.

This issue raised 850 million euros in bonds maturing in 6 years with a coupon of 4,50%. BNP Paribas, Crédit Agricole CIB, Citibank, Mizuho and Natixis acted as Joint Active Bookrunners. The net proceeds of the transaction will be used for financing projects and investments linked to the portfolio of technologies that contribute to low-carbon mobility, in particular vehicle electrification.

The green bonds are issued under Valeo's Green and Sustainability-linked Financing framework, established in September 2023, available on Valeo's website in the Bond Investors section. A second supplement to the base prospectus was approved by the AMF on 3 April 2024.

By 2050, Valeo aims to achieve Net Zero covering all of its operating activities and its supply chain worldwide and its entire value chain in Europe (all the objectives of the CAP 50 plan are available in the Valeo Universal Registration Document, Chapter 4). To achieve its objectives, Valeo will continue to develop its portfolio of technologies that promote low-carbon mobility accessible to the greatest number.

On 29 March 2024, the Issuer published the following press release:

VALEO OPENS NEW PLANT IN DAEGU (KOREA) FOR THE PRODUCTION OF ADVANCED DRIVER ASSISTANCE SYSTEMS

Valeo, a global automotive technology leader, celebrated a major milestone with the official grand opening of its new manufacturing facility in Daegu (Korea) for the production of sensors for vehicle automation.

The opening was held in the presence of Daegu Metropolitan Mayor Hong Joon Pyo, Marc Vrecko, President of Valeo Comfort and Driving Assistance Systems Business Group, Kim Min-kyu, CEO of Valeo Mobility Korea and French Ambassador of Korea, Philippe Bertoux.

Valeo signed in July 2022 an investment agreement worth \$56 million with the Daegu Metropolitan Government to mass-produce ADAS (Advanced Driver Assistance Systems) parts, key devices for vehicles that will be more and more autonomous. The construction of the greenfield Valeo plant in Daegu began in March 2023 and the plan will start operating in early 2025.

The Valeo Daegu plant will start producing parking assistant sensors before becoming a core production facility in Asia for autonomous driving sensors, with the mass-production of key components such as ultrasound sensors, radars, cameras and LiDARs.

The production is destined for local sales as well as export to meet the growing demand of ADAS and security systems.

Marc Vrecko, President, Valeo Comfort and Driving Assistance Systems Business Group, said, "Valeo is a leader in the production of ADAS with one car out of three worldwide equipped with Valeo ADAS technology. We are honored to start the production of a whole range of key components for autonomous cars such as ultrasound, radars, cameras and LiDAR sensors in the Daegu plant (Korea) which offers a highly experienced workforce and an excellent automobile industry base."

Valeo has been present in South Korea since 1999, and has since then established 3 R&D centers and 14 production sites. The Comfort & Driving Assistance Business Group created a South Korea Regional Operation in 2015, after experiencing steady growth since entering Korea in 2008. We have been working closely with the Korean carmakers for 10 years, and Valeo is now recognized in South Korea as a key partner for the development of ADAS.

On 28 March 2024, the Issuer published the following press release:

VALEO TAKES THE DRIVER'S SEAT ON GENERATIVE AI WITH GOOGLE CLOUD

- Two companies to develop new cloud-based generative AI tools and solutions
- Innovations expected to help boost Valeo's process efficiency and productivity with dedicated use cases
- Valeo becomes a key partner of Google Cloud for gen AI, with early access and contribution to technological developments

Sunnyvale, Calif. and Paris, France, March 28, 2024 – Valeo, a world leader in mobility technologies, today announced an expansion of its partnership with Google Cloud to develop new generative AI tools and solutions. Together, the two companies will work on cloud-based best practices and innovations, aiming to address the customer's specific challenges with greater efficiency and nuance.

Beyond boosting productivity

The use of Google Cloud's gen AI solutions will help enable Valeo teams to speed up and simplify every facet of the digital innovation process within the company, with the potential for not just more responsive product development, but also end-to-end efficiency gains throughout its operations. For example, Valeo plans to add Google Cloud's AI solutions to the toolbox its software developer teams use to create, fix, optimize, and test code, so that it can be done faster and more productively. Valeo will also expand its use of Google Cloud's gen AI capabilities to increase efficiency and insight across its entire software engineering lifecycle—from requirements analysis, to architecture design, to test case generation.

Other areas of collaboration between the two companies will include deploying gen AI tools to support higher productivity in vehicle design, production, and equipment integration, as well as quality assurance and customer service. As part of the agreement, Valeo will also use new gen AI tools developed by Google Cloud with its customers in the automotive industry, sharing useful feedback to optimize the solutions.

Finally, under the expanded agreement, Valeo will gain early access to Google Cloud's latest generative AI technologies, allowing it to embed generative AI faster and more seamlessly into its software engineering processes.

Extending an historical partnership

Already a partner of Google Cloud for its infrastructure, data, and collaboration offerings, Valeo conducted a hackathon in 2023 on gen AI use cases among its employees with the support of Google

Cloud. The hackathon uncovered numerous new use cases for Google Cloud's gen AI technology across engineering, project management, knowledge management, and industrial maintenance.

"Generative AI has the potential to refine and upgrade every aspect of the automotive digital value chain, but only if it can absorb the standards, regulations, technical language, and other contextual factors that each company faces," said Geoffrey Bouquot, EVP Strategy and CTO, Valeo. "At Valeo, we are looking forward to bringing together our deep understanding of the challenges of the automotive industry and Google Cloud's generative AI tools and expertise. Together, we will play an essential role in how we make generative AI as relevant, secure, and productive as possible to support Valeo's growth."

"Generative AI solutions tailored to specific companies' context offer immense potential to transform them at speed," said Isabelle Fraine, Managing Director, Google Cloud in France. "Valeo is an innovation leader in the automotive industry and has clearly determined new models and sources of productivity with generative AI. We look forward to seeing the added value and relevance for the company that our joint technological and industrial forces will bring."

On 27 March 2024, the Issuer published the following press release:

VALEO GENERAL SHAREHOLDERS' MEETING 2024

Valeo hereby informs its shareholders that its Combined (ordinary and extraordinary) General Shareholders' Meeting will be held at 2:30 pm on May 23, 2024 at 3 Mazarium, 3 Rue Mazarine, 75006 Paris.

During this General Meeting, shareholders will be asked, in particular, to approve Valeo SE's financial statements as well as the Group's consolidated financial statements for the financial year ended December 31, 2023, to allocate the earnings for this financial year and to pay a dividend of 0.40 euro per share entitled to a dividend. If this dividend is approved, the ex-dividend date will be May 28, 2024, with a record date set at May 29, 2024, and the payment date will be May 30, 2024.

The Board of Directors also decided to propose to the shareholders:

- the renewal of the Fonds Stratégique de Participations' term of office as (independent) director, represented by Julie Avrane, which will expire at the end of the 2024 General Shareholders' Meeting;
- the appointment of Sascha Zahnd and Beatriz Puente as (independent) directors in replacement
 of Thierry Moulonguet and Ulrike Steinhorst whose terms of office will expire at the end of the
 2024 General Shareholders' Meeting and who have not sought renewal of their terms of office.
 The Chairman of the Board of Directors warmly thanks them for their involvement and the
 remarkable work they have carried out over more than 12 years as part of the Board of Directors
 and its specialized committees' works;
- the appointment of Eric Chauvirey as director representing employee shareholders, with Yann Le Pêcheur as his substitute. This appointment proposed by Valeo's employee shareholders is part of the employee shareholders representation on the Board of Directors implemented in accordance with the amendment to the articles of association decided by the General Shareholders' Meeting of May 24, 2023 following the upward crossing of the 3% threshold of the share capital calculated in accordance with Article L. 225-102 of the French Commercial Code.
- In addition, as part of the new obligations arising out of the "CSRD" Directive (Corporate Sustainability Reporting Directive), the shareholders will be asked to appoint Mazars, statutory auditor of the Company, as auditor in charge of the certification of sustainability information.

Furthermore, shareholders will be asked to vote on:

- the compensation of Directors and of Executive Corporate Officers for the 2023 financial year (ex post votes);
- the compensation policies applicable to Directors and to Executive Corporate Officers for the 2024 financial year (ex ante votes).

Finally, shareholders will be invited to vote on a new authorisation to allocate free shares.

The notice of meeting, which will be published in the Bulletin des Annonces Légales Obligatoires (BALO), will contain the detailed meeting agenda set by the Board of Directors, the proposed resolutions submitted by the Board of Directors as well as the main modalities for participating in and voting at this General Meeting. This notice of meeting and the Board of Director's report on the proposed resolutions will be available on the website www.valeo.com (Investors and Shareholders/Shareholders' Meeting sections) as from April 3, 2024.

The other preparatory documents and information relating to this General Meeting can be consulted on the aforementioned website, made available or provided to the shareholders under the conditions and within the time limits provided for by the applicable legal and regulatory provisions.

The General Shareholders' Meeting will be streamed (live and deferred broadcast) on the Group's website.

For any information about participating in the General Meeting or on how to obtain access to or consult documents in relation to the General Meeting, please contact your financial advisor, Valeo's Investor Relations department, or Société Générale (Service des Assemblées, CS 30812, 44308 Nantes Cedex 3 – France), which has been instructed to act on behalf of Valeo.

On 11 March 2024, the Issuer published the following press release:

IMPLEMENTATION OF THE SHARE BUY-BACK PROGRAM

Valeo has requested the assistance of an investment services provider in order to achieve certain objectives of its share buy-back program, as authorized by the General Shareholders' Meeting of May 24, 2023.

According to the terms of the contract signed on March 11, 2024, it is agreed between the parties that the investment services provider will sell to Valeo, who undertakes to acquire them no later than May 13, 2024, a certain quantity of Valeo shares within the limit of 25 million euros. The average price per share will be determined based on the mean volume-weighted market price observed during the entire duration of the contract. The unit price may not in any case exceed the maximum purchase price of 70 euros per share set by the General Shareholders' Meeting of May 24, 2023.

All these shares will be allocated to cover the implementation of free and performance share plans, the allotment of shares to employees as part of their involvement in the performance and growth of the Company or the implementation of any company employee savings plan and more generally any allocation of shares within the Group.

SUBSCRIPTION AND SALE

Summary of Dealer Agreement

Subject to the terms and on the conditions contained in an amended and restated dealer agreement dated 3 July 2024 (the "Dealer Agreement") between the Issuer, the Permanent Dealers and the Arranger, the Notes will be offered by the Issuer to the Permanent Dealers. However, the Issuer has reserved the right to sell Notes directly on its own behalf to Dealers that are not Permanent Dealers. The Notes may be resold at prevailing market prices, or at prices related thereto, at the time of such resale, as determined by the relevant Dealer. The Notes may also be sold by the Issuer through the Dealers, acting as agents of the Issuer. The Dealer Agreement also provides for Notes to be issued in syndicated Tranches that are jointly and severally underwritten by two or more Dealers.

The Issuer will pay each relevant Dealer(s) a commission (if any) as agreed between them in respect of Notes subscribed by that Dealer. The Issuer has also agreed to reimburse the Arranger and the Dealers for certain of their expenses and activities in connection with the Programme.

The Issuer has agreed to indemnify the Dealers against certain liabilities in connection with the offer and sale of the Notes. The Dealer Agreement entitles the Dealers to terminate any agreement that they make to subscribe Notes in certain circumstances prior to payment for such Notes being made to the Issuer.

Selling Restrictions

Prohibition of Sales to EEA Retail Investors for the purposes of the EU Prospectus Regulation and EU PRIIPs Regulation

Each Dealer has represented and agreed, and each further Dealer appointed under the Programme will be required to represent and agree, that it has not offered, sold or otherwise made available and will not offer, sell or otherwise make available any Notes which are the subject of the offering contemplated by this Prospectus as completed by the Final Terms in relation thereto to any retail investor in the EEA.

For the purposes of this provision:

- 1) the expression "**retail investor**" means a person who is one (or more) of the following:
 - a. a retail client as defined in point (11) of Article 4(1) of EU MiFID II; or
 - b. a customer within the meaning of Directive 2016/97/EU on insurance distribution, as amended, where that customer would not qualify as a professional client as defined in point (10) of Article 4(1) of EU MiFID II; or
 - c. not a qualified investor as defined in the EU Prospectus Regulation; and
- 2) the expression "offer" includes the communication in any form and by any means of sufficient information on the terms of the offer and the Notes to be offered so as to enable an investor to decide to purchase or subscribe the Notes.

Prohibition of sales to UK Retail Investors

Each Dealer has represented and agreed, and each further Dealer appointed under the Programme will be required to represent and agree, that it has not offered, sold or otherwise made available and will not offer, sell or otherwise make available any Notes which are the subject of the offering contemplated by this Base Prospectus as completed by the Final Terms in relation thereto to any retail investor in the United Kingdom.

For the purposes of this provision:

1) the expression "**retail investor**" means a person who is one (or more) of the following:

- a. a retail client, as defined in point (8) of Article 2 of Regulation (EU) No 2017/565 as it forms part of domestic law by virtue of the European Union (Withdrawal) Act 2018 ("EUWA"); or
- b. a customer within the meaning of the provisions of the FSMA and any rules or regulations made under the FSMA to implement Directive (EU) 2016/97, where that customer would not qualify as a professional client, as defined in point (8) of Article 2(1) of Regulation (EU) No 600/2014 as it forms part of domestic law by virtue of the EUWA; or
- c. not a qualified investor as defined the Regulation (EU) 2017/1129 as it forms part of domestic law by virtue of the EUWA; and
- 2) the expression an "offer" includes the communication in any form and by any means of sufficient information on the terms of the offer and the Notes to be offered so as to enable an investor to decide to purchase or subscribe for the Notes.

France

Each of the Dealers and the Issuer has represented and agreed and each further Dealer appointed under the Programme will be required to represent and agree that:

- (a) it has only offered or sold, and will only offer or sell, directly or indirectly, Notes in France and it has only distributed or caused to be distributed and will only distribute or cause to be distributed in France, this Base Prospectus, the relevant Final Terms or any other offering material relating to the Notes to qualified investors (*investisseurs qualifiés*) as referred to in Article L.411-2 of the French *Code monétaire et financier* and defined in Article 2(e) of the EU Prospectus Regulation; and
- (b) Materialised Notes may only be issued outside of France.

United Kingdom

Each Dealer has represented, warranted and agreed and each further Dealer appointed under the Programme will be required to represent, warrant and agree that:

- (a) No deposit-taking: in relation to any Notes having a maturity of less than one year:
 - (i) it is a person whose ordinary activities involve it in acquiring, holding, managing or disposing of investments (as principal or agent) for the purposes of its business; and:
 - (ii) it has not offered or sold and will not offer or sell any Notes other than to persons:
 - (A) whose ordinary activities involve them in acquiring, holding, managing or disposing of investments (as principal or agent) for the purposes of their businesses; or
 - (B) who it is reasonable to expect will acquire, hold, manage or dispose of investments (as principal or agent) for the purposes of their businesses,

where the issue of the Notes would otherwise constitute a contravention of Section 19 of the Financial Services and Markets Act 2000, as amended (the "FSMA") by the Issuer;

- (b) *Financial promotion:* it has only communicated or caused to be communicated and will only communicate or cause to be communicated any invitation or inducement to engage in investment activity (within the meaning of section 21 of the FSMA) received by it in connection with the issue or sale of any Notes in circumstances in which section 21(1) of the FSMA does not apply to the Issuer; and
- (c) *General compliance:* it has complied and will comply with all applicable provisions of the FSMA with respect to anything done by it in relation to any Notes in, from or otherwise involving the United Kingdom.

United States

The Notes have not been and will not be registered under the Securities Act or the securities laws of any U.S. state and may not be offered or sold, directly or indirectly, within the United States of America or to, or for the account or benefit of, U.S. persons except pursuant to an exemption from, or in certain transactions not subject to, the registration requirements of the Securities Act or such state securities laws. The Notes are being offered and sold only outside of the United States to non-U.S. persons in offshore transactions in reliance on an exemption from registration under the Securities Act pursuant to Regulation S. Terms used in this paragraph have the meanings given to them by Regulation S under the Securities Act.

Materialised Bearer Notes will be issued in compliance with U.S. Treas. Reg. §1.163-5(c)(2)(i)(D) or any successor regulation issued under the U.S. Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended (the "I.R. Code"), section 4701(b) that contains rules identical to the rules that currently apply under Code section 163(f)(2)(B) (the "D Rules") unless (i) the relevant Final Terms states that such Materialised Bearer Notes are issued in compliance with U.S. Treas. Reg. §1.163-5(c)(2)(i)(C) or any successor regulation issued under Code section 4701(b) that contains rules identical to the rules that currently apply under Code section 163(f)(2)(B) (the "C Rules") or (ii) such Materialised Bearer Notes are issued other than in compliance with the D Rules or the C Rules but in circumstances in which the Notes will not constitute "registration required obligations" under the United States Tax Equity and Fiscal Responsibility Act of 1982 ("TEFRA"), which circumstances will be referred to in the relevant Final Terms as a transaction to which TEFRA is not applicable. TEFRA will not apply to Dematerialised Notes.

Each Dealer has represented and agreed and each further Dealer appointed under the Programme will be required to represent, warrant and agree that, except as permitted by the Dealer Agreement, it has not offered or sold and it will not offer, sell or, in the case of Materialised Bearer Notes, deliver, Notes (i) as part of their distribution at any time or (ii) otherwise until forty (40) calendar days after the completion of the distribution of any identifiable Tranche of which such Notes are a part (the "**Distribution**"

Compliance Period"), within the United States of America or to, or for the account or benefit of, U.S. persons, and it will have sent to each dealer to which it sells Notes during the Distribution Compliance Period a confirmation or other notice setting forth the restrictions on offers and sales of the Notes within the United States of America or to, or for the account or benefit of, U.S. persons. Terms used in this paragraph have the meanings given to them by Regulation S, except that in reference to the term Materialised Bearer Notes, the term "U.S. person" also shall have the meaning given to it by the I.R. Code and the regulations thereunder.

In addition, until forty (40) calendar days after the commencement of the offering of any identifiable tranche of Notes, an offer or sale of Notes within the United States by any dealer (whether or not participating in the offering of such tranche of Notes) may violate the registration requirements of the Securities Act.

This Base Prospectus has been prepared by the Issuer for use in connection with the offer and sale of the Notes outside the United States to non U.S. persons and the listing of the Notes on Euronext Paris. The Issuer and the Dealers reserve the right to reject any offer to purchase the Notes, in whole or in part, for any reason. This Base Prospectus does not constitute an offer to any person in the United States or to any U.S. person. Distribution of this Base Prospectus by any non-U.S. person outside the United States to any U.S. person or to any other person within the United States, is unauthorised and any disclosure without the prior written consent of the Issuer of any of its contents to any such U.S. person or other person within the United States, is prohibited.

Japan

Each Dealer has acknowledged and each further Dealer appointed under the Programme will be required to acknowledge that the Notes have not been and will not be registered under the Financial Instruments and Exchange Act of Japan (Law No. 25 of 1948, as amended) (the "Financial Instruments and Exchange Act") and agrees or will agree, as the case may be, that it will not, directly or indirectly, offer or sell any Notes in Japan or to, or for the benefit of, any resident in Japan (which term as used herein means any person resident in Japan, including any corporation or other entity organised under the laws of Japan), or to others for re-offering or resale, directly or indirectly, in Japan or to a resident of Japan, except pursuant to an exemption from the registration requirements of, and otherwise in compliance with, the Financial

Instruments and Exchange Act and any other applicable laws, regulations and ministerial guidelines of Japan.

Hong Kong

Each Dealer has represented, warranted and agreed, and each further Dealer appointed under the Programme will be required to represent, warrant and agree, that:

- (a) it has not offered or sold and will not offer or sell in Hong Kong, by means of any document, any Notes other than (i) to "professional investors" as defined in the Securities and Futures Ordinance (Cap 571) of Hong Kong (the "SFO") and any rules made thereunder or (ii) in other circumstances which do not result in the document being a "prospectus" as defined in the Companies (Winding Up and Miscellaneous Provisions) Ordinance (Cap. 32) of Hong Kong (the "C(WUMP)O") or which does not constitute an offer to the public within the meaning of the C(WUMP)O; and
- (b) it has not issued or had in its possession for the purposes of issue, and will not issue or have in its possession for the purposes of issue, whether in Hong Kong or elsewhere, any advertisement, invitation or document relating to the Notes, which is directed at, or the contents of which are likely to be accessed or read by, the public of Hong Kong (except if permitted to do so under the securities laws of Hong Kong) other than with respect to Notes which are or are intended to be disposed of only to persons outside Hong Kong or only to "professional investors" as defined in the SFO and any rules made thereunder.

People's Republic of China (excluding Hong Kong, Macau and Taiwan)

Each Dealer has represented, warranted and agreed, and each further Dealer appointed under the Programme will be required to represent, warrant and agree, it has not offered or sold and will not offer or sell the Notes, directly or indirectly, in the People's Republic of China (the "PRC") or to PRC persons, for such purpose, not including the Hong Kong and Macau Special Administrative Regions or Taiwan, except as permitted by applicable PRC laws and regulations.

Singapore

Each Dealer has acknowledged, and each further Dealer appointed under the Programme will be required to acknowledge, that this Base Prospectus has not been, and will not be, registered as a prospectus with the Monetary Authority of Singapore. Accordingly, each Dealer has represented and agreed, and each further Dealer appointed under the Programme will be required to represent and agree that it has not offered or sold any Notes or caused the Notes to be made the subject of an invitation for subscription or purchase and will not offer or sell any Notes or cause the Notes to be made the subject of an invitation for subscription or purchase, and has not circulated or distributed, nor will it circulate or distribute this Base Prospectus or any other document or material in connection with the offer or sale, or invitation for subscription or purchase, of the Notes whether directly or indirectly, to any person in Singapore other than (i) to an institutional investor (as defined in Section 4A of the Securities and Futures Act 2001 of Singapore (the "SFA")) pursuant to Section 274 of the SFA or (ii) to an accredited investor (as defined in Section 4A of the SFA) pursuant to and in accordance with the conditions specified in Section 275 of the SFA

Switzerland

The offering of the Notes in Switzerland is exempt from the requirement to prepare and publish a prospectus under the Swiss Financial Services Act ("FinSA") as long as such offering is made to professional clients within the meaning of the FinSA only or as long as the Notes have a minimum denomination of CHF 100,000 (or equivalent in another currency) or more and the Notes will not be admitted to trading on any trading venue (exchange or multilateral trading facility) in Switzerland. This Base Prospectus does not constitute a prospectus pursuant to the FinSA, and no such prospectus has been or will be prepared for or in connection with the offering of the Notes.

Canada

The Notes have not been, and will not be, qualified for sale under the securities laws of Canada or any province or territory thereof. Each Dealer has represented and agreed, and each further Dealer appointed under the Programme will be required to represent and agree, that it has not offered, sold, distributed, or delivered, and that it will not offer, sell, distribute, or deliver any Notes, directly or indirectly, in Canada or to, or for the benefit of, any resident thereof in contravention of the securities laws of Canada or any province or territory thereof.

Each Dealer has also agreed, and each further Dealer appointed under the Programme will be required to agree, not to distribute or deliver this Base Prospectus, or any other offering material relating to the Notes, in Canada in contravention of the securities laws of Canada or any province or territory thereof.

In relation to each issue of Notes, each Dealer has represented and agreed, and each further Dealer appointed under the Programme will be required to represent and agree, that Notes may be sold only to Canadian purchasers purchasing, or deemed to be purchasing, as principal that are "accredited investors", as defined in National Instrument 45-106 Prospectus Exemptions ("NI 45-106") or subsection 73.3(1) of the Securities Act (Ontario), and are "permitted clients", as defined in National Instrument 31-103 Registration Requirements, Exemptions and Ongoing Registrant Obligations. Any resale of such Notes must be made in accordance with an exemption from, or in a transaction not subject to, the prospectus requirements of applicable securities laws.

General

These selling restrictions may be modified or supplemented by the agreement of the Issuer and the Dealers in particular following a change in a relevant law, regulation or directive. Any such modification or supplement will be set out in a supplement to this Base Prospectus.

No action has been taken in any jurisdiction that would permit an offer to the public of any of the Notes, or possession or distribution of this Base Prospectus or any other offering material or any Final Terms, in any country or jurisdiction where action for that purpose is required.

Each Dealer has agreed, and each further Dealer appointed under the Programme will be required to agree, that it will comply with all relevant laws, regulations and directives in each jurisdiction in which it purchases, offers, sells or delivers Notes or has in its possession or distributes this Base Prospectus, any other offering material or any Final Terms and that it will obtain any consent, approval or permission required for the purchase, offer or sale of Notes under the laws and regulations in force in any jurisdiction in which it makes such purchase, offer or sale. None of the Issuer or any other Dealer shall have responsibility therefore.

Each of the Dealers has further agreed that it has not entered and will not enter into any sub- underwriting arrangement with respect to the distribution of the Notes with any person other than one of its subsidiaries or affiliates without the prior written consent of the Issuer.

Each of the Dealers and the Issuer has represented and agreed that Materialised Notes may only be issued outside France.

PRO FORMA FINAL TERMS FOR USE IN CONNECTION WITH ISSUES OF SECURITIES WITH A DENOMINATION OF AT LEAST &100,000 TO BE ADMITTED TO TRADING ON AN EEA REGULATED MARKET

[EU MIFID II PRODUCT GOVERNANCE / PROFESSIONAL INVESTORS AND ECPS ONLY TARGET MARKET – Solely for the purposes of [the/each] manufacturer's product approval process, the target market assessment in respect of the Notes taking into account the five categories referred to in item 19 of the Guidelines on EU MiFID II product governance requirements published by ESMA dated 3 August 2023, has led to the conclusion that: (i) the target market for the Notes is eligible counterparties and professional clients only, each as defined in Directive 2014/65/EU (as amended, "EU MiFID II"); and (ii) all channels for distribution of the Notes to eligible counterparties and professional clients are appropriate. Any person subsequently offering, selling or recommending the Notes (a "distributor") should take into consideration the manufacturer['s/s'] target market assessment; however, a distributor subject to EU MiFID II is responsible for undertaking its own target market assessment in respect of the Notes (by either adopting or refining the manufacturer['s/s'] target market assessment) and determining appropriate distribution channels.]

[UK MIFIR PRODUCT GOVERNANCE / PROFESSIONAL INVESTORS AND ECPs ONLY TARGET MARKET – Solely for the purposes of [the/each] manufacturer's product approval process, the target market assessment in respect of the Notes has led to the conclusion that: (i) the target market for the Notes is only eligible counterparties, as defined in the FCA Handbook Conduct of Business Sourcebook ("COBS"), and professional clients, as defined in Regulation (EU) No 600/2014 as it forms part of domestic law by virtue of the European Union (Withdrawal) Act 2018 ("UK MiFIR"); and (ii) all channels for distribution of the Notes to eligible counterparties and professional clients are appropriate. Any person subsequently offering, selling or recommending the Notes (a "distributor") should take into consideration the manufacturer ['s/s'] target market assessment; however, a distributor subject to the FCA Handbook Product Intervention and Product Governance Sourcebook (the "UK MiFIR Product Governance Rules") is responsible for undertaking its own target market assessment in respect of the Notes (by either adopting or refining the manufacturer ['s/s'] target market assessment) and determining appropriate distribution channels.]

PROHIBITION OF SALES TO EEA RETAIL INVESTORS – The Notes are not intended to be offered, sold or otherwise made available to and, should not be offered, sold or otherwise made available to any retail investor in the European Economic Area ("**EEA**"). For these purposes, a retail investor means a person who is one (or more) of: (i) a retail client as defined in point (11) of Article 4(1) of Directive 2014/65/EU ("**EU MiFID II**"); or (ii) a customer within the meaning of Directive 2016/97/EU on insurance distribution, as amended, where that customer would not qualify as a professional client as defined in point (10) of Article 4(1) of EU MiFID II or (iii) not a qualified investor as defined in the EU Prospectus Regulation. Consequently, no key information document required by Regulation (EU) No 1286/2014, as amended (the "**EU PRIIPs Regulation**") for offering or selling the Notes or otherwise making them available to retail investors in the EEA has been prepared and therefore offering or selling the Notes or otherwise making them available to any retail investor in the EEA may be unlawful under the EU PRIIPS Regulation.

[PROHIBITION OF SALES TO UK RETAIL INVESTORS – The Notes are not intended to be offered, sold or otherwise made available to and should not be offered, sold or otherwise made available to any retail investor in the United Kingdom ("UK"). For these purposes, a retail investor means a person who is one (or more) of: (i) a retail client, as defined in point (8) of Article 2 of Regulation (EU) No 2017/565 as it forms part of domestic law by virtue of the European Union (Withdrawal) Act 2018 ("EUWA"); or (ii) a customer within the meaning of the provisions of the FSMA and any rules or regulations made under the FSMA to implement Directive (EU) 2016/97, where that customer would not qualify as a professional client, as defined in point (8) of Article 2(1) of Regulation (EU) No 600/2014 as it forms part of domestic law by virtue of the EUWA. Consequently, no key information document required by Regulation (EU) No 1286/2014 as it forms part of domestic law by virtue of the EUWA (the "UK PRIIPs Regulation") for offering or selling the Notes or otherwise making them available to retail investors in the UK has been prepared and therefore offering or selling the Notes or otherwise making them available to any retail investor in the UK may be unlawful under the UK PRIIPs Regulation.]

Final Terms dated [●]

Valeo

Issue of [Aggregate Nominal Amount of Tranche] [Title of Notes] under the Euro 5,000,000,000 Euro Medium Term Note Programme

PART A – CONTRACTUAL TERMS

Terms used herein shall be deemed to be defined as such for the purposes of the Conditions set forth in the Base Prospectus dated 3 July 2024 which received approval no. 24-263 from the *Autorité des marchés financiers* (the "AMF") on 3 July 2024 [and the supplement to the Base Prospectus dated [•] which received approval no. [•] from the AMF on [•]] which [together] constitute[s] a base prospectus for the purposes of Regulation (EU) 2017/1129 of the European Parliament and of the Council of 14 June 2017 (as may be amended from time to time, the "EU Prospectus Regulation"). This document constitutes the Final Terms of the Notes described herein for the purposes of Article 8 of the EU Prospectus Regulation and must be read in conjunction with such Base Prospectus [as so supplemented]. Full information on the Issuer and the offer of the Notes is only available on the basis of the combination of these Final Terms and the Base Prospectus [as so supplemented]. [The Base Prospectus [and the supplement to the Base Prospectus] [and the Final Terms] [is] [are] available for viewing at the office of the Paying Agents during normal business hours and on the websites of (a) the *Autorité des marchés financiers* (www.amf-france.org) and (b) the Issuer (www.valeo.com) and copies may be obtained free of charge from Valeo, 100 rue de Courcelles, 75017 Paris, France. [In addition¹, the Base Prospectus [and the supplement to the Base Prospectus] [is] [are] available for viewing [at/on] [•]].

The following alternative language applies if the first tranche of an issue which is being increased was issued under a Prospectus with an earlier date.

[Terms used herein shall be deemed to be defined as such for the purposes of the Conditions (the "Conditions") which are the [2015/2017/2021/2022/2023] EMTN Conditions. This document constitutes the Final Terms of the Notes described herein for the purposes of Article 8 of Regulation (EU) 2017/1129 of the European Parliament and of the Council of 14 June 2017 (as may be amended from time to time, the "EU Prospectus Regulation") and must be read in conjunction with the Base Prospectus dated 3 July 2024 which received approval no. 24-263 from the Autorité des marchés financiers (the "AMF") on 3 July 2024 [and the supplement to the Base Prospectus dated [•] which received approval no.[•] from the AMF on [•]], which [together] constitute[s] a base prospectus for the purposes of the EU Prospectus Regulation, save in respect of the Conditions which are the [2015/2017/2021/2022/2023] EMTN Conditions. Full information on the Issuer and the offer of the Notes is only available on the basis of the combination of these Final Terms, the [2015/2017/2021/2022/2023] EMTN Conditions and the Base Prospectus dated [•] 2024 [and the supplement to the Base Prospectus dated [•] and [•]. [The Base Prospectus [and the supplement to the Base Prospectus] [is] [are] available for viewing at the office of the Paying Agents during normal business hours and on the websites of (a) the Autorité des marchés financiers (www.amf-france.org) and (b) the Issuer (www.valeo.com) and copies may be obtained free of charge from Valeo, 100 rue de Courcelles, 75017 Paris, France. [In addition⁴, the Base Prospectus [and the supplement to the Base Prospectus] [is] [are] available for viewing [at/on] [•]].]

1. Issuer: Valeo

2. [(i)] Series Number:

[•]

[(ii) Tranche Number:

[ullet]

[(iii) Date on which the Notes become fungible]

[Not Applicable/ The Notes will be assimilated (assimilées) and form a single series with the existing [insert description of the Series] issued by the Issuer on [insert date] (the "Existing Notes") as from the date of assimilation which is expected to be on or about forty (40) calendar days after the Issue Date (the "Assimilation Date").]

⁴ If the Notes are admitted to trading on a regulated market other than Euronext Paris.

3. Specified Currency: [●]

4. Aggregate Nominal [●]

Amount of Notes:

[(i)] Series: [●]

[(ii) Tranche: [●]]

5. Issue Price: [●] per cent. of the Aggregate Nominal Amount [plus accrued

interest from [insert date] (if applicable)]

6. Specified Denomination: [●]

7. (i) Issue Date: [●]

(ii) Interest [Specify/Issue Date/Not Applicable]

Commencement Date:

8. Maturity Date: [specify date or (for Floating Rate Notes) Interest Payment Date

falling in or nearest to the relevant month and year]

9. Interest Basis: [[•] per cent. Fixed Rate [, subject to the Step Up Option]]

[[specify reference rate] +/– $[\bullet]$ per cent. Floating Rate [, subject

to the Step Up Option]]

[Zero Coupon]

10. Redemption Basis: Subject to any purchase and cancellation or early redemption, the

Notes will be redeemed on the Maturity Date at [100] per cent. of

their nominal amount

11. Put/Call Options: [Put Option]

[Call Option]

[Make-whole Redemption by the Issuer]

[Residual Maturity Call Option]

[Clean-Up Call Option]

[(further particulars specified below)]

12. Change of Control: [Change of Control Put Option/Condition 6(c)(ii) will not apply]

13. (i) Status of the Notes: Unsubordinated Notes

[(ii)] [Date of corporate authorisations for issuance

of Notes:

[Resolution of the General Meeting of the shareholders of the Issuer dated $[\bullet]$ [Resolution of the Board of Directors of the Issuer dated $[\bullet]$ [and the décision d'émission dated $[\bullet]$ (in the case of syndicated issue only)] [(N.B. Only relevant where Board (or similar) authorisation is required for the particular Tranche of Notes)]

PROVISIONS RELATING TO INTEREST (IF ANY)
PAYABLE

14. Fixed Rate Note Provisions [Applicable/Not Applicable] (If not applicable, delete the

remaining sub-paragraphs of this paragraph)

(i) Rate[(s)] of Interest: (If the Notes are subject to the Step Up Option)

[The Notes are subject to the Step Up Option

The Initial Rate of Interest is [●] per cent. per annum [payable in

arrear on each Interest Payment Date

(further particulars specified in item 18 of these Final Terms)]

(If the Notes are not subject to the Step Up Option)

[•] per cent. per annum [payable in arrear on each Interest Payment Date]

(ii) Interest Payment Date(s):

[•] in each year [adjusted in accordance with [specify Business Day Convention and any applicable additional Business Centre(s) for the definition of "Business Day"]⁵ / unadjusted]

(iii) Fixed Coupon Amount $[(s)]^6$:

[●] per Note of [●] Specified Denomination

(iv) Broken Amount(s):

[Not Applicable / [•] payable on the Interest Payment Date falling [in/on] [•]]

(v) Day Count Fraction:

[[Actual/Actual (ISDA) / Actual/Actual (ICMA) / Actual/365 (Fixed) / Actual/360 / 30/360 / 360/360 / Bond Basis / 30E/360 / Eurobond Basis / 30E/360 (ISDA)]]

(vi) Determination Dates:

[•] in each year (insert regular interest payment dates, ignoring issue date or maturity date in the case of a long or short first or last coupon. N.B. only relevant where Day Count Fraction is Actual/Actual (ICMA) or for Renminbi Notes)

(vii) Other terms relating to the method of calculating interest for Fixed Rate Notes: [Not Applicable/give details]

(viii) Party responsible for calculating Interest Amounts (if not the Calculation Agent)⁷

[•]/[Not Applicable]

15. Floating Rate Note Provisions

[Applicable/Not Applicable] (If not applicable, delete the remaining sub-paragraphs of this paragraph)

[The Notes are subject to the Step Up Option (further particulars specified in paragraph 18 below)]/[The Notes are not subject to the Step Up Option]

(i) Interest Period(s):

[•]

(ii) Specified Interest Payment Dates:

- [•] in each year, subject to adjustment in accordance with the Business Day Convention set out in (iv) below
- (iii) First Interest Payment Date:

[•]

(iv) Interest Period Date:

[Interest Payment Date/[●]]

(v) Business Day Convention:

[Floating Rate Business Day Convention/ Following Business Day Convention/ Modified Following Business Day Convention/ Preceding Business Day Convention/ other (give details)]

(vi) Business Centre(s):

(vii) Manner in which the Rate(s) of Interest is/are to be determined:

[Screen Rate Determination/ISDA Determination]

⁵ This option should be selected for Renminbi Notes.

Not applicable for Renminbi Notes.

⁷ Renminbi Notes only.

(viii) Party responsible for calculating the Rate(s) of Interest and / or Interest Amount(s) (if not the [Fiscal Agent]):

 $[\bullet]$

[(ix) ISDA Determination

[Applicable/Not Applicable]

(if not applicable, delete the remaining subparagraphs

of this paragraph)

- ISDA Definition: [2006 ISDA Definitions]

Floating Rate Option: [●]Designated Maturity: [●]

- Reset Date: [●]]

(x) Screen Rate Determination - IBOR:

[Applicable/Not Applicable]

- Benchmark: [LIBID, LIMEAN, CMS, EURIBOR or other benchmark]

- Relevant Rate: [●]

(If the Rate of Interest is determined by linear interpolation in respect of an interest period (as per Condition 5(c)(iii)(B)(e)), insert the relevant interest period(s) and the relevant two rates used for such determination)

used for such determination)

InterestDetermination Date(s):

[[•] [TARGET] Settlement Days in [specify city] for [specify tte(s): currency] prior to [the first day in each Interest Period/each

Interest Payment Date]]

(Where the Benchmark is SONIA include the wording below)

– Effective Date: [●]– Relevant Time: [●]

- Primary Source: [Specify relevant Page or "Reference Banks"]

Reference BanksPrimary Source (if is "Reference Banks"):

[Specify four]

Relevant Financial Centre:

[The financial centre most closely connected to the Benchmark - specify if not Paris]

RepresentativeAmount:

[Specify the notional amount if Page or Reference Bank quotations are to be given in respect of a transaction of a specified

notional amount]

- [Specified Duration: [●]]

(xi) Screen Rate Determination – SONIA:

[Applicable/Not Applicable]

- "p": [●] / [Not Applicable]

- Relevant Screen Page: [●]

- Calculation Method: [Lag Method/Observation Shift Method/Not Applicable]

- Observation Method: [Lag/Lock-out]

(xii) Screen Rate [Applicable/Not Applicable] Determination – SOFR:

- "p": [•] - Relevant Time: [•] - Relevant Financial $[\bullet]$ Centre: (xiii) Screen Rate [Applicable/Not Applicable] Determination – €STR: - Observation Method [Lag/Observation Shift] [- Lag Period: [•]] Observation Shift $[\bullet]$ Period: (xiii)Margin(s): (If the Notes are subject to the Step Up Option) [The initial Margin is] [+/-][●] per cent. per annum] (*If the Notes are determined by reference to SOFR or €STR*) [The [initial] Margin is [+/-][•] per cent. per annum (specify any variations to the Margin)] (xiv)Rate Multiplier: [Not applicable]/[●] [Zero (0)/ $[\bullet]$ per cent. per annum]⁸ (xv) Minimum Rate of Interest: (xvi) Maximum Rate of [[Not Applicable]/[•] per cent. per annum] Interest: (xvii) Day Count Fraction: [•] 16. Change of Interest Basis: [Applicable/Not Applicable] (If not applicable, delete the sub-paragraphs of this paragraph) (i) Change of Interest Basis [Applicable/Not Applicable] by the Issuer: (ii) Automatic Change of [Applicable/Not Applicable] **Interest Basis:** Rate of Interest Determined in accordance with [Condition 5(b), provided that the applicable to the Interest Notes are Fixed Rate Notes/Condition 5(c), provided that the Periods before the Switch Notes are Floating Rate Notes], as described in item [15/16] of Date (excluded): these Final Terms Determined in accordance with [Condition 5(b), so long as the Rate of Interest Notes will be Fixed Rate Notes/Condition 5(c), so long as the applicable to the Interest Periods after the Switch Notes will be Floating Rate Notes], as described in item [15/16] of these Final Terms Date (included): (v) Switch Date: [[•] Business Days before the Switch Date (in case of an (vi) Notice period for the Issuer to inform the Automatic Change of Interest)/Not Applicable] Noteholders: 17. Zero Coupon Note [Applicable/Not Applicable] **Provisions** (If not applicable, delete the remaining sub-paragraphs of this paragraph)

[360/365/other][Not Applicable]

- D:

⁸ The Minimum Rate of Interest shall not be less than zero.

	(i) Amortisation Yield:	[●] per cent. per annum		
	(ii) Day Count Fraction:	[•]		
	(iii) Reference Price:	[•]		
	(iv) Any other formula/basis of determining amount payable:	[•]		
18.	Step Up Option	[Applicable/Not Applicable]		
		(If not applicable, delete the remaining sub-paragraphs of this paragraph)		
	(i) Step Up Event:	[Adjusted Carbon Footprint KPI Event]/[Sustainable Procurement KPI Event]		
		[(i) [Adjusted Carbon Footprint SPT]/[Sustainable Procurement SPT][s]: [●] (ii) Target Observation Date: [●] ⁹]		
	(ii) Step Up Margin:	[●] per cent. per annum		
	(iii) Step Up Date(s):	[●]		
19.	Premium Payment	[Applicable/Not Applicable]		
		(If not applicable, delete the remaining sub-paragraphs of this paragraph)		
	(i) Premium Trigger Event:	[Adjusted Carbon Footprint KPI Event]/[Sustainable Procurement KPI Event]		
		[(i) [Adjusted carbon Footprint SPT]/[Sustainable Procurement SPT]: [●] (ii) Target Observation Date: [●]¹⁰]		
	(ii) Premium Payment Amount:	[●] per Note of [●] Specified Denomination		
	(iii) Premium Payment Date	[•]		
		PROVISIONS RELATING TO REDEMPTION		
20.	Issuer Call Option	[Applicable/Not Applicable]		
		(If not applicable, delete the remaining sub-paragraphs of this paragraph)		
	(i) Optional Redemption Date(s) (Call):	[•]		
	(ii) Optional Redemption Amount(s) (Call) of each Note:	[●] per Note of [●] specified denomination		
	(iii) If redeemable in part:			
	(a) Minimum Redemption Amount:	[•]		

⁹ 31 December 2025 or 31 December 2030

¹⁰ 31 December 2025 or 31 December 2030

Maximum $[\bullet]$ Redemption Amount: (iv) Notice period: [Condition 6(b)(i) will apply] / [●] 21. Make-whole Redemption [Applicable/Not Applicable] by the Issuer: (If not applicable, delete the remaining sub-paragraphs of this paragraph) (i) Notice Period¹¹: [Condition 6(b)(ii) will apply] / [•] (ii) Parties to be notified (if [[•] /Not Applicable] other than set out in Condition 6(b)(ii) Make-whole (iii) [•] Redemption Margin: (iv) Make-whole [●] Calculation Agent: (v) Reference Screen Rate: [[•] /Not Applicable] (vi) Reference Security: [[•] /Not Applicable] [Not applicable/As set out in the Conditions] (vii) Reference Dealers: 22. Residual Maturity Call [Applicable/Not Applicable] Option: (If not applicable, delete the remaining sub-paragraph of this paragraph) Date from which the The Issuer may exercise the Residual Maturity Call Option Residual Maturity Call starting on [•] and at any time thereafter. Option may be exercised: 23. Clean-Up Call Option: [Applicable/Not Applicable] 24. **Put Option** [Applicable/Not Applicable] (If not applicable, delete the remaining sub-paragraphs of this paragraph) (i) Optional Redemption $[\bullet]$ Date(s) (Put): (ii) Optional Redemption [●] per Note of [●] specified denomination Amount(s) (Put) of each Note: (iii) Notice period: [Condition 6(c)(i) will apply] / [●] 25. Change of Control Put Condition 6(c)(ii) will apply Option: Final Redemption Amount [[•] per Note of [•] specified denomination] 26. of each Note

_

27.

Early Redemption Amount

Redemption

(Tax

 $[\bullet]$

(Tax or Illegality)

Early

Amount(s)

If setting notice periods which are different to those provided in the conditions, the Issuer is advised to consider the practicalities of distribution of information through intermediaries, for example, clearing systems, as well as any other notice requirements which may apply, for example, as between the Issuer and its Fiscal Agent.

Illegality) of each Note payable on redemption for taxation reasons, on an event of default or other early redemption:

GENERAL PROVISIONS APPLICABLE TO THE NOTES

28. Form of Notes:

[Dematerialised Notes/Materialised Notes] (Materialised Notes are only in bearer form) [Delete as appropriate]

(i) Form of Dematerialised Notes:

[Applicable/Not Applicable] (If applicable, specify whether bearer dematerialised form (au porteur) / registered dematerialised form (au nominatif administré) / fully registered dematerialised form (au nominatif pur))

(ii) Registration Agent:

[Not Applicable/If Applicable, give name and details]

(Note that a Registration Agent may be appointed in relation to Dematerialised Notes in fully registered form (au nominatif pur) only)

(iii) Temporary Global Certificate:

[Not Applicable/Temporary Global Certificate exchangeable for Definitive Bearer Materialised Notes on [•] (the "Exchange Date"), being 40 calendar days after the Issue Date subject to postponement as provided in the Temporary Global Certificate]

(iv) Applicable TEFRA exemption:

[C Rules/D Rules/Not Applicable] (Only applicable to Materialised Notes)

(v) [Exclusion of the possibility to request identification information of the Noteholders as provided by Condition 1(a)(i):

[Applicable] (If the possibility to request identification information of the Noteholders as provided by Condition l(a)(i) is contemplated, delete this paragraph)]

29. Financial Centre(s):

[Not Applicable/give details] [Note that this item relates to the date and place of payment, and not interest period end dates, to which item 16(v) relates]

30. Talons for future Coupons to be attached to Definitive Bearer Materialised Notes (and dates on which such Talons mature):

[Yes/No. If yes, give details]

31. Redenomination, renominalisation and reconventioning provisions:

[Not Applicable/The provisions [in Condition 1(d)] apply]

32. Consolidation provisions:

[Not Applicable/The provisions [in Condition 13(b)] apply]

33. Masse

[Insert below details of Representative and alternate (if any)

Representative and remuneration, if any:

Name and address of the Representative: [●]

[Name and address of the alternate Representative: [●]]]

[The Representative will be entitled to a remuneration of [•] per year/The Representative will not be entitled to a Remuneration.]

[If the Notes are held by a sole Noteholder, insert the wording below:

As long as the Notes are held by a sole Noteholder, it shall exercise all rights and obligations assigned by law to the Representative and the general meeting of the Noteholders. A Representative will be appointed by the Issuer as soon as the Notes are held by several Noteholders.]

DISTRIBUTION

34. (i) If syndicated, names of Managers:

[Not Applicable/give names]

(ii) Stabilisation Manager(s) (if any):

[Not Applicable/give name]

35. If non-syndicated, name of [Not Applicable/give name]

Dealer

36. US Selling Restrictions(Categories of potential investors to which the Notes are offered):

Reg. S Compliance Category 2 applies to the Notes; [TEFRA C applies to the Materialised Notes/TEFRA D applies to the Materialised Notes/ TEFRA not applicable to Dematerialised Notes]

PURPOSE OF FINAL TERMS

These Final Terms comprise the final terms required for issue and admission to trading on [Euronext Paris /other (specify relevant Regulated Market)] of the Notes described herein pursuant to the Euro 5,000,000,000 Euro Medium Term Note Programme of Valeo (the "Issuer").

RESPONSIBILITY

The Issuer accepts responsibility for the information contained in these Final Terms. [(Relevant third party information)] has been extracted from [(specify source)]. The Issuer confirms that such information has been accurately reproduced and that, so far as it is aware, and is able to ascertain from information published by [(specify source)], no facts have been omitted which would render the reproduced information inaccurate or misleading in any material respect.]

Ву:	
Duly authorised	

Signed on behalf of the Issuer:

PART B - OTHER INFORMATION

1. LISTING AND ADMISSION TO TRADING

(i) Listing: [Euronext Paris/Other (specify)/None]

(ii) Admission to trading: [Appl

[Application has been made by the Issuer (or on its behalf) for the Notes to be listed and admitted to trading on [Euronext Paris/other (specify relevant Regulated Market)] with effect from [•]. [Application is expected to be made by the Issuer (or on its behalf) for the Notes to be admitted to trading on [Euronext Paris/other (specify relevant Regulated Market)] with effect from [•].]/[Not Applicable.]

(Where documenting a fungible issue need to indicate that original Notes are already admitted to trading.)

(iii) Estimate of total expenses related to admission to trading:

[ullet]

2. RATINGS

Ratings:

[The Notes to be issued [have been]/[are expected to be] rated:

[S & P: [•]] [Moody's: [•]] [[Other]: [•]]

(Include a brief explanation of the meaning of the ratings if this has previously been published by the rating provider.)

(The above disclosure should reflect the rating allocated to Notes of the type being issued under the Programme generally or, where the issue has been specifically rated, that rating.)

[Each of [S & P, Moody's] is established in the European Union, registered under Regulation (EC) No 1060/2009, as amended (the "EU CRA Regulation") and included in the list of registered credit rating agencies published by the European Securities and Markets Authority on its website (https://www.esma.europa.eu/credit-rating-agencies/cra-authorisation) in accordance with EU CRA Regulation.] /

[[Insert credit rating agency] is established in the European Union and has applied for registration under Regulation (EC) No 1060/2009, as amended (the "EU CRA Regulation"), although notification of the corresponding registration decision has not yet been provided by the relevant competent authority. In general, European regulated investors are restricted from using a rating for regulatory purposes if such rating is not issued by a credit rating agency established in the European Union and registered the EU CRA Regulation unless the rating is provided by a credit rating agency operating in the European Union before 7 June 2010 which has submitted an application for registration in accordance with the EU CRA Regulation and such registration is not refused.]

[[Insert credit rating agency] is not established in the European Union and has not applied for registration under Regulation (EC) No 1060/2009, as amended (the "EU CRA Regulation"), but is endorsed by [insert credit rating agency] which is established in

the European Union, registered under the EU CRA Regulation and included in the list of registered credit rating agencies published by the European Securities and Markets Authority on its website (https://www.esma.europa.eu/credit-rating-agencies/cra-authorisation) in accordance with EU CRA Regulation.]

[Insert credit rating agency] is not established in the European Union and has not applied for registration under Regulation (EC) No 1060/2009, as amended.]]

[[The rating [Insert legal name of credit rating agency] has given to the Notes is endorsed by a credit agency which is established in the UK and registered under Regulation (EC) No 1060/2009 as it forms part of domestic law of the United Kingdom by virtue of the European Union (Withdrawal) Act 2018 (the "UK CRA Regulation").]

[[Insert legal name of credit rating agency] has been certified under Regulation (EC) No 1060/2009 as it forms part of domestic law of the United Kingdom by virtue of the European Union (Withdrawal) Act 2018 (the "UK CRA Regulation").]

[[Insert legal name of credit rating agency] has not been certified under Regulation (EC) No 1060/2009, as it forms part of domestic law of the United Kingdom by virtue of the European Union (Withdrawal) Act 2018 (the "UK CRA Regulation") and the rating it has given to the Notes is not endorsed by a credit rating agency established in the UK and registered under the UK CRA Regulation.]

[The Notes will not be rated.]

3. [INTERESTS OF NATURAL AND LEGAL PERSONS INVOLVED IN THE [ISSUE/OFFER]

Need to include a description of any interest, including a conflict of interests, that is material to the issue/offer, detailing the persons involved and the nature of the interest. May be satisfied by the inclusion of the following statement:

"Save as discussed in the Section "Subscription and Sale" of the Base Prospectus, so far as the Issuer is aware, no person involved in the offer of the Notes has an interest material to the offer."]

[(When adding any other description, consideration should be given as to whether such matters described constitute "significant new factors" and consequently trigger the need for a supplement to the Base Prospectus under Article 23 of the EU Prospectus Regulation.)]

4. [Fixed Rate Notes only – YIELD

Indication of yield:

[•]. per cent. per annum

The yield is calculated at the Issue Date on the basis of the Issue Price. It is not an indication of future yield.]

5. [Floating Rate Notes only – HISTORIC INTEREST RATES

Historic Interest Rate

Details of historic [LIBID/LIMEAN/CMS/EURIBOR/SONIA/SOFR/€STR other] rates can be obtained from [●].

Benchmarks:

Amounts payable under the Notes will be calculated by reference to [●] which is provided by [•]. As at [●],[●] [appears/does not appear] on the register of administrators and benchmarks established and maintained by the European Securities and Markets Authority pursuant to Article 36 of the EU Benchmarks Regulation (Regulation (EU) 2016/1011) (the "EU Benchmarks Regulation"). [As far as the Issuer is aware the transitional provisions in Article 51 of the EU Benchmarks Regulation apply, such that [•] is not currently required to obtain authorisation or registration (or, if located outside the European Union, recognition, endorsement or equivalence).]]/

[Amounts payable under the Notes will be calculated by reference to [specify benchmark], which is provided by [administrator legal name]. As at [●], [administrator legal name] [appears][does not appear] on the register of administrators and benchmarks established and maintained by the Financial Conduct Authority pursuant to Article 36 of the EU Benchmarks Regulation (Regulation (EU) 2016/1011) as it forms part of domestic law of the United Kingdom by virtue of the European (Withdrawal) Act 2018 (the "UK Benchmarks Regulation").]/ [Not Applicable (in the case of Notes for which amounts payable are calculated by reference to SONIA, SOFR or €STR)]

6. REASONS FOR THE OFFER AND USE OF PROCEEDS

[Reasons for the offer:

[The net proceeds of the issue of the Notes will be used for the Issuer's general corporate purposes/specify any other reason.]

[The Notes constitute Sustainability Linked Notes pursuant to the Framework which is available on the website of the Issuer ($[\bullet]$).]

[The Notes constitute Green Bonds and the net proceeds will be used to finance and/or refinance [in whole or in part] one or more Green Eligible Projects pursuant to the Framework which is available on the website of the Issuer ($[\bullet]$) and described below.

[Describe specific Green Eligible Projects and/or availability of second party opinion and any relevant third party opinions and/or where the information can be obtained]]

(See "Use of Proceeds" wording in Base Prospectus. If reasons for offer are different from making profit and/or hedging certain risks, will need to include those reasons here)

Estimated net proceeds:

 $[\bullet]$

7. **OPERATIONAL INFORMATION**

(i) ISIN Code: [●]

(ii) Common Code: [●]

(iii) Any clearing system(s) other than Euroclear France, Euroclear Bank S.A./N.V. and

[Not Applicable/give name(s) and number(s)]

Clearstream Banking S.A. and the relevant identification number(s):

(iv) Delivery:

8.

Delivery [against/free of] payment

- (v) Names and addresses of [•] Initial Paying Agent(s):
- (vi) Names and addresses of [●] additional Paying Agent(s) (if any):
- (vii) Name and address of any paying agent(s) and depository agent(s) in each country (in addition to the Principal Paying Agent): [●]

The aggregate nominal amount of Notes issued has been translated into Euro at the rate of [•], producing a sum of (for Notes not denominated in Euro):

GENERAL

[Not Applicable/Euro [●]]

GENERAL INFORMATION

(1) AMF approval and admission to trading of the Notes issued under the Programme

This Base Prospectus received the approval no. 24-263 on 3 July 2024 from the AMF. The AMF only approves this Base Prospectus as meeting the standards of completeness, comprehensibility and consistency imposed by the EU Prospectus Regulation. Such approval should not be considered as an endorsement of the Issuer and of the quality of the Notes which are subject to this Base Prospectus. Investors should make their own assessment as to the suitability of investing in the Notes.

This Base Prospectus shall be valid for admission to trading of Notes on a Regulated Market for twelve (12) months after the approval by the AMF, until 3 July 2025, provided that it is completed by any supplement, pursuant to Article 23 of the EU Prospectus Regulation, following the occurrence of a significant new factor, a material mistake or a material inaccuracy relating to the information included (including information incorporated by reference) in this Base Prospectus which may affect the assessment of the Notes. After such date, this Base Prospectus will expire and the obligation to supplement this Base Prospectus in the event of significant new factors, material mistakes or material inaccuracies will no longer apply.

Notes may also be issued pursuant to the Programme which will not be listed and admitted to trading on Euronext Paris or any other stock exchange or which will be listed or admitted to trading on such Regulated Market as the Issuer and the relevant Dealer(s) may agree.

(2) The Legal Entity Identifier (LEI)

The Legal Entity Identifier (LEI) of the Issuer is 5493006IH2N2WMIBB742.

(3) *Corporate authorisations*

The Issuer has obtained all necessary corporate and other consents, approvals and authorisations in France in connection with the Programme, including the resolution of the Board of Directors (conseil d'administration) of the Issuer passed on 29 February 2024 authorising the update of the Programme.

The Board of Directors (conseil d'administration) of the Issuer authorised on 29 February 2024 its Chief Executive Officer (Directeur Général) to issue bonds (obligations) under the Programme up to a maximum aggregate amount of \mathfrak{E}_5 billion within the limits set by the Board of Directors (conseil d'administration).

(4) Material adverse change in the prospects of the Issuer

Save as disclosed in this Base Prospectus (including the Documents Incorporated by Reference), there has been no material adverse change in the prospects of the Issuer since 31 December 2023.

(5) No significant change in the financial performance or financial position of the Issuer or the Group

There has been no significant change in the financial performance or financial position of the Issuer or the Group since 31 March 2024.

(6) Conflicts of interests

As the date hereof, there are not potential conflicts of interest between the private interests or other duties of members of the board of directors of the Issuer and the duties they owe to the Issuer.

(7) Legal and arbitration proceedings

Save as disclosed in this Base Prospectus (including the Documents Incorporated by Reference), there have been no governmental, legal or arbitration proceedings (including any such proceedings which are pending or threatened of which the Issuer is aware) during the period of 12 months prior

to the date of this Base Prospectus which, to the Issuer's knowledge, may have, or have had in the recent past, significant effects on the financial position or profitability of the Issuer or the Group.

(8) Definitive Bearer Materialised Note

Each Definitive Bearer Materialised Note, Coupon and Talon will bear the following legend: "Any United States person who holds this obligation will be subject to limitations under the United States income tax laws, including the limitations provided in Sections 165(j) and 1287(a) of the Internal Revenue Code".

(9) *Clearing systems*

Application may be made for Notes to be accepted for clearance through Euroclear France and/or Euroclear and Clearstream systems. The appropriate Common Code, the International Securities Identification Number (ISIN) and (where applicable) the identification number for any other relevant clearing system for each Series of Notes will be set out in the relevant Final Terms.

Dematerialised Notes will be inscribed in the books of Euroclear France, acting as central depositary. Dematerialised Notes which are in registered form (*au nominatif*) are also inscribed either with the Issuer or with the registration agent.

The address of Euroclear France is 66 rue de la Victoire 75009 Paris, France, the address of Euroclear is 1 boulevard du Roi Albert II, B-1210 Brussels, Belgium and the address of Clearstream is 42 avenue J.F. Kennedy, L-1855 Luxembourg, Grand-Duchy of Luxembourg.

(10) Documents on display

The following documents can be inspected on the website of the Issuer (www.valeo.com):

- (i) the up-to-date *statuts* of the Issuer;
- (ii) a copy of this Base Prospectus (including any documents incorporated by reference and any Supplements to this Base Prospectus); and
- (iii) any Final Terms relating to Notes that are admitted to trading on Euronext Paris or any other Regulated Market,

and the Agency Agreement (which includes the form of the *Lettre Comptable*, the form of the Temporary Global Certificate and the forms of the Definitive Materialised Notes and the Coupons, Receipts and Talons in relation thereto) will be available for inspection at the specified offices of the Fiscal Agent or each of the Paying Agents during normal business hours, so long as Notes may be issued pursuant to, or are outstanding under, this Base Prospectus.

This Base Prospectus, any supplement to this Base Prospectus and the Final Terms related to Notes admitted to trading on Euronext Paris will also be available on the website of the AMF (www.amf-france.org).

(11) Statutory auditors

Ernst & Young et Autres, 1/2, place des Saisons, 92400 Courbevoie – Paris La Défense, France and Forvis Mazars, Exaltis - 61, rue Henri Régnault, 92400 Courbevoie, France have audited and rendered unqualified audit reports on the consolidated financial statements of the Issuer for the two financial years ended 31 December 2023 and 31 December 2022. Ernst & Young et Autres and Forvis Mazars are members of the French professional body *Compagnie Régionale des Commissaires aux Comptes de Versailles*.

(12) Ratings

The long-term debt of the Issuer has been rated "Baa3, negative outlook" by Moody's Investors Service ("**Moody's**") and "BB+, negative outlook", by S&P Global Ratings ("**S&P**").

Moody's and S&P are credit rating agencies established in the European Union and registered under Regulation (EC) No 1060/2009 (as amended) on credit rating agencies. None of Moody's or S&P are established in the United Kingdom (the "UK"), or are registered in accordance with Regulation (EC) No 1060/2009 as it forms part of domestic law of the UK by virtue of the European Union (Withdrawal) Act 2018 (the "UK CRA Regulation"). The ratings of Moody's and S&P have been endorsed by Moody's Investors Service Ltd. and S&P Global Ratings UK Limited, respectively, in accordance with the UK CRA Regulation and have not been withdrawn. As such, the ratings issued by each of Moody's and S&P may be used for regulatory purposes in the UK in accordance with the UK CRA Regulation.

Notes issued under the Programme may be rated or unrated. The rating of the Notes, if any, will be specified in the relevant Final Terms. Credit ratings are subject to revision, suspension or withdrawal at any time by the relevant rating organisation. A rating is not a recommendation to buy, sell or hold securities and may be subject to suspension, change or withdrawal at any time by the assigning credit rating agency without notice.

(13) Stabilisation

In connection with the issue of any Tranche of Notes, one or more Dealers may act as stabilisation manager(s) (the "Stabilisation Manager(s)"). The identity of the Stabilisation Manager(s) (or persons acting on the behalf of any Stabilisation Manager(s)) will be disclosed in the relevant Final Terms. The Stabilisation Manager(s) (or any person acting on the behalf of the Stabilisation Manager(s)) may over-allot Notes, or effect transactions with a view to supporting the market price of the Notes at a level higher than that which might otherwise prevail. However, stabilisation may not necessarily occur. Any stabilisation action may begin on or after the date on which adequate public disclosure of the Final Terms of the relevant Tranche of Notes is made and, if begun, may cease at any time, but it must end no later than the earlier of thirty (30) calendar days after the issue date of the relevant Tranche of Notes and sixty (60) calendar days after the date of the allotment of the relevant Tranche of Notes. Any stabilisation action or over-allotment shall be conducted by the relevant Stabilisation Manager(s) (or persons acting on behalf of any Stabilisation Manager(s)) in accordance with all applicable laws and rules.

(14) References in this Base Prospectus

In this Base Prospectus, unless otherwise specified or the context otherwise requires, references to "€", "Euro", "EUR" or "euro" are to the lawful currency of the participating Member States of the European Union which was introduced on 1 January 1999, references to "£", "pounds sterling", "GBP" and "Sterling" are to the lawful currency of the United Kingdom, references to "\$", "USD" and "U.S. Dollars" are to the lawful currency of the United States of America, references to "¥", "JPY", "Japanese yen" and "Yen" are to the lawful currency of Japan, references to "Swiss francs" or "CHF" are to the lawful currency of the Helvetic Confederation and references to "Renminbi" or "CNY" mean Renminbi Yuan and are to the lawful currency of the People's Republic of China, excluding the Hong Kong Special Administrative Region, the Macau Special Administrative Region and Taiwan (the "PRC").

In this Base Prospectus, any discrepancies in any table between totals and the sums of the amounts listed in such table are due to rounding.

(15) Forward-looking statements

Some sections of this Base Prospectus and, in particular, the sections entitled "Description of Valeo" and "Recent Developments", and of the documents incorporated by reference referred to in the section entitled "Documents incorporated by Reference" of this Base Prospectus, contain forward-looking statements. The Issuer may also make forward-looking statements in its audited annual financial statements, in its interim financial statements, in its offering circulars, in press releases and other written materials and in oral statements made by its officers, directors or employees to third parties. Statements that are not historical facts, including statements about the Issuer's beliefs and expectations, are forward looking statements. These statements are based on current plans, estimates and projections, and therefore undue reliance should not be placed on them.

Forward-looking statements speak only as of the date they are made, and the Issuer undertakes no obligation to update publicly any of them in light of new information or future events.

(16) EU Benchmarks Regulation and UK Benchmarks Regulation

Amounts payable under the Floating Rate Notes may be calculated by reference to one or more "benchmarks" (excluding SONIA, SOFR and &STR, as provided in Article 2 of the EU Benchmarks Regulation and article 2 of the UK Benchmarks Regulation) for the purposes of the EU Benchmarks Regulation or the UK Benchmarks Regulation. In such a case, the relevant Final Terms in respect of such issuance of Floating Rate Notes will specify the relevant benchmark, the relevant administrator of such benchmark and whether such administrator appears on the register of administrators and benchmarks established and maintained by the European Securities and Markets Authority or the register of administrators and benchmarks established and maintained by the Financial Conduct Authority, as applicable.

(17) Potential Conflicts of Interest

All or some of the Dealers and their affiliates (including their parent companies) have and/or may in the future engage, in the ordinary course of business, in investment banking, commercial banking and/or other financial advisory and commercial dealings with the Issuer and its affiliates and in relation to securities issued by any entity of the Group. They have or may, in the ordinary course of business, (i) engage in investment banking, trading or hedging activities including activities that may include prime brokerage business, financing transactions or entry into derivative transactions, (ii) act as underwriters in connection with offering of shares or other securities issued by any entity of the Group or (iii) act as financial advisers to the Issuer or other companies of the Group. In the context of these transactions, certain of such Dealers have or may hold shares or other securities issued by entities of the Group. Where applicable, they have or will receive customary fees and commissions for these transactions.

Potential conflicts of interest may also arise between the Calculation Agent, if any, for a Tranche and the Noteholders, including with respect to certain discretionary determinations and judgements that such Calculation Agent may make pursuant to the Terms and Conditions.

Where a Dealer acts as Calculation Agent and/or as swap counterparty in respect of an issuance of Notes under the Programme, potential conflicts of interest may arise and, in particular, between the Calculation Agent and Noteholders with respect to certain discretionary determinations and judgments that such Calculation Agent may make pursuant to the Conditions.

The Issuer may appoint a Dealer as Calculation Agent in respect of an issuance of Notes under the Programme. In such a case the Calculation Agent is likely to be a member of an international financial group that is involved, in the ordinary course of its business, in a wide range of banking activities out of which conflicting interests may arise. Whilst such a Calculation Agent will, where relevant, have information barriers and procedures in place to manage conflicts of interest, it may in its other banking activities from time to time be engaged in transactions involving an index or related derivatives which may affect amounts receivable by Noteholders during the term and on the maturity of the Notes or the market price, liquidity or value of the Notes.

PERSON RESPONSIBLE FOR BASE PROSPECTUS

Person responsible for this Base Prospectus

Christophe Périllat, Chief Executive Officer.

Declaration by person responsible for this Base Prospectus

I declare, to the best of my knowledge, that the information contained in this Base Prospectus is in accordance with the facts and contains no omission likely to affect its import.

Paris, 3 July 2024

Valeo

100, rue de Courcelles 75017 Paris Cedex 17 France

Duly represented by Christophe Périllat Chief Executive Officer



This Base Prospectus has been approved by the AMF in its capacity as competent authority under Regulation (EU) 2017/1129 (the "EU Prospectus Regulation").

The AMF has approved this Base Prospectus after having verified that the information it contains is complete, coherent and comprehensible.

This approval should not be considered as a favourable opinion on the Issuer and on the quality of the Notes described in this Base Prospectus. Investors should make their own assessment of the opportunity to invest in such Notes.

The Base Prospectus has been approved on 3 July 2024 and is valid until 3 July 2025 and shall during this period, in accordance with Article 23 of the EU Prospectus Regulation, be completed by a supplement to the Base Prospectus in the event of new material facts or substantial errors or inaccuracies. The Base Prospectus has been given the following approval number: 24-263.

Registered Office of the Issuer

Valeo

100, rue de Courcelles 75017 Paris France

Arranger

BNP Paribas

16, boulevard des Italiens 75009 Paris France

Dealers

BNP Paribas

16, boulevard des Italiens 75009 Paris France

Citigroup Global Markets Europe AG

Reuterweg 16 60323 Frankfurt am Main Germany

Crédit Industriel et Commercial S.A.

6, avenue de Provence 75452 Paris cedex 09 France

Landesbank Hessen-Thüringen Girozentrale

Maintower
Neue Mainzer Strasse 52 – 58
60311 Frankfurt am Main Germany

MUFG Securities (Europe) N.V.

World Trade Center, Tower One, 11th Floor Zuidplein 98 1077 XV Amsterdam The Netherlands

CaixaBank, S.A.

Pintor Sorolla, 2-4 46002 Valencia Spain

Crédit Agricole Corporate and Investment Bank

12, place des Etats-Unis CS 70052 92547 Montrouge Cedex France

ING Bank N.V., Belgian Branch

Avenue Marnix 24 1000 Brussels Belgium

Mizuho Securities Europe GmbH

Taunustor 1 60310 Frankfurt am Main Germany

Natixis

7 promenade Germaine Sablon 75013 Paris France

Société Générale

29, boulevard Haussmann 75009 Paris France

Fiscal Agent, Principal Paying Agent, Calculation Agent, Redenomination Agent, Consolidation Agent and Put Agent

BNP Paribas

(Affiliated with Euroclear France under number 29106)

Corporate Trust Services Grand Moulins de Pantin 9 rue du Débarcadère 93500 Pantin France

Attention: Corporate Trust Services

Auditors to the Issuer

Ernst & Young et Autres

1/2, place des Saisons 92400 Courbevoie Paris La Défense 1 France

Forvis Mazars

Exaltis 61, rue Henri Régnault 92400 Courbevoie France

Legal Advisers

as to French law

To the Issuer Darrois Villey Maillot Brochier A.A.R.P.I.

69, avenue Victor Hugo 75016 Paris France

To the Dealers Clifford Chance Europe LLP

1, rue d'Astorg CS 60058, 75377 Paris Cedex 08 France